




IN MILLIONS OF US DOLLARS 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

TOTAL ASSETS 40,764 35,647 27,963 16,942 15,091

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 6,937 6,570 5,437 5,574 5,577

REVENUES 8,017 6,578 4,091 2,752 2,514

NET INCOME ( LOSS)* 372 396 (576) 506 471

* Available to ordinary shareholders

LEADERSHIP 

Leadership has never been more important than it is today. Claimed by many but possessed by few, 
it remains one of the most elusive differentiators in the business world. Elusive but not unattainable.
During 2003, XL’s ability to turn challenge into opportunity and opportunity into competitive advantage
repeatedly singled it out as one of the foremost leaders of its kind. The “One Company Without Borders”
program to instill a shared corporate culture, the global development scheme designed to better leverage
our intellectual capital and XL’s highly successful Thought Leadership Congress are just three examples
of leadership initiatives that brought distinct business advantages to XL in 2003.   

IN THIS REPORT, WE CELEBRATE SOME OF THE QUALITIES OF XL’S LEADERSHIP: OUR BUSINESS ACUMEN, OUR ABILITY

TO ACT AS A CATALYST THROUGH THE DEVELOPMENT OF A SHARED CORPORATE CULTURE AND SET OF VALUES, 

THE REACH OF OUR OPERATIONS IN TERMS OF GEOGRAPHY AND EXPERTISE, AND OUR ABILITY TO BE DYNAMIC

- TO MANAGE THE CHALLENGES THAT WE FACE AND TO EMERGE IN A STRONGER POSITION.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS   AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31



THIS REPORT SHOULD BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL

CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND THE NOTES THERETO

WHICH ARE PRESENTED ON PAGES F1 THROUGH F134 OF THIS ANNUAL REPORT.

This annual report contains “forward-looking statements” as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995,
including statements about the future and our plans, expectations and projections. A non-exclusive list of the important 
factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in such forward-looking statements is set forth herein
under the caption “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition - Cautionary Note
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements”.
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ACUMEN

The ability to make sound, timely business decisions is a core strength of XL. We have built a solid 
reputation by seeking out those market opportunities where our niche expertise will add value. 
We strategically deploy our fundamental strength – our capital and people – to deliver best-of-class 
products and services, while creating long-term shareholder value. 
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Dear Fellow Stakeholders,

Unlike prior years in which my message aimed to give you a comprehensive review of our business and financial

results, this year I want to concentrate on the XL story: the context, strategic direction and underlying lead-

ership intent behind our activities in 2003. This will be a shorter, more succinct message, leaving the 

provision of operating and segment information to a new “Interview with the CEO” section, which begins on page 12.

A year ago, I was cautiously optimistic about our near-term future. I told you in our 2002 annual report that 

I had confidence in XL Capital Ltd’s ability to grow while maintaining underwriting discipline. And grow we did,

spurred by a robust property and casualty insurance and reinsurance market, one that was buoyed by strong

pricing and underwriting terms and conditions. We

were further helped by our Financial Products and

Services segment that includes our financial guarantee

insurance business, which has now achieved trading

parity with its peers other than in the fixed rate munici-

pal market. Indeed, the following highlights of XL’s

2003 financial achievements from 2002 confirm my

continuing optimism:

– Total revenues increased 22% to more than $8 billion

– Net premiums earned from general operations grew 24% to $6.1 billion

– Total net invested assets increased 26% to $25 billion

– Total investment earnings, including equity in the net income 

of investment affiliates, rose 14% to $914 million

– Cash flow from operations was a record $3.4 billion

– Total assets climbed 14% to reach $41 billion

4
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I have confidence in XL’s 

ability to grow while maintain-

ing underwriting discipline.
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A Year of Challenges

However, 2003 was not without challenges for our

company. During the second half of the year, we

addressed historical issues arising from underwriting

losses primarily related to our North American casualty

reinsurance operations that we acquired in the late

1990’s. We undertook a major claims audit review of

our general operations and increased reserves for

prior underwriting years in an effort to put the past

behind us once and for all. 

The charges significantly reduced our net income for

2003, which at $372 million was 6% below that

recorded in 2002. This disappointing experience

marred the otherwise outstanding operating per-

formance by virtually all of our units. Had it not been

for the charges, our full year combined ratio would

have been an impressive 87.7%. Disappointing

though this episode was, the legacy experience was

a stepping stone rather than a stumbling block, an

experience from which we emerged stronger, more

disciplined and even more focused on the future.

Executive Changes

Changes that have been made in the leadership 

of our insurance and reinsurance segments clearly

reflect this increased strength and focus.

On our Insurance side, Clive Tobin, formerly head of

our XL Insurance Global Risk operations (XLIGR),

was appointed Chief Executive of Insurance

Operations. He replaces Nick Brown who left the

company in April 2004 after making a major contri-

bution to the Insurance segment and bringing lead-

ership to the organization at a key point in our acqui-

sition and integration phase. 

Clive, with more than 25 years experience in the

insurance industry, has been with XL since 1995

and has demonstrated outstanding qualities. The XL

Board and I have been particularly impressed with

his leadership of our XLIGR operations and his inte-

gration of the Winterthur International business into

that business platform. Clive, who shares my vision

of a unified and integrated insurance operation,

inculcated XL’s underwriting discipline and culture while

preserving existing customer relationships in XLIGR. 

We emerged stronger, 

more disciplined and even

more focused on the future.

S&P PROP & CASUALTYS&P 500XL CAPITAL
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In the Reinsurance segment, Jamie Veghte was

appointed to the new position of Chief Executive

Officer of XL Reinsurance America Inc. and Greg

Hendrick became President and Chief Underwriting

officer of XL Re Ltd. Jamie and Greg bring many

years of experience at XL to their new positions.

Leadership Through Strength

While we advanced through adversity in 2003, we

also strived to achieve leadership through strength

and execution. As I pointed out to you in our 2002

annual report, XL has entered a new phase of devel-

opment, one in which we compete as an integrated

global business, a consolidated enterprise with the

platforms, people and products we need to meet

our business projections and to service existing 

customers worldwide. With more than 3,300

employees in 30 countries, we have both expertise

and geographic reach. With one of the strongest

balance sheets in our business and strong ratings to

support it, we have the fundamental financial

strength our customers demand. With firm rates

and favorable contract terms and conditions, we are

operating in an environment in which the quality 

of our execution is a core strength.

While a more detailed discussion of our business

segments can be found in the new “Interview with the

CEO”, the following brief review of some of the more

significant operational events of 2003 will highlight their

contribution to XL’s continuing growth and development.

In the Insurance segment in 2003, we entered

the casualty primary market in the United States. 

In Europe we moved the headquarters of our 

XL Insurance Global Risk business from the town 
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We are operating in an environ-

ment in which the quality of

our execution is a core strength.
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of Winterthur to the heart of the financial district of

Zurich. In Reinsurance, we completed the purchase

and integration of the French carrier Le Mans Ré and

re-named it “XL Re Europe”. On the Financial Products

and Services (XL FInancial) side, our operating units

continue to increase their contribution to our overall

bottom line. These operations also benefited from an

Investor Day we held in New York in May, 2003 to

provide more information about this segment.

At the corporate level, we demonstrated our continued

commitment to the principles of excellence in cor-

porate governance with the appointment of Paul

Dowden as our Chief Risk Officer. I have challenged

our employees spearheading the Framework for

Internal Controls project required under Sarbanes-

Oxley 404 to regard it not merely as a compliance

task but rather as a company-wide development

opportunity, one that allows us to examine process-

es, controls and best practices to achieve greater

efficiency across all our platforms and functions.

Further insights on our corporate governance program

can be found on page 27 of this report in a separate

letter to shareholders from our Chairman, Mike Esposito.

Corporate Culture

Several qualitative factors influenced the perform-

ance of our company during 2003.

As we approached the end of 2002, it became very

clear to me that we were facing a cultural impera-

tive. We had built a company with the financial

strength, geographic reach and appropriate intellec-

tual and technical resources necessary to execute

our business plan but we required the cultural glue

needed to pull together as one team, the culture

that would help to take us to the next level of our

development as a global corporation.

It was against this background that we embarked

on our “One Company Without Borders” cultural

change program, which began on January 6, 2003,

8
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and is still active. As a result of this initiative, we

announced new internal and external communica-

tions programs. To achieve our internal goals, we

appointed a One Company Co-ordinator, started

our own monthly newspaper, began town hall-style

staff briefings (see photograph on page 14) and

introduced a global development program designed

to better leverage our intellectual capital across the

group and to identify our future leaders. Externally,

the One Company program led to the launch of a

new branding and advertising campaign, our first TV

commercial and, in September, a high profile and

highly-successful customer conference: the XL Capital

Congress in Switzerland on the theme “Thought

Leadership for a World at Risk” (see photograph on

page 18). We also announced the formation of our

Office of Corporate Relations and a Corporate Social

Responsibility program, part of which involved me in

leading the Spirit of Life campaign for City of Hope

Cancer Center, raising $1.4 million for breast cancer

research (see photograph on page 22).

Taken individually, no one of these will give us a

common corporate culture. Viewed as whole, how-

ever, as a corporate-directed pattern of activities and

overlaid with XL’s core values of Ethics, Teamwork,

Excellence, Development and Respect, we have

established the foundations for a business environ-

ment built on trust and integrity. Such a culture is a

key differentiator, a critical component of our funda-

mental strength and a vital part of the promise that

lies behind our brand. 

We have established the

foundations for a business

environment built on trust

and integrity.

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
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Outlook

XL Capital set out at the beginning of 2003 to build

a strong foundation for future earnings growth. 

I believe we have achieved that goal. We made lead-

ership changes consistent with the creation of an

integrated global business enterprise and we are

focused on achieving Cycle management, Capital

management and Cultural development - the three “Cs”

that I believe will be key to our continued success.

Through 2004, I believe we will benefit from favorable

property/casualty market conditions and improving

financial markets. I believe that we have put our

legacy issues behind us so that they will not affect

our future. And we have the right people, products,

platforms and leadership to deliver solid growth and

strong profitability.

We achieved a great deal during 2003. I am

immensely proud of those achievements and of the

people who made them possible and I am grateful to

you, our shareholders, for your continued support and

understanding as we look toward 2004 and beyond. 

10
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Through 2004, I believe we will

benefit from favorable property/

casualty market conditions and

improving financial markets.

Brian M. O’Hara
President and Chief Executive Officer





Br ian M.  O’Hara,  Pres ident  and Ch ie f  Execut ive  Of f icer  o f  XL Cap i ta l  L td,  answers

quest ions on the operat ing segments  and corporate  act iv i t ies .

CORPORATE

Q YOU EMPHASIZE “FUNDAMENTAL STRENGTH – CAPITAL AND PEOPLE” 

IN YOUR BRANDING MATERIAL. CAN YOU DISCUSS THE PEOPLE ASPECT OF XL?

A The insurance business is a people business, not just any people but those with the appropriate skills 
and experience. Products are transparent. But intellectual capital is what can make or break a business 
and is clearly one of our most valuable assets. We try to attract and retain the best people in our business 
and have initiated several development programs at all levels of the Company. Our Global Development 
Program is aimed at new hires and high-potential employees who have been with XL for three years or 
less. Our Executive Leadership Program initiative involves 120 senior managers across the Company.

As a global company with operating units in many countries and cultures, we require our people to have 
international skill sets to achieve our vision and goals.

Q WHAT ARE THE OVERALL OBJECTIVES OF YOUR 

“ONE COMPANY WITHOUT BORDERS” INITIATIVE?

A The One Company initiative was started after a long period of acquisition activity. The aim of the program
is to help develop a common culture and to crystallize our vision for the Company. We need to have 
our people understand the totality of our game plan and how each one of our employees can help us to
achieve our objectives. It’s largely about breaking down the individual silos that many of us work in and 
contributing to the common goals of XL.

Q TELL US ABOUT YOUR INAUGURAL XL CAPITAL CONGRESS?

A The theme of the Congress was “Thought Leadership for a World at Risk”. It attracted close to 400 
delegates, including customers, politicians, academics and journalists from around the world. Our intent 
was to create a forum where participants would be challenged and stimulated. Over time we believe 
our customers increasingly recognize our willingness to challenge the historic concept of risk and anticipate
the changing nature of risk and how we can work together addressing risk in the much broader sense.

12
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CATALYST

Our corporate culture, based on our core values of Ethics, Teamwork, Excellence, Development and
Respect, is the thread that connects all XL employees. But it is also a key differentiator, a critical 
component of our fundamental strength and a vital part of the promise that lies behind our brand.

INTERVIEW WITH THE CEO
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INSURANCE

Q HOW DID THE INSURANCE SEGMENT PERFORM IN 2003?

A Insurance operations continued to benefit from hard market conditions, the flight to quality and our 
expanded operations base following the integration of Winterthur International, which is currently known 
as our XL Insurance Global Risk operations. Our Specialty Lines also had an excellent year led by 
professional lines, in particular Directors and Officers Liability. As a result, net premiums earned for the 
segment reached $3.6 billion, a 29% increase over 2002, and including the impact of a $150 million 
fourth quarter charge for prior year loss development, we achieved a combined ratio of 91.6% yielding
record underwriting profit of $328 million for the year, an 11% increase over 2002.

Q CAN YOU DESCRIBE YOUR APPROACH TO THE MARKET 

AND OVERALL STRATEGY IN THE INSURANCE SEGMENT?

A Our insurance operations have evolved from our core high excess casualty business in Bermuda 
to include a number of independent operations that came together under the XL banner to become a
more integrated, global insurance team. In 2003 we followed a clearly defined strategy that valued and 
maintained our focus on market niches in which we have particular skills or advantages. We continue 
to look for opportunities within this specialty focus to expand based on our expertise and the 
achievability of financial targets. 

Q WILL YOU CHANGE YOUR INSURANCE SEGMENT STRATEGY 

FOLLOWING THE APPOINTMENT OF CLIVE TOBIN AS SEGMENT CEO?

A Nick Brown did a great job helping us transform a group of unaffiliated businesses into a team. The current
strategy has been extremely successful, but we are ready to move on to the next stage. Under Clive’s

leadership, we are instituting a number of
changes to our organizational structure. These
will enable us to maintain our focus on products
and customers in the various geographical mar-
kets we serve while better integrating our product
offerings within those markets. We are also insti-
tuting a new sales structure that is designed to
bring our various product experts together with
people closest to the customer and the individual
markets in which we operate. 

INTERVIEW WITH THE CEO
Insurance

Brian O’Hara hosts a “town hall” meeting with the Bermuda
employees at XL House.



Our challenge will be to keep the technical underwriting and product focus that has led to our success 
while improving customer access to the broad array of products that we have to offer. We will continue
to focus on commercial lines only, and within that, primarily specialty lines of business. 

Q WHAT WERE THE MAJOR ACCOMPLISHMENTS IN 2003 FOR THE INSURANCE SEGMENT?

A Clearly, I would start with our financial performance, which remains at the top of our industry sector.
Our present business is performing very well. We have fine-tuned each of our operations over the last 
several years and we are pleased with the results coming out of the insurance operations. 

Second, and something that is not as noticeable from an outside perspective, XL Insurance has done
a great job continuing the integration of operations acquired over the last several years and building a
cohesive, aligned operation. Our insurance operations have gone from being a few hundred people in
two locations six years ago to over 2,000 people around the world today. Product offerings have 
grown exponentially and the complexity of all this has been managed well. Activities have ranged from 
replacing the former infrastructure to consolidating regulatory activities in the US and uniting our 
operations under a single brand – XL Insurance. 

I believe that we have already positioned ourselves well for the future. We have added a number
of new operations – groups that clearly fit within our strategy and will provide positive growth in revenue 
and profit in 2004. These new units include: Select Professional, with a focus on lawyers and non-
medical professional services; Design Professional, a recognized leader in architects and engineers 
professional liability insurance; our new large account primary casualty operations and our venture into
small commercial property via our relationship with International Catastrophe Insurance Managers (ICAT).

As part of this positioning for the future, we have maintained staffing at roughly 2001 levels for the 
insurance group while continuing to attract great new talent, such as Guy Lallour, our country manager
in France; Dennis Kane, Executive Vice President and CEO of Sales; Reina Gregorio, head of our Select 
Professional unit; John Glancy, head of the new Design Professional group; and Don Baker, Executive 
Vice President and country manager in Bermuda. 

Q WHAT ARE THE PROSPECTS FOR 2004?

A I’ve been in the property casualty business long enough to know how hard it is to predict the future. 
I am, however, optimistic about 2004. We are at a good point in the market cycle. Our people know 
their markets and are doing an excellent job. Pricing continues to be favorable and our new operations
are poised for profitable growth.

Perhaps more significantly for the long term, our staffing remains comparatively lean which should put 
us in a strong position to manage the impact of cycle change. 

Also, I am excited by the leadership and energy of the insurance segment. Our position in chosen 
markets, top talent and solid reputation bodes well for 2004.

14
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REINSURANCE

Q HOW DID XL’S REINSURANCE OPERATIONS PERFORM IN 2003?

A Overall, 2003 was a very positive year for the reinsurance segment. We completed the integration 
of French-based reinsurer Le Mans Ré, becoming the sole shareholder and re-branding the operations as 
“XL Re Europe.” We celebrated this with a reception at the Monte-Carlo Rendez-Vous and by hosting 
the first XL Re symposium at the Baden Baden Reinsurance conference.

Financially, the year was not without its challenges. Our current underwriting years are performing 
exceptionally well and Gross Written Premiums for our General Reinsurance operations increased 7%
in 2003 to $3.4 billion while Net Premiums Earned increased 18% to $2.4 billion. The segment, however,
experienced significant adverse claims development primarily in the North American Casualty business
at XL Re America, stemming primarily from the 1997 through 2001 underwriting years. We responded 
by taking a reserve charge in the third quarter of $184 million (pre tax) and immediately set out on an 
extensive Claims Audit Review (CAR) process in the fourth quarter. As a result of this review, we further 
strengthened our total net reserves for the Company (including $663 million, pre tax, from XL Re America)
by $694 million (pre tax) in the fourth quarter of 2003. This included the release of $181 million of reserves 
related to favorable loss development for the attacks on September 11, 2001.

The reinsurance segment’s loss ratio increased from 75.3% in 2002 to 90% in 2003 reflecting the impact
of this adverse development. Absent these charges, our loss ratio for 2003 stood at 59.2%. Likewise, our
combined ratio also increased from 102.6% to 119% in 2003, but without the charges would have been 88%.

In itself, this episode has been a difficult experience for all XL stakeholders, especially our shareholders. 
However, the CAR process was designed to put this episode behind us once and for all. I believe that now
we should see the strategic benefits we have gained through the NAC Re acquisition. Our ability 
to access the strong US casualty reinsurance market is excellent and we are currently enjoying 
very positive returns.

Q NOW THAT THE XL RE AMERICA CLAIMS AUDIT REVIEW IS BEHIND YOU, 

HOW IS THE SEGMENT POSITIONED FOR FUTURE GROWTH?

A The review, which I personally oversaw, was exhaustive and covered some 2,400 policies and claims. 
This work involved members of XL’s senior management, our actuarial and claims operations, global 
services, treasury, legal and financial reporting resources in addition to external project consultants, 
actuaries and various third party claims auditors. 

16

17

DYNAMIC

The XL companies are in a constant state of activity, engaging in a carefully coordinated pattern 
of directed movements designed to achieve defined business targets. 
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INTERVIEW WITH THE CEO
Reinsurance

Since our acquisition of NAC Re Corp. we have
made significant changes to our US casualty rein-
surance business, from our selection of cedants,
to our underwriting and reserving methodologies
and business mix to reduce and limit the likeli-
hood of this experience ever being repeated. 

We have also strengthened our management
structure in this unit, which I believe positions us
well for future development. Jamie Veghte, previously
head of XL Re Ltd, was appointed Chief Executive

Officer of XL Reinsurance America, Inc. (XLRA) and is relocating to Stamford, Connecticut from Bermuda. 
Jamie has a decade of senior management experience with XL operating in the US, Bermuda, London and 
Continental Europe. We are fortunate to have someone of Jamie’s caliber step into this position. 

Greg Hendrick was appointed President and Chief Underwriting Officer of XL Re Ltd in Bermuda. Greg 
is a skilled underwriter with sound business judgment and has been with our reinsurance segment for 
nine years. He has also been appointed a member of the Reinsurance Executive Group. 

In addition, David Watson, who is General Manager of XL Re’s London Office, was appointed to the 
Reinsurance Executive Group and will work closely with Jamie Veghte and the underwriters of XLRA 
and XL Re Europe to develop and align our casualty underwriting approaches globally. 

Stephen Outerbridge was appointed President and Chief Operating Officer of XL Re Latin America, 
in addition to his existing responsibilities as Chief Underwriting Officer. 

Operationally, we renewed our commitment to growth in the European marketplace, opening a Paris 
Underwriting Office for XL Re Europe and appointing some top underwriting and management talent 
with Philippe Rochaix (Chief Underwriting Officer for XL Re Europe) and Dieter Kohl (Senior Vice 
President and Continental European Casualty Manager).

I feel our management team will continue to build on the reinsurance opportunities and strong brand 
name of XL Re. With over 500 staff around the world and 23 offices in 14 countries, a strong balance 
sheet, talented underwriters and dedicated support staff, I believe XL Re is uniquely positioned to 
continue to exploit the opportunities in today’s changing market environment.

Q WHAT CAN WE EXPECT FROM XL RE’S LIFE BUSINESS IN THE FUTURE?

A XL Re’s Life operations recorded Gross Written Premiums of $673 million for 2003. This was lower than
2002 but reflects the very lumpy nature of the large contracts we write in this area. We have built a 
strong life platform in London and Bermuda focusing primarily on longer duration contracts from the 
UK market. This life business produces annuity-like returns over long periods as they amortize into net 
income, and is largely non-correlated to our general insurance and reinsurance operations. 

Brian O’Hara presents at the inaugural XL Capital Congress.
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INTERVIEW WITH THE CEO
Financ ia l  Products  and Serv ices

FINANCIAL PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Q WHAT ARE THE GOALS OF XL FINANCIAL?

A XL Financial aims to provide a diversified earnings stream for XL Capital which is not directly correlated
to the Property/Casualty industry. We have focused on businesses where we can utilize XL Capital’s 
competitive strengths and advantages and, to date, have targeted those sectors where the insurance and 
capital markets intersect. An equally important goal that we achieved in 2003 was to earn an attractive 
return on utilized capital. We also aim to increase the intrinsic value of our operations over time. 

Q WHAT AREAS DOES XL FINANCIAL FOCUS ON?

A Our focus is on three areas: financial guaranty insurance and reinsurance, life and annuity, and weather 
and energy risk management products.

Each business has its own senior executives, chief financial officer and finance functions, credit or actuarial
expertise, marketing professionals, underwriting and transactional experts. We also try to ensure that, 
when applicable, we have common credit and underwriting standards, processes and procedures 
across all our XL Financial businesses. To this end, in 2003 XL Financial hired two senior executives: 
David Shea, as Chief Financial and Administration Officer; and Mark Katz, as Chief Information Officer.

Q WHY HAS XL FINANCIAL CHOSEN THE FINANCIAL GUARANTEE INSURANCE MARKET?

A XL Financial has chosen to write financial guarantee insurance because it provides an attractive return 
on capital and generates a relatively predictable and stable earnings stream that is largely uncorrelated 
to the Company’s other business lines. We have a triple A insurer, XL Capital Assurance Inc. (XLCA), and
a triple A reinsurer, XL Financial Assurance Ltd. (XLFA).

We underwrite to a no-loss standard, however, financial guarantee is not a zero-loss ratio business but 
rather a relatively low loss business. As with any line of insurance, we establish an IBNR reserve.

The segment has already begun to generate a significant revenue stream – we have written just over 
$1 billion of premium to date, the majority of which has yet to be earned. Because of this, we expect the
financial guarantee business to be a much more significant contributor to XL Financial’s earnings in the future.
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REACH

In 2003, XL affirmed its position as a consolidated global enterprise. Our team of over 3,300 employees
in 30 countries, our technical expertise and local knowledge combined to reach our customers with the
platforms, people and products that they require.

INTERVIEW WITH THE CEO
Financ ia l  Products  and Serv ices

Q WHAT IS THE BUSINESS STRATEGY OF XL WEATHER & ENERGY?

A Our strategy is to provide corporate customers with weather and energy risk management products 
and to actively manage portions of the risk through the insurance and capital markets. In 2003 we 
consolidated XL’s position as a leading provider of weather risk management products with over 
$1 billion of notional limit executed. Additionally, we increased our international presence with nearly 
25% of business now relating to non-US weather risks.

Q WHAT IS THE BUSINESS STRATEGY OF XL LIFE AND ANNUITY (XLLA)?

A XLLA pursues institutionally oriented, life-related markets or transactions. Our current markets are municipal
reinvestment contracts and funding agreements. XLLA issued its first funding agreement in June 2003. 
At December 31, our current funding agreement balances were $550 million and municipal reinvestment 
contract balances exceeded $1.5 billion, so we got off to a good start in 2003. XL Life Ltd’s life 
reinsurance book has now reached $100 million in annual premium. XLLA received an “Aa3” rating 
from Moody’s early in 2004.

Q WHAT ABOUT OTHER BUSINESSES SUCH AS XL’S OWNERSHIP 

STAKES IN SPECIALTY INSURERS?

A The Company currently has a 43% minority ownership stake in Primus Guaranty Ltd. Primus is a Triple A
provider of credit protection on single name credits and operates in one of the fastest growing risk 
transfer markets in the world, the credit default swap market. The financial contribution from Primus 
appears in the XL Financial segment.

XL FINANCIAL SOLUTIONS

Q WHAT IS THE BUSINESS STRATEGY OF XL FINANCIAL SOLUTIONS (XLFS)? 

A XLFS functions globally as an internal joint venture among the Company’s three underwriting segments.  
The group provides a wide range of structured financial products and alternative risk transfer transactions,
including finite property and casualty insurance and reinsurance, asset backed securitizations and business
enterprise risk transactions. Most transactions originated through XLFS have multi-year exposures, with 
many transactions having durations in excess of ten years.



INVESTMENTS

Q HOW DID THE OVERALL PORTFOLIO PERFORM DURING 2003?

A Our total investment earnings, including investment income and earnings from our equity in the net income
of investment affiliates, was $914 million in 2003, an increase of $114 million, or 14% from 2002.

If you look at the component parts, investment income increased 6% to $780 million and earnings from 
equity in net income of investment affiliates was $134 million, more than double the year ago contribution.

Total net investment assets grew by more than $5 billion, or $25%, reaching $25.4 billion at year end, 
of which our fixed income portfolio totaled $22.5 billion with an average credit quality of “AA”.

Q WHAT CHANGES HAVE YOU MADE IN INVESTMENT STRATEGY?

A Historically, XL pursued a total return approach across its entire investment portfolio. This reflected the 
basic belief that this was the optimal approach to generating long term economic value. 

The growth of XL globally has led us to increasingly focus on the capital efficiency of our investment 
strategy, which has resulted in two important changes in the way we manage the portfolio. The 
greater part of our fixed income portfolio is now managed using a more tightly controlled framework, 
with customized asset/liability benchmarks used to manage interest rate, market and credit risk. 
In addition, the way we manage our risk asset portfolio – high yield, equities, alternatives and private 
investments – has shifted from a total return approach to a focus on risk-adjusted returns within a risk-
allocation framework.

Q WHAT PROGRESS HAS XL MADE WITH ITS INVESTMENT MANAGER 

STRATEGIC STAKE PROGRAM? 

A 2003 was a solid year financially for XL Capital Investment Partners, our investment manager strategic stake 
business, with many of our investment manager affiliates generating excellent business momentum that

we believe will translate into strong financial
returns in the next few years. Many of our affili-
ates have made great strides in launching new
product offerings that gained significant traction
with investors. A number of our affiliates are still
relatively young companies, but we are very
pleased by the overall progress that they are
achieving in terms of building the foundations of
very high quality asset management businesses. 

INTERVIEW WITH THE CEO
Investments

Brian O’Hara with the Spirit of Life Award.



We are also pleased by the quality of the platforms that our affiliates are building. We believe that strong 
infrastructure – back office operations, risk management, etc – is as important as strong investment 
performance to building long-term value, and we are gratified that our affiliates share this vision.

Q WILL XL CONTINUE TO MAKE NEW INVESTMENTS 

IN INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT AFFILIATES?  

A During 2003, we expanded the scope of our program to a broader range of investment management 
companies, no longer focusing solely on alternative investment managers. We believe that the changes 
occurring in traditional asset management will create opportunities for XL to team up with talented 
investment professionals seeking to establish new businesses that will be future industry leaders in their 
area of core competency.  

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Q DO YOU HAVE ENOUGH CAPITAL TO MEET YOUR BUSINESS GROWTH NEEDS?

A We completed a $500 million capital markets transaction in July 2003 to increase capital resources 
and capacity to provide reinsurance financial statement credit to our US property and casualty 
insurance operations. Furthermore, in early 2004, we announced plans to raise, at least, an additional
$750 million through a mandatory convertible securities issue. Finally, the Company is currently generating
significant operating cash flow – $3.4 billion in 2003 – and, barring any unusually catastrophic events, 
I am optimistic that we will generate sufficient new capital in 2004 to meet our growing business needs.
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AT A GLANCE

AT A GLANCE

XL Re Ltd

XL Reinsurance America, Inc.

XL Re Latin America Ltd

XL Re Europe

XL Capital Assurance Inc.
XL Financial Assurance Ltd.
XL Life Insurance and Annuity Company Inc.
XL Weather & Energy Inc.

XL FINANCIAL

Finance / Treasury

Investments
XL Capital Investment Partners Inc.

Legal

International Strategic Development

Human Resources

XL Financial Solutions Ltd

Daniel L. Sussman  Chief Executive Officer / XL Financial Solutions Ltd

CORPORATE

XL INSURANCE

Robert R. Lusardi  EVP / Chief Executive, Financial Products and Services

Fiona E. Luck  EVP / Group Operations

Jerry M. de St. Paer  EVP / Chief Financial Officer

Christopher V. Greetham  EVP / Chief Investment Officer

Willi Suter  EVP / International Strategic Development

Anthony E. Beale  SVP / Human Resources

Paul S. Giordano  EVP / General Counsel and Secretary

Henry C. V. Keeling  EVP / Chief Executive, Reinsurance Operations

Clive R. Tobin  EVP / Chief Executive, Insurance Operations

KEY OPERATIONS

Group Operations, Office of Corporate Relations, Information Technology and Real Estate

XL REINSURANCE

Insurance coverages underwritten by member companies of the XL Capital group include: XL Specialty Insurance

Company; XL Insurance Company of New York, Inc.; Greenwich Insurance Company; Indian Harbor Insurance Company; 

XL Insurance America, Inc.; XL Select Insurance Company; XL Insurance Company Limited; XL Insurance Switzerland; 

XL Europe Ltd; XL Insurance (Bermuda) Ltd, and Sovereign Risk Insurance Ltd (50% owned). 

Specialty Underwriting Divisions include: Aerospace, Environmental, Global Risk, London Market, Professional, Programs, Surety.
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AT A GLANCE

The insurance segment encompasses the Company’s
property and casualty insurance business throughout
the world. Branded as “XL Insurance”, the segment offers
commercial property and casualty insurance products,
primarily in Europe, North America and Bermuda.

The reinsurance segment, branded as “XL Re”, is
organized on a geographical basis, reflecting the 
locations of the insurance and reinsurance companies
that purchase property, casualty and life reinsurance 
coverage from the Company.

The Financial Products and Services segment, branded
as “XL Financial”, comprises financial guarantee insur-
ance and reinsurance, institutional life and annuity
products, and weather and energy risk management.

Net Premiums Earned $3,640

Underwriting Profit 328

Loss Ratio 65.4%

Expense Ratio 26.2%

Combined Ratio 91.6%

Net Premiums Earned,
(General Operations) $2,441

Underwriting (Loss) (412)

Loss Ratio 90%

Expense Ratio 29%

Combined Ratio 119%

Net Premiums 
Earned / Fee Income $142

Underwriting Profit 39

Total Contribution from
Financial Operations 41

Most of the Insurance segment’s oper-
ating companies have one or more of
the following ratings:

S&P AA-
Moody’s Aa2/Aa3
Fitch AA
A.M. Best A+

XL Re Ltd S&P AA-
Moody’s Aa3
Fitch AA
A.M. Best A+

XLCA & XLFA S&P AAA
Moody’s Aaa
Fitch AAA

International Strategic Development

Human Resources Development

Consolidated

Net Premiums Earned $6,969

Net Investment Income 780

Net income * 372

Total investments
available for sale $20,775

Total Assets 40,764

Total Liabilities 33,827

Total Shareholders’ Equity 6,937

Debt Securities issued by XL Capital Ltd

have one or more of the following ratings:

S&P A

Moody’s A2

Fitch A

A.M. Best a-

BUSINESS DESCRIPTION
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
DECEMBER, 2003 (IN MILLIONS) RATINGS * *

* Available to ordinary shareholders

* * Selected Ratings 
as of March 15, 2004
For full list of ratings, 
visit www.xlcapital.com

There can be no assurance that any
such ratings will be retained for any
period of time or that they will not 
be qualified, suspended, revised 
downward or withdrawn entirely 
by such agencies.

The Company’s alternative risk transfer business utilizes
the combined resources of XL’s Insurance, Reinsurance
and Financial Products and Services segments.

Global operations

Finance & Treasury operations, and corporate reporting

Investment strategy and management
Ownership stakes in investment managers

Legal Counsel
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data below is based upon the Company’s fiscal year end of December 31. The
selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the
Notes thereto presented under on pages F-1—F-130 in this Annual Report.

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and 
per share amounts and ratios) 2003(1) 2002(1) 2001(1) 2000 1999(2)

Income Statement Data:
Net premiums earned – general operations $ 6,081,033 $ 4,899,073 $ 2,730,420 $ 2,011,525 $ 1,728,753
Net premiums earned – financial operations 139,622 67,745 37,113 23,715 21,253
Net premiums earned – life operations 748,495 1,022,992 695,595 – –
Net investment income 779,558 734,535 610,528 580,946 525,318
Net realized gains (losses) on investments 120,195 (214,160) (93,237) 45,090 66,800
Net realized and unrealized (losses)

gains on derivative instruments (27,542) (51,761) 11,768 21,405 27,556
Equity in net income of investment affiliates (3) 133,902 64,662 80,580 70,032 43,865
Fee income and other 41,745 54,963 18,247 (1,131) 100,400
Net losses and loss expenses incurred – 

general operations 4,576,856 3,329,047 2,890,076 1,426,443 1,298,673
Net losses and loss expenses incurred – 

financial operations 33,750 (1,732) 15,155 6,116 5,361
Claims and policy benefits – life operations 818,894 1,069,456 698,675 – –
Acquisition costs, operating expenses

and exchange gains and losses 1,926,393 1,549,440 1,073,903 743,067 689,005
Interest expense 199,407 168,086 113,272 70,593 37,378
Amortization of intangible assets 4,637 6,187 58,569 58,597 49,141
Income (loss) before minority interests,

equity in net income of insurance affiliates 
and income tax expense 457,071 457,565 (758,636) 446,766 434,117

Preference share dividends 40,321 9,620 – – –
Net income (loss) available to ordinary shareholders 371,658 395,951 (576,135) 506,352 470,509

Per Share Data:
Net income (loss) per ordinary share – basic (4) $ 2.71 $ 2.92 $ (4.55) $ 4.07 $ 3.69
Net income (loss) per ordinary share – diluted (4) $ 2.69 $ 2.88 $ (4.55) $ 4.03 $ 3.62
Weighted average ordinary shares
Outstanding–diluted (4) 138,187 137,388 126,676 125,697 130,304
Cash dividends per ordinary share (5) $1.92 $1.88 $1.84 $1.80 $1.76

See Notes on next page.
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(U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and 
per share amounts and ratios) 2003(1) 2002(1) 2001(1) 2000 1999(2)

Balance Sheet Data:
Total investments available for sale $20,775,256 $16,059,733 $12,429,845 $9,501,548 $9,122,591
Cash and cash equivalents 2,403,121 3,557,815 1,863,861 930,469 557,749
Investments in affiliates 1,903,341 1,750,005 1,037,344 792,723 479,911
Unpaid losses and loss expenses recoverable 5,779,997 5,012,655 4,633,693 1,339,767 831,864
Premiums receivable 3,487,322 3,592,713 2,182,348 1,119,723 1,126,397
Total assets 40,764,215 35,647,369 27,963,016 16,941,952 15,090,912
Unpaid losses and loss expenses 16,558,788 13,202,736 11,806,745 5,667,833 5,369,402
Unearned premiums 4,729,989 4,028,299 2,636,428 1,741,393 1,497,376
Notes payable and debt 1,905,483 1,877,957 1,604,877 450,032 410,726
Shareholders’ equity 6,936,915 6,569,589 5,437,184 5,573,668 5,577,078
Book value per ordinary share $ 46.74 $ 44.48 $ 40.35 $ 44.58 $ 43.64

Operating Ratios:
Loss and loss expense ratio (6) 75.3% 68.0% 105.8% 70.9% 75.1%
Underwriting expense ratio (7) 27.3% 29.0% 33.9% 35.3% 33.6%
Combined ratio (8) 102.6% 97.0% 139.7% 106.2% 108.7%

(1) Results for all periods subsequent to July 1, 2001 include the results of Winterthur International, which was acquired with effect from this date.
The results also include the consolidation of XL Re Europe, which has been accounted for as a subsidiary with effect from January 1, 2002. In
the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, the Company’s share of net income of Le Mans Ré (now known as XL Re Europe) was
included in equity in net income of insurance and operating affiliates. The Company’s net income for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001 was impacted by the September 11 event. See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The effect of all of these items should
be considered when making period to period comparisons of the Company’s results of operations and financial condition and liquidity. See
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for further discussion and analysis.

(2) Information includes the results of NAC as though it had always been a part of the Company.
(3) Equity in net income of investment affiliates in 2003 includes income on the alternative investment portfolio for eleven months ended November

30, 2003 as compared to twelve months in prior years. The fair market values of certain of these alternative investments often take longer to obtain
as compared to the other of the Company’s investments and therefore are unavailable at the time of the close.

(4) Net income per ordinary share is based on the basic and diluted weighted average number of Class A ordinary shares and ordinary share equiv-
alents outstanding for each period. Net loss per ordinary share is based on the basic weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding.

(5) Cash dividends per ordinary share for 1999 have not been adjusted for the pooling effect of NAC.
(6) The loss and loss expense ratio is calculated by dividing the losses and loss expenses incurred by the net premiums earned for general insurance

and reinsurance operations.
(7) The underwriting expense ratio is the sum of acquisition expenses and operating expenses for general insurance and reinsurance operations divided

by net premiums earned for general insurance and reinsurance operations. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further infor-
mation.

(8) The combined ratio is the sum of the loss and loss expense ratio and the underwriting expense ratio. A combined ratio under 100% represents
an underwriting profit and over 100% represents an underwriting loss.

(9) Certain reclassifications to prior period information have been made to conform to current year presentation.



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” contains forward-
looking statements which involve inherent risks and uncertainties. Statements that are not historical facts, including state-
ments about the Company’s beliefs and expectations, are forward looking-statements. These statements are based upon
current plans, estimates and expectations. Actual results may differ materially from those projected in such forward-look-
ing statements, and therefore undue reliance should not be placed on them. See “– Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-
Looking Statements” for a list of additional factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those
contained in any forward-looking statement.

This discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the audited Consolidated Financial Statements and
Notes thereto presented under F-1—F-130 in this Annual Report.

Certain aspects of the Company’s business have loss experience characterized as low frequency and high sever-
ity. This may result in volatility in both the Company’s results of operations and financial condition.

Executive Overview

The Company operates on a global basis primarily in the property and casualty industry and, to a lesser extent, the
financial services industry. The Company serves the insurance, reinsurance and financial services needs of institutional
or corporate clients, typically the global equivalent of the Fortune 2000. The Company operates in markets where the
Company believes its underwriting expertise and financial strength represent a relative advantage. The Company does
not operate in any retail markets.

The property and casualty insurance and reinsurance markets have historically been cyclical meaning that based
on market conditions, there have been periods where premium rates are high and policy terms and conditions are more
favorable (a “hard market”) to the Company and then there have been periods where premium rates decline and policy
terms and conditions are less favorable (a “soft market”) to the Company. This has been driven primarily by competi-
tion in the marketplace, the supply of capital in the industry, investment yields and the frequency and severity of loss events.
Management’s goal is to build long-term shareholder value by capitalizing on current opportunities and managing
through any potential downward cycles by reducing property and casualty premiums written and exposures if and when
rates deteriorate to unprofitable levels for the Company. As part of its strategy, the Company also looks to its financial
products and services segment to provide a diversified stream of earnings that are not directly tied to the property and
casualty cycle. In this regard, the Company’s financial guarantee insurance and reinsurance operations have substantially
achieved relative trading parity with its peers.

The Company has grown through acquisition activity and developing new business opportunities. Acquisitions included
Global Capital Underwriting Ltd in 1996, Mid Ocean Limited in 1998, ECS, Inc. and NAC Re Corp. in 1999, Winterthur
International in 2001 and Le Mans Ré in 2002. All acquisitions have supported the Company’s strategic plan to develop
a global platform in insurance and reinsurance. Recent business developments include XL Capital Assurance Inc. and
XL Financial Assurance Ltd., the Company’s financial guarantee primary and reinsurance guarantors, XL Weather & Energy
and XL Life & Annuity. As a result of these combined developments, the Company now competes as an integrated global
business with more than 3,300 employees in 30 countries.

The Company earns its revenue primarily from net premiums written and earned. Premium rates in the property
and casualty industry began to increase in 2001 following five years of poor underwriting performance in the industry.
These price increases were further compounded by the September 11 event. In the three years ended December 31, 2003,
the Company experienced pricing increases and improved terms and conditions across most of the lines of business it
writes. These, generally, across-the-board price increases were unprecedented meaning that, in the past, pricing increases
and more favorable terms and conditions were not experienced across all of the Company’s product lines at one point in
any one cycle. Accordingly, the Company does not expect that any potential downturn in the cycle will necessarily affect
all the property and casualty lines simultaneously in the future.
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A key challenge for the Company, as stated above, is to mange through the industry cycles. In relation to the insur-
ance segment, with respect to the January 1, 2004 renewals, the Company has seen some moderation in pricing over the
last several months. Although certain lines, principally liability, continue to see moderate increases, certain other lines,
particularly property, which have benefited most from price increases over the last few renewals, are beginning to see
increased competition and rate decreases as certain competitors improve their capital position and pursue premium growth
through rate reductions and/or terms and conditions more favorable to buyers / customers. The Company still believes
that the insurance business remains adequately priced and above the Company’s return requirements, with appropriate
terms and conditions across the board. With respect to the reinsurance segment, January 1st is the most significant renewal
date for the Company’s general reinsurance operations. With respect to the January 1, 2004 reinsurance segment
renewals, the Company has continued to see double digit rate improvements in its casualty book. These improvements
are at a lesser rate than in prior years. The Company expects that these increases will largely offset the pricing pressures
that the Company is currently seeing in property, property catastrophe and some other specialty lines. The Company expects
overall growth rate in net written and earned premiums will be in the single digits in 2004.

The Company also generates revenue from investment activities through returns on its investment portfolio. The
Company’s current investment strategy seeks to maximize investment returns balancing market and credit risk relative
to the Company’s business objective of stable earnings growth and growth in long-term book value. In addition, at this
stage of the interest cycle, the Company has reduced its duration of the general account portfolio from 3. 5 years as at
December 31, 2002 to 3.3 years as at December 31, 2003. For the three years ended December 31, 2003, there have been
declines in interest rates that have negatively impacted the Company’s investment interest income. Investment interest
income was under continued pressure in 2003 and continues to be under pressure due to the low interest rate environ-
ment. In 2003, the Company generated net realized gains from both its equity and fixed income portfolios reflecting the
overall improvement in capital markets and narrowing of credit spreads. The Company incurred net realized losses on
its investments in 2002 resulting primarily from a high level of corporate defaults. The Company expects investment inter-
est income to rise moderately in 2004 supported by positive cash flow from operations.

The Company’s profitability in any given period is based upon its premium and investment revenues as noted above,
less net losses incurred and expenses. Net losses incurred are based upon claims paid and changes to unpaid loss
reserves. Unpaid loss reserves are estimated by the Company and include both reported loss reserves and reserves for
losses incurred but not reported. The Company’s results for 2003 and 2002 have been negatively impacted by an
increase to reserves established in prior years primarily relating to its North American casualty business written in the
1997 through 2001 underwriting years. In the third quarter of 2003, the Company received reported claims that were in
excess of the Company’s expected claims and the Company increased loss reserves by $184.0 million and began an exten-
sive claims audit review of its ceding companies for this book of business. Upon completion of this claims audit review
as well as the Company’s scheduled annual reserve review, the Company increased loss reserves by $694 million in the
fourth quarter of 2003. This increase was net of a $197 million release of reserves relating to the September 11 event.
See further information under “Reinsurance – General Operations” below.



Financial measures

The following are some of the financial measures management considers important in evaluating the Company’s
operating performance in the Company’s general operations:

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except ratios and per share amounts) 2003 2002 2001

Underwriting (loss) profit – general operations $ (84,117) $274,701 $(1,083,892)

Combined ratio – general operations 102.6% 97.0% 139.7%

Investment income – general operations $588,428 $617,122 $ 585,858

Book value per ordinary share $ 46.74 $ 44.48 $ 40.35

Return on average ordinary shareholder’s equity 6.0% 6.9% NM

NM=Not Meaningful. In 2001, the Company had a net loss for the year due primarily to the September 11 event.

Underwriting profit (loss) – general operations

One way that the Company evaluates the performance of its insurance and reinsurance general operations is the
underwriting profit or loss. The Company does not measure performance based on the amount of gross premiums writ-
ten. Underwriting profit or loss is calculated from premiums earned and fee income, less net losses incurred and
expenses related to the underwriting activities. As noted above, the Company’s underwriting profit and loss for the last
three years have been negatively impacted by net losses incurred from adverse development of prior year loss reserves
and the September 11 event. Partially offsetting this has been the increase in premium rates and favorable underwriting
terms and conditions. Any changes to loss reserves affect the calculation of underwriting profit or loss but most often do
not directly affect the Company’s cash flow in the same period. See further discussion below. Barring any unusual cat-
astrophic loss events, the Company expects to produce an underwriting profit in 2004.

Combined ratio – general operations

The combined ratio for general operations is used by the Company and many other insurance and reinsurance com-
panies as another measure of underwriting profitability. The combined ratio is calculated from the net losses incurred
and underwriting expenses as a ratio of the net premiums earned for the Company’s general insurance and reinsurance
operations. A combined ratio of less than 100% indicates an underwriting profit and over 100%, an underwriting loss.
Changes in the Company’s combined ratio for the last three years have been negatively impacted by the net losses incurred
as noted above.

Net investment income – general operations

Net investment income from its general operations is an important measure which affects the Company’s overall
profitability. The largest liability of the Company relates to its unpaid loss reserves and the Company’s investment port-
folio provides liquidity for claims settlements of these reserves as they become due, and thus a significant part of the port-
folio is in fixed income securities. Net investment income is affected by overall market interest rates and also the size of
the portfolio. The size of the portfolio is impacted by cash flow generated from operations, which has been positive dur-
ing the last three years and which the Company currently expects to be positive in 2004.

Book value per ordinary share

Management also views the change in the Company’s book value per ordinary share as an additional measure of
the Company’s performance. Book value per share is calculated by dividing ordinary shareholders’ equity by the num-
ber of outstanding ordinary shares at any period end. Book value per ordinary share is affected primarily by the
Company’s net income and also any changes in the net unrealized gains and losses on its investment portfolio. The Company’s
book value per ordinary share increased in 2003 primarily as a result of an increase in net income and an increase in the
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net unrealized gains on the investment portfolio and also increased in 2002 due to an increase in net income. The Company’s
book value per ordinary share in 2004 would be impacted by changes in market interest rates.

Return on average ordinary shareholders’ equity

Return on average ordinary shareholder’s equity (“ROE”) is a widely used measure of any company’s profitabil-
ity. It is calculated by dividing the net income for any period by the average of the opening and closing ordinary share-
holder’s equity. The Company establishes minimum target ROE’s for its total operations, segments and lines of business.
If the Company’s minimum ROE return targets over the longer term are not met with respect to any line of business, the
Company seeks to exit these lines. In addition, the Company’s compensation of its senior officers is significantly depen-
dant on the achievement of the Company’s performance goals to enhance shareholder value as measured by ROE. The
Company’s ROE’s for the last three years have been mainly affected by its general operations’ underwriting results and
investment income. In addition, there was a negative return on shareholders’ equity in 2001, primarily due to the
September 11 event.

Other Key Focuses of Management

Ratings and Capital Management

Management continues to focus heavily on the Company’s financial strength and claims paying ratings because
the Company’s ability to write business is dependent on the quality of these ratings. Management seeks to maintain a
strong financial strength and claims paying ratings, relative to its competitors. As noted above, the Company’s results
were significantly impacted in the second half of 2003 by prior period adverse development mainly from its North American
casualty reinsurance business written in the 1997 through 2001 underwriting years and, accordingly, some of the Company’s
ratings have been downgraded. The Company currently anticipates it will raise additional capital of approximately $750
million in the first half of 2004 in the form of mandatory convertible securities. The Company currently anticipates that
it will be able to successfully raise this capital, however, if the Company does not achieve this, it is likely that the Company’s
ratings could be lowered further which could trigger downgrade provisions contained in the Company’s various capi-
tal and credit facility documents as well as impact the ability of the Company to write new business.

Collateral Management

Another important matter on which management is focused (and which also affects the Company’s ability to under-
write business) is the availability of collateral, including letters of credit, insurance trusts and other credit facilities required
to provide security to cedants (these are companies who reinsure their liabilities to the Company), particularly as
required by state insurance regulation in the U.S. and at Lloyds, and also to provide the Company with liquidity as required.
These facilities are provided to the Company from commercial banks and generally are renewed every year. The
Company has also utilized “off balance sheet” transactions in order to obtain more collateral capacity (these transactions
are described below under “Variable Interest Entities and Other Off Balance Sheet Arrangements” below). As the
Company writes more business, its collateral requirements increase. A key challenge for management is to ensure that
sufficient collateral capacity is available as to not hinder future writings of business.

Winterthur International Net Reserve Seasoning

Management is focusing on the settlement and collection of certain post-closing balances under the SPA related to
the 2001 acquisition of the Winterthur International operations. The SPA sets forth a process by which an adjustment pay-
ment may be made to the Company or the Seller by the other based on the unfavorable or favorable development of the
acquired Winterthur International operations’net reserves. Under this process, the Company is due to submit to the Seller
in the third quarter of 2004 a statement of the net reserves of the acquired operations as of June 30, 2004 (the “Seasoned
Net Reserves Amount”). The Seasoned Net Reserves Amount is then compared to such operations’net reserves as of June
30, 2001 (the “Initial Net Reserves Amount”). If the Seasoned Net Reserves Amount is greater than the Initial Net
Reserves Amount, a payment is due to be made by the Seller to the Company in accordance with a formula set forth in



the SPA. At December 31, 2003, the Company had recorded an unsecured reinsurance net recoverable from the Seller in
the amount of $740.9 million due to unfavorable development in the acquired operations’loss and unearned premium reserves.
This amount remains subject to change in view of ongoing net reserve development prior to June 30, 2004. In the event
that the Seller disagrees with the Seasoned Net Reserves Amount as determined by the Company, the SPA provides for a
dispute resolution procedure that ultimately would result in the determination of such amount by a named independent
actuary.

Liquidity and cash flow

As a property and casualty company, the Company must ensure that it has sufficient funds to settle claims
promptly, especially in the event of a major catastrophic event. Management is focused on making sure that liquidity require-
ments are supported by both having lines of credit facilities available to the Company as well as the Company’s general
investment portfolio of which the majority is in high grade fixed income securities. The Company has had significant
positive cash flow from operations in the three years ended December 31, 2003 generated from its underwriting activi-
ties (premiums less claim and expense settlements) as well as the receipt of investment income on its portfolio. This is
due to current favorable underwriting conditions as well as growth of the investment portfolio and the Company expects
cash flow from operations to be strong in 2004.

Results of Operations

The following table presents an analysis of the Company’s net income (loss) available to ordinary shareholders
and other financial measures (described below) for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2003 2002 2001

Net income (loss) available to ordinary shareholders $371,658 $395,951 $(576,135)

Earnings (loss) per ordinary share – basic $ 2.71 $2.92 $(4.55)
Earnings (loss) per ordinary share – diluted (1) $ 2.69 $2.88 $(4.55)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares and ordinary 

share equivalents – basic 136,906 135,636 126,676
Weighted average number of ordinary shares and ordinary 

share equivalents – diluted (1) 138,187 137,388 126,676

(1) Average stock options outstanding have been excluded where anti-dilutive to earnings per ordinary share.

The Company’s net income (loss) and other financial measures as shown above for the three years ended December
31, 2003 have been affected, among other things, by the following significant items:

1) Net adverse prior year loss development in general insurance and reinsurance operations.

2) The September 11 event.

3) Other than temporary declines in investments.

4) A favorable underwriting environment with increased premium rates and improved terms and conditions, and

5) The acquisition of Winterthur International, effective July 1, 2001.

The following table summarizes the pre-tax net income effect of the first three items for the years presented:

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2003 2002 2001

Net adverse prior period loss development 
(excluding the September 11 event) $(1,118,141) $(200,018) $ (175,804)

The September 11 event 180,856 (200,000) (932,700)
Other than temporary declines in investments (130,702) (251,500) (115,600)

Total pre-tax effect on net income $(1,067,987) $(651,518) $(1,224,104)
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1. Net adverse prior year loss development

Net adverse prior period loss development occurs when there is an increase to loss reserves recorded at the begin-
ning of the year, resulting from actual or reported loss development for prior years exceeding expected loss development.
The net adverse prior period loss development in the three years ended December 31, 2003 related primarily to the Company’s
general reinsurance operations and principally to losses on business written in 1997 through 2001 years in the Company’s
U.S. casualty reinsurance business. In the third quarter of 2003, the Company experienced a significant increase in claims
reported that was in excess of the Company’s expected loss development based on historical reporting patterns and recorded
an increase to reserves of $184 million related to this book of business. As a result of this increase, the Company began
a detailed claims audit review of the cedents contributing to this increase and the lines of business affected were primarily
directors and officers, errors and omissions, medical malpractice, commercial umbrella and general liability. Upon com-
pletion of this claims audit review, the Company increased case and IBNR reserves relating to this book of business for
a total of $663 million in the fourth quarter 2003. The Company monitors actual against expected reported claims on an
ongoing basis.To the extent that actual experience on loss reserves differs significantly for this, or any other line of busi-
ness, the Company would again expand its normal and ongoing cedant review program accordingly.

See further discussion under “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” and within the reinsurance segment oper-
ations below.

2. The September 11 event

The Company has exposure to the September 11, event with claims arising mainly from its aviation, property, per-
sonal accident and business interruption insurance and reinsurance coverages.

In the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company’s results were negatively impacted by a pre-tax loss of $932.7
million related to the September 11 event, in the general operations insurance and reinsurance segments. During the sec-
ond quarter 2002, the Company increased loss reserves by $200.0 million in both the insurance and reinsurance segments
following the receipt of updated loss information. In the fourth quarter 2003, the Company released loss reserves related
to the reinsurance segment, primarily aviation lines, due to the higher than expected levels of participation (97%) in the
September 11 Victims Compensation Fund, a no-fault compensation scheme funded by the U.S. government, which closed
on December 22, 2003. This resulted in a reduction in the Company’s estimated ultimate losses for this event.

See further discussion within the segments below.

3. Other than temporary declines in investments

The Company realized losses on securities in its investment portfolio due to declines in fair value determined to
be other than temporary of $130.7 million, $251.5 million and $115.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively.

The general economy in the United States and the investment markets improved in 2003 relative to 2002. For exam-
ple, Moody’s Investor Service (“Moody’s”) reported that 77 issuers defaulted in 2003 as compared with 141 issuers in
2002. The Company experienced a reduction in the amount of write downs for securities with declines in value deemed
to be other than temporary that was consistent with these figures. The write downs for 2003 occurred mainly in the first
half of the year which was consistent with Moody’s monthly default statistics. As a percentage of the total fixed income
portfolio, the write down for other than temporary declines was 0.6% in 2003 as compared with 1.4% in 2002 and 1%
in 2001.

See the discussion of other than temporary declines in investments within “—Critical Accounting Policies” and 
“– Investment Activities” below.

4. A favorable underwriting environment with increased premium rates and improved terms and
conditions.

As noted above, in the three years ended December 31, 2003 the Company has experienced pricing increases and
improved terms and conditions across most of the lines of business it writes, notably in casualty and aviation lines. This
is discussed further within the segments below.



5. The acquisition of Winterthur International, effective July 1, 2001

Effective July 1, 2001, the Company acquired certain Winterthur International insurance operations primarily to
extend its predominantly North American based large corporate insurance business globally. This acquisition had a sig-
nificant effect on the Company’s premium written, results of operations and financial condition.

See further discussion in the insurance segment and Note 6(b) to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The following are considered to be the Company’s critical accounting policies and estimates due to the judgments
and uncertainties affecting the application of these policies and/or the likelihood that materially different amounts would
be reported under different conditions or using different assumptions. If actual events differ significantly from the
underlying assumptions or estimates applied for any or all of the accounting policies (either individually or in the aggre-
gate), there could be a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations and financial condition and liq-
uidity. These critical accounting policies have been discussed by management with the Audit Committee of the
Company’s Board of Directors.

Other significant accounting policies are nevertheless important to an understanding of the Company’s Consolidated
Financial Statements. Policies such as those related to revenue recognition, financial instruments and consolidation require
difficult judgments on complex matters that are often subject to multiple sources of authoritative guidance. See Note 2
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

1) Unpaid Losses and Loss Expenses and Unpaid Loss and Loss Expenses Recoverable

As the Company earns premium for the underwriting risks it assumes, it also establishes an estimate of the
expected ultimate losses related to the premium. Loss reserves or unpaid losses and loss expenses are established due to
the significant periods of time that may lapse between the occurrence, reporting and settlement of a loss. Loss reserves
include:

a) Case reserves – reserves for reported losses and loss expenses that have not yet been settled and,

b) Losses incurred but not reported (“IBNR”).

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company’s total gross reserves for unpaid losses and loss expenses were $16.6
billion and $13.2 billion, respectively, of which $8.4 billion and $7.7 billion related to case reserves for reported claims
and $8.2 billion and $5.5 billion for IBNR reserves, respectively.

The Company writes both “short-tail” and “long tail” lines of business, meaning the time between the receipt of
the premium from a policy and the final settlement of any loss. Short-tail lines include property catastrophe, other prop-
erty and certain marine and aviation lines where, on average, the settlement period may be up to 24 months. Long-tail
lines, on the other hand, include the Company’s casualty business in which claims may take up to 30 years to be reported
and settled. The increase in the time associated with ultimate settlement of a claim is directly related to an increase in
the amount of judgment required to establish loss reserves, especially IBNR reserves.

Case reserves for the Company’s general operations are established by management based on amounts reported
from insureds or ceding companies and consultation with legal counsel, and represent the estimated ultimate cost of events
or conditions that have been reported to or specifically identified by the Company. The method of establishing case reserves
for reported claims differs among the Company’s operations.

With respect to the Company’s insurance operations, the Company is notified of insured losses and records a case
reserve for the estimated amount of the settlement, if any. The estimate reflects the judgment of claims personnel based
on general reserving practices, the experience and knowledge of such personnel regarding the nature of the specific claim
and, where appropriate, advice of counsel. Reserves are also established to provide for the estimated expense of settling
claims, including legal and other fees and the general expenses of administering the claims adjustment process. With respect
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to the Company’s reinsurance general operations, case reserves for reported claims are generally established based on
reports received from ceding companies. Additional case reserves may be established by the Company to reflect the esti-
mated ultimate cost of a loss.

With respect to the Company’s financial products and services financial operations, financial guaranty claims writ-
ten on an insurance basis are established consistent with the Company’s insurance operations and financial guaranty claims
written on a reinsurance basis are established consistent with the Company’s reinsurance operations.

IBNR reserves relate mainly to the Company’s insurance and reinsurance casualty business. IBNR reserves are
calculated by the Company’s actuaries using several standard actuarial methodologies including paid and incurred loss
development, the Bornhuetter-Ferguson incurred loss method and frequency and severity approaches.

Certain aspects of the Company’s casualty operations complicate the actuarial process for establishing reserves.
Certain casualty business written by the Company’s insurance operations is high layer excess casualty business, mean-
ing that the Company’s liability is after large deductibles including self insurance or insurance from sources other than
the Company. The Company commenced writing this type of business in 1986 and issued policies in forms that were
different from traditional policies used by the industry at that time. Initially, there was a lack of industry data available
for this type of business. Consequently, the basis for establishing loss reserves by the Company for this type of business
was largely judgmental and based upon the Company’s own reported loss experience which was used as basis for deter-
mining ultimate losses, and therefore IBNR reserves. Over time, the amount of available historical loss experience data
of the Company has increased. As a result, the Company has obtained a larger statistical base to assist in establishing
reserves for these excess casualty insurance claims.

In addition, reinsurance operations by their nature add further complications to the reserving process particularly
for casualty business written, in that there is an inherent lag in the timing and reporting of a loss event from an insured
or ceding company to the reinsurer. This reporting lag creates an even longer period of time between the policy incep-
tion and when a claim is finally settled. As a result, more judgment is required to establish reserves for ultimate claims
in the Company’s reinsurance operations.

Loss and loss expenses are charged to income as they are incurred. These charges includes loss and loss expense
payments and any changes in case and IBNR reserves. During the loss settlement period, additional facts regarding claims
are reported. As these additional facts are reported, it may be necessary to increase or decrease the unpaid losses and loss
expense reserves. The actual final liability may be significantly different than prior estimates.

IBNR reserves are calculated by the Company’s actuaries using standard actuarial methodologies as discussed above.
Prior to the year ended December 31, 2003, the outcomes of the Company’s actuarial reviews, consistent with histori-
cal practice, provided either (i) a single point reserve estimate or (ii) a range of reserve estimates from which the
Company selected a best estimate. For the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company adopted a methodology that
provided a single point reserve estimate separately for each line of business and also a range of possible outcomes across
each single point reserve estimate. This is discussed further below. As a result, reserve ranges disclosed previously are
not comparable to the reserve ranges disclosed herein.

The single point reserve estimate is generally management’s best estimate which the Company considers to be one
that has an equal likelihood of developing a redundancy or deficiency as the loss experience matures, and this amount
is recorded. The Company’s actuaries utilize one set of assumptions in determining its single point estimate which include
loss development factors, loss ratios, reported claim frequency and severity. These reviews and documentation are com-
pleted in accordance with professional actuarial standards appropriate to the jurisdictions where the business is written.
The selected assumptions reflect the actuary’s judgment based on historical data and experience combined with infor-
mation concerning current underwriting, economic, judicial, regulatory and other influences on ultimate claim settlements.



The Company’s net unpaid loss and loss expense general and financial reserves broken down by operating seg-
ment at December 31, 2003 and 2002 was as follows:

(U.S. dollars in millions) December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002

Insurance $ 5,849 $4,771
Reinsurance 4,871 3,558
Financial products and services 62 36
Net unpaid loss and loss expense reserves $10,782 $8,395

The following table shows the net unpaid loss and loss expense general and financial reserves for the Company
at December 31, 2003 and 2002 by line of business:

(U.S. dollars in millions) December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002

Casualty insurance $ 4,005 $3,169
Casualty reinsurance 2,815 1,611
Property catastrophe 98 257
Other property 1,359 1,561
Marine, energy, aviation and satellite 1,073 996
Financial guarantee 62 36
Other (1) 1,262 718

10,674 8,348
Provision for potential non recoveries (2) 108 47
Total $10,782 $8,395

(1) Other consists of several products, including accident and health, political risk, surety and bonding.
(2) The Company provides for estimated uncollectible reinsurance recoveries that are not allocated by line of business.

The following table shows the recorded estimate and the high and low ends of the range of reserves for each of
the lines of business noted above at December 31, 2003:

(U.S. dollars in millions) Recorded High Low

Casualty insurance $ 4,005 $4,452 $3,576
Casualty reinsurance 2,815 3,261 2,397
Property catastrophe 98 124 75
Other property 1,359 1,542 1,186
Marine and aviation reinsurance and insurance 1,073 1,241 915
Other (1) 1,262 1,482 1,056

10,612
Financial guarantee 62
Provision for potential non recoveries 108
Total $10,782

(1) Other consists of several products, including accident and health, political risk, surety and bonding.

As shown in the table above and as noted above, for the year ended December 31, 2003 the Company developed
a methodology for calculating reserve ranges around its single point reserve estimates for all its lines of business. Similar
to VAR (Value At Risk) models commonly used to evaluate risk, the Company modeled a statistical distribution of poten-
tial reserve outcomes over a one year run-off period. The Company used the modeled statistical distribution to calcu-
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late an 80% confidence interval for the potential reserve outcomes over this one-year run-off period. The high and low
end points of the ranges set forth in the above table are such that there is a 10% modeled probability that the reserve
will develop higher than the high point and a 10% modeled probability that the reserve will develop lower than the low
point.

The development of a reserve range models the uncertainty of the claim environment as well as the limited pre-
dictive power of past loss data. These uncertainties and limitations are not specific to to the Company. The ranges rep-
resent an estimate of the range of possible outcomes over a one year development period. A range of possible outcomes
should not be confused with a range of best estimates. The range of best estimates will generally be much narrower than
the range of possible outcomes as it will reflect reasonable actuarial and management best estimates of the expected reserve.

Reserve volatility was analyzed for each line of business within each of the reinsurance and insurance segments’
general operations using the Company’s historical data supplemented by industry data. These ranges were then aggre-
gated to the lines of business shown above taking into account correlation between lines of business based on a study of
the Company’s historical data supplemented by industry data. The practical result of the correlation approach to aggre-
gation is that the ranges by line of business disclosed above are narrower than the sum of the ranges of the individual
lines of business. Similarly, the range for the Company’s total reserves in the aggregate are narrower than the sum of the
ranges for the lines of business disclosed above.

The Company is not aware that there is a generally accepted model to perform the reserve range analysis described
above and other models may also be employed to develop ranges.

The Company does not calculate a range for its total net unpaid loss and loss expense reserves as it would not be
appropriate to add the ranges for each line of business to obtain a range around the Company’s total reserves because
this would not reflect the diversification effects across the Company’s various lines of business. The diversification effects
result from the fact that losses across the Company’s different lines of business are not completely correlated.

See further discussion within the Company’s operating segments below for prior year development of loss
reserves.

The Company’s three types of reserve exposure with the longest tails are:

(1) high layer excess casualty insurance;

(2) casualty reinsurance; and

(3) discontinued asbestos and long-tail environmental business.

High layer excess casualty insurance claims typically involve claims relating to (i) a “shock loss” such as an explo-
sion or transportation accident causing severe damage to persons and/or property over a short period of time, (ii) a “non-
shock” loss where a large number of claimants are exposed to injurious conditions over a longer period of time, such as
exposure to chemicals or pharmaceuticals or (iii) a professional liability loss such as a medical malpractice claim. In each
case, these claims are ultimately settled following extensive negotiations and legal proceedings. This process can typi-
cally take 5 to 15 years following the date of loss.



Set forth below is information regarding the numbers of claims and paid claim amounts reported and paid for high
layer excess casualty insurance for December 31, 2000 through December 31, 2003:

Number of cumulative claims reported as of December 31, 2000 88
Number of claims reported during 2001 16
Number of claims reported during 2002 36
Number of claims reported during 2003 28

Number of cumulative claims reported as of December 31, 2003 168

(U.S. dollars in millions)

Cumulative claims paid as of December 31, 2000 $2,186
Amount of claims paid during 2001 126

Cumulative claims paid as of December 31, 2001 2,312
Amount of claims paid during 2002 162

Cumulative claims paid as of December 31, 2002 2,474
Amount of claims paid during 2003 193

Cumulative claims paid as of December 31, 2003 $2,668

As at December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company’s reported claims for its high layer excess casualty business were
32 and 31 shock losses, 57 and 51 non-shock losses and 84 and 63 professional liability losses, respectively.

The amounts disclosed above relating to the Company’s high layer excess business include information from the
Company’s subsidiaries that predominantly write high excess casualty insurance business. Other subsidiaries may write
high excess casualty insurance business from time to time.

Casualty reinsurance business involves reserving methods that generally include historical aggregated claim infor-
mation as reported by ceding companies, combined with the results of claims and underwriting reviews of a sample of
the ceding company’s claims and underwriting files. Therefore, the Company does not ordinarily receive detailed claim
information for this line of business.

Discontinued asbestos and long-tail environment business had been previously written by NAC Re (now
known as XL Reinsurance America, Inc), prior to its acquisition by the Company, see Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Except for certain workers compensation and long-term disability liabilities, the Company does not discount its
unpaid losses and loss expenses. The Company utilizes tabular reserving for workers compensation and long-term dis-
ability unpaid losses that are considered fixed and determinable, and discounts such losses using an interest rate of 5%
at December 31, 2003 and 7% at December 31, 2002. The interest rate approximates the average yield to maturity on
specific fixed income investments that support these liabilities. A 1% reduction in the interest rate would increase
unpaid loss and loss expense reserves and net incurred loss and loss expenses by approximately $24.0 million and $22.0
million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, based on the current estimated amount and payout of the liabili-
ties. See Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Unpaid losses and loss expenses recoverable

The establishment of unpaid loss and loss expense reserves also includes the estimation of related reinsurance recov-
erables. Due to the size of the gross losses arising from the September 11 event and the effect on the reinsurance indus-
try, the Company, in addition to its normal review process, further analyzed the recoverability of these assets. In addition
to the potential effect of the non recoverability of these assets from reinsurers disputing claims, the reinsurance market
in general has experienced significant capital erosion as a result of underwriting and investment losses. Accordingly, there
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is greater uncertainty regarding recoverability due to the reinsurers’ ability to pay. See “Financial Condition and
Liquidity” and Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

2) Future Policy Benefit Reserves

Future policy benefit reserves relate to the Company’s life and annuity operations and are estimated using assump-
tions for investment yields, mortality, expenses and provisions for adverse loss deviation. Interest rate volatility and mor-
tality experience may affect the ultimate benefit payments.

Most of the Company’s future policy benefit reserves relate to immediate annuity portfolio reinsurance contracts
under which the Company makes annuity payments throughout the term of the contract for a specified portfolio of poli-
cies. For certain of these contracts, a single premium is paid at inception of the contract by way of a transfer of cash and
investments to the Company.

Claims and expenses for individual policies within these annuity reinsurance contracts are projected over the life-
time of the contract to calculate a net present value of future cash flows. Assumptions for each element of the basis (mor-
tality, expenses and interest) are determined at the time of issuance of the contract and these assumptions are locked-in
throughout the term of the contract unless a premium deficiency develops. The assumptions are best estimate assump-
tions plus provisions for adverse deviations on the key risk elements (i.e., mortality and interest). Provisions for
adverse deviation are sufficient to cover reasonable deviations from the best estimate outcome of the contract. As the
experience on the contracts emerges, the assumptions are reviewed. This occurs at least annually and includes both an
analysis of experience and review of likely future experience. If such a review produced reserves in excess of those cur-
rently held then the locked-in assumptions would be revised and a loss recognized. During the years ended December
31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, there were no adjustments to the locked-in assumptions for any of these contracts.

The future policy benefit reserves for these annuity portfolio reinsurance contracts amounted to $2.6 billion and
$2.1 billion at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The Company holds the investment assets backing these lia-
bilities. These investments are primarily fixed income securities with maturities that closely match the expected claims
settlement profile.

As stated above, the future policy benefit reserves include provisions for adverse deviation in excess of best esti-
mate assumptions that amounted to approximately $125 million and $60 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respec-
tively. The future policy benefit reserves would only be increased if these provisions for adverse deviation became insufficient
in the light of emerging claims experience. The present value of future claims would increase by approximately $9 mil-
lion if mortality rates were to decrease by 1% in all future years, relative to the reserving assumptions. A decrease of 0.1%
in the investment yield would result in a $24 million increase in the value of future claims related to annuity portfolio
reinsurance.

The Company also provides reinsurance of disability income protection. The future policy benefit reserves for these
contracts amounted to $90 million and $83 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The liabilities relate
to in-force blocks of business, comprising underlying insurance policies that provide an income if the policyholder becomes
sick or disabled. The liabilities are therefore driven mainly by the rates at which policyholders become sick (where sick-
ness is defined by the policy conditions) and by the rates at which these policyholders recover or die. A 1% increase in
the morbidity rate would increase the value of future claims by approximately $0.1 million, while a 1% decrease in the
mortality rate would increase the value of future claims by approximately $0.4 million.

The Company also provides reinsurance of term assurance and critical illness policies. The future policy ben-
efit reserves for these contracts amounted to $15 million and $1 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
The liabilities relate to in-force blocks of business, comprising underlying insurance policies that provide mainly lump
sum benefits if the policyholder dies or becomes critically ill. For term assurance, the liabilities are therefore driven
by the rates of mortality and for critical illness cover, the liabilities are driven predominantly by the rates at which
policyholders become critically ill (as defined by the treaty conditions), i.e. the morbidity rates. A 1% increase in the
mortality rate relative to the reserving assumption would increase the value of future claims by approximately $0.2



million, while a 1% increase in the morbidity rate would increase the value of future claims by approximately $0.6
million.

The term assurance and critical illness treaties have been written using a variety of structures, some of which incur
acquisition costs during an initial period. For such treaties, a deferred acquisition cost (“DAC”) asset has been established
and an increase in future lapse rates could impact the recoverability of such costs from future premiums. The recover-
ability will also be influenced by the impact of lapses on future claims. An increase in the annual lapse rates by 1% could
lead to a 5%-10% reduction in future margins available for amortizing the DAC asset.

3) Deposit Liabilities

The Company’s deposit liabilities at December 31, 2003 included both structured finite insurance and reinsur-
ance transactions as well as funding agreements and municipal guaranteed reinvestment contracts. With regard to the
structured finite insurance and reinsurance contracts, the Company uses a portfolio rate of return of equivalent dura-
tion to the liabilities in determining risk transfer. For these contracts, the initial deposit liability equals the cash received
at inception. The Company has investment risk related to its ability to generate sufficient investment income to enable
the total invested assets to cover the payment of the estimated ultimate liability. The Company establishes an initial accre-
tion rate at inception of the contract. The deposit accretion rate is the rate of return required to fund expected future
payment obligations (this is equivalent to the ‘best estimates’ of future cash flows), which are determined actuarially
based upon the nature of the underlying indemnifiable losses. This is a function of the ultimate size of such losses, the
impact of the contractual limits upon indemnification of such losses, and the underlying loss settlement process which
determines the timing of payments. An increase in the ultimate claims cost or accelerated claims settlement would poten-
tially lead to an increase in the deposit liability accretion rate or lead to incurred losses if significant. The Company
has not had any significant change in these assumptions during the last three years ended December 31, 2003.

Interest expense related to the structured finite insurance and reinsurance contracts was $92.9 million, $65.9 mil-
lion and $47.9 million was recorded related to the accretion of the deposit liabilities for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. For some of the Company’s deposit liabilities the accretion rate is recorded at its con-
tractual limit. For all other contracts, a 1% increase in the average accretion rate would result in an increase in deposit
liabilities and interest expense by $11.9 million on an annualized basis.

4) Derivative Instruments

The Company conducts activities in three main types of derivative instruments: credit derivatives, weather and energy
derivatives and investment related derivative instruments. The estimate of fair value for credit derivatives and weather
and energy derivatives requires management’s judgment. These two activities are discussed below:

a) Credit derivatives

The Company enters into credit derivatives in connection with its financial guaranty business and the Company
intends to hold these contracts to maturity. In determining fair value, management differentiates between investment and
non-investment grade exposures and models them separately. Management estimates fair value for investment grade expo-
sures by monitoring changes in credit quality and selecting appropriate market indices to determine credit spread move-
ments over the life of the contracts. The determination of the credit spread movements is the basis for calculating the fair
value. For credit derivatives that are non-investment grade and therefore do not have a readily determinable market value,
the Company uses an alternative fair value methodology. The fair value is determined using a cash flow model devel-
oped by the Company and is dependent upon a number of factors, including changes in interest rates, future default rates,
credit spreads, changes in credit quality, future expected recovery rates and other market factors. Installment premiums
are also considered in the determination of discounted net cash flows. Other elements of the change in fair value are based
upon pricing established at the inception of the contract. Changes in fair value are unrealized as the credit derivatives are not
traded to realize this value. See “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” for sensitivity analysis.
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b) Weather and Energy derivatives

The fair value of weather and energy derivatives is determined through the use of quoted market prices where avail-
able. Where quoted market prices are unavailable, the fair value is estimated using available market data and internal pric-
ing models using consistent statistical methodologies. Estimating fair value of instruments which do not have quoted market
prices requires management’s judgment in determining amounts which could reasonably be expected to be received from,
or paid to, a third party in settlement of the contracts. The amounts could be materially different from the amounts that
might be realized in an actual sale transaction. Fair values are subject to change in the near-term and reflect management’s
best estimate based on various factors including, but not limited to, actual and forecasted weather conditions, changes
in commodity prices, changes in interest rates and other market factors. See “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About
Market Risk” for sensitivity analysis.

5) Other Than Temporary Declines In Investments

The Company’s process for identifying declines in the fair value of investments that are other than temporary involves
consideration of several factors. These factors include (i) the time period during which there has been a significant decline
in value, (ii) an analysis of the liquidity, business prospects and financial condition of the issuer, (iii) the significance of
the decline, (iv) an analysis of the collateral structure and other credit support, as applicable, of the securities in ques-
tion and (v) the Company’s intent and ability to hold the investment for a sufficient period of time for the value to recover.
Where the Company’s analysis of the above factors results in the Company’s conclusion that declines in fair values are
other than temporary, the cost of the security is written down to fair value and the previously unrealized loss is therefore
realized in the period such determination is made.

With respect to securities where the decline in value is determined to be temporary and the security’s value is not
written down, a subsequent decision may be made to sell that security and realize a loss. Subsequent decisions on secu-
rity sales are made within the context of overall risk monitoring, changing information, market conditions generally and
assessing value relative to other comparable securities. Day to day management of the Company’s investment portfolio
is outsourced to third party investment managers. While these investment managers may, at a given point in time, believe
that the preferred course of action is to hold securities with unrealized losses that are considered temporary until such
losses are recovered, the dynamic nature of the portfolio management may result in a subsequent decision to sell the secu-
rity and realize the loss, based upon a change in market and other factors described above. The Company believes that
subsequent decisions to sell such securities are consistent with the classification of the Company’s portfolio as available
for sale.

As mentioned above, the Company considers its intent and ability to hold a security until the value recovers as part
of the process of evaluating whether a security with an unrealized loss represents an other than temporary decline. However,
this factor on its own does not dictate whether or not the Company recognizes an impairment charge. The Company believes
its ability to hold such securities is supported by positive and sufficient cash flow from its operations in order to meet its
claims payment obligations arising from its underwriting operations without selling such investments. In this regard, cash
flow from operating activities was $3.4 billion and $3.0 billion in 2003 and 2002, respectively.

There are risks and uncertainties associated with determining whether declines in the fair value of investments are
other than temporary. These include subsequent significant changes in general economic conditions as well as specific
business conditions affecting particular issuers, subjective assessment of issue-specific factors (seniority of claims, col-
lateral value, etc.), future financial market effects, stability of foreign governments and economies, future rating agency
actions and significant disclosure of accounting, fraud or corporate governance issues that may adversely affect certain
investments. In addition, significant assumptions and management judgment are involved in determining if the decline
is other than temporary. If management determines that a decline in fair value is temporary then a security’s value is not
written down at that time, however, there are potential effects upon the Company’s future earnings and financial posi-
tion should management later conclude that some of the current declines in the fair value of the investments are other
than temporary declines. See “– Investment Activities – Unrealized Losses on Investments” for further information.



6) Income Taxes

The Company utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred
income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The Company has capitalized net operat-
ing tax losses of $225.2 million and $296.0 million against which a valuation allowance of $18.3 million and $50.6 mil-
lion at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, has been established. The deferral of benefits from tax losses is evaluated
based upon management’s estimates of the future profitability of the Company’s taxable entities based on current fore-
casts and the period for which losses may be carried forward. A valuation allowance may have to be established for any
portion of a deferred tax asset that management believes will not be realized. Should the future income of these entities
fall below expectations, a further valuation allowance would have to be established, which could be significant. In addi-
tion, if any further losses are generated by these entities, these losses may not be tax effected.

Effective as of January 1, 2004, XL Re America Inc (“XLRA”), a subsidiary of the Company, entered into an adverse
development reinsurance treaty with another reinsurance subsidiary of the Company. The treaty related to the 1985 through
(and including) 2001 underwriting years covering any adverse development on reserves calculated as of December 31,
2003 between January 1, 2004 and December 31, 2005. The treaty has a limit of $500 million and will limit future loss
development at XLRA relating to these underwriting years. Any commutation of this treaty requires the prior approval
of the New York Department of Insurance. There is no impact of this treaty on the consolidated financial statements of
the Company, however as part of management’s continuing evaluation of its deferred tax asset, the treaty is critical in
evaluating the future income position of the U.S. group of companies. Management believes that the treaty will protect
the U.S. group from unexpected prior loss development. Absent unexpected loss development from the 2001 and prior
underwriting years, management has concluded that there is sufficient positive evidence of future profitability in the U.S.
and that a valuation allowance as a charge against the deferred tax asset is not required at this time.

See further information under “– Other Revenues and Expenses” and Note 23 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

7) Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are carried at or below estimated fair value. There are many assumptions and estimates underly-
ing the fair value calculation. Principally, the Company identifies the business entity that the intangible asset is attrib-
uted to, reviews historical and forecasted performance and other underlying factors affecting such analysis, including market
conditions, premium rates and loss trends. Other assumptions used could produce a significantly different result which
may result in a change in the value of the intangible asset and amortization charge in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
Based on the current expectations of profitability, an impairment charge would only be recognized in the event of a sig-
nificant decline in the expected profitability of those operations where such intangible assets are applicable. At December
31, 2003, intangible assets were $1.8 billion of which approximately $1.35 billion and $455.5 million related to the
Company’s reinsurance and insurance segments, respectively.

See “– Other Revenue and Expenses” for further information.

8) Winterthur International Acquisition

In connection with its acquisition of Winterthur International in July 2001 in an all cash transaction, the Company
has recorded a net recoverable from Winterthur Swiss Insurance Company (the “Seller”) of $740.9 million at December
31, 2003 based on provisions of the sale and purchase agreement between the parties (“SPA”). The amount of this recov-
erable remains subject to change pending expiration of the three-year seasoning period due to close on June 30, 2004.

The SPA provides the Company with post-closing protection with respect to adverse development of loss and unearned
premium reserves relating to the acquired Winterthur International operations. This protection is based upon net loss devel-
opment over a three-year post-closing seasoning period based on loss experience, collectible reinsurance, reinsurance
recoveries and certain other factors set forth in the SPA. See “Financial Condition and Liquidity” for further informa-
tion. The SPA provides for independent actuarial determination should the Seller and the Company disagree on the final
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amounts due thereunder. The Company may recognize an impairment if the amount determined to be due to the
Company is less than the carrying value of the SPA recovery balance deemed due from the Seller or to the extent that
any amount proves to be uncollectible from the Seller for any reason.

9) Variable Interest Entities

The Company utilizes variable interest entities both directly and indirectly in the ordinary course of business. The
Company must assess consolidation of variable interest entities based on whether the Company is the primary benefi-
ciary of the entity. The company that absorbs a majority of the expected losses or residual rewards of the entity is deemed
to be the primary beneficiary and is therefore required to consolidate the entity. The determination of expected losses
and expected residual returns requires the Company to estimate the expected cash flows of the entities and measure the
expected variability of these cash flows. The use of different assumptions to determine the expected cash flows and vari-
ability could affect the Company’s determination of the primary beneficiary. The assumptions used to determine the expected
cash flows depends on the type of structure and the nature of the Company’s variable interest. The Company has made
assumptions primarily regarding default rates, the timing of defaults and recovery rates to estimate these expected cash
flows of the variable interest entities that it utilizes.

Segments

The Company is organized into three underwriting segments – insurance, reinsurance, and financial products and
services – and a corporate segment, which includes the investment operations of the Company. See Note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

The Company’s business is conducted on a global basis where several of its subsidiaries operate in foreign cur-
rencies that are the base currency of that entity. Under U.S. GAAP, revenues and expenses of those operations are trans-
lated into the U.S. dollar at average exchange rates during the year and assets and liabilities at exchange rates at the end
of the year. In 2003 and 2002, with the decline in value of U.S. dollar against several currencies, including U.K. ster-
ling, Swiss franc and the Euro, this has resulted in revenues and expenses translated into higher U.S. dollar values. This
should be considered when making period to period comparisons.

Insurance

The following table summarizes the underwriting profit for this segment:

% Change % Change

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 03 vs 02 2002 02 vs 01 2001

General:
Gross premiums written $5,221,316 15.0% $4,539,186 61.4% $2,812,979
Net premiums written 3,725,208 16.1% 3,207,292 81.2% 1,770,376

Net premiums earned $3,640,330 28.5% $2,832,298 66.5% $1,700,802
Fee income and other 13,670 (62.8)% 36,717 100.0% 18,358
Net losses and loss expenses 2,379,499 34.3% 1,771,982 21.3% 1,461,304
Acquisition costs 542,149 13.3% 478,548 39.4% 343,247
Operating expenses 412,540 8.3% 380,901 89.7% 200,745
Exchange (gains) losses (7,858) NM (56,515) NM 8,122
Underwriting profit (loss) $ 327,670 11.4% $ 294,099 NM $ (294,258)

NM = Not Meaningful



Gross and net premiums written increased in the year ended December 31, 2003 compared with 2002 primarily
due to significant pricing increases across most lines of business and new business written. The largest pricing increases
in 2003 were in the professional liability, other casualty and aviation lines of business. Partially offsetting the growth in
net premiums written in 2003 was a reduction related to the non renewal of specialty workers compensation and certain
Lloyd’s international programs. Gross and net premiums written increased in 2002 over 2001 primarily due to the acqui-
sition of Winterthur International, effective July 1, 2001 whereby only half a year of premium written was included in
2001 and significant price increases in 2002 compared with 2001.

Net premiums earned increased in each of the three years ended December 31, 2003 due to the increases in net
premium written in the current and prior year. Casualty insurance net premiums earned increased from $1.36 billion in
the 2002 to $1.96 billion in 2003. Net premiums earned by the Winterthur International operations were $779.5 million
in 2002 as compared to $353.1 million in 2001. This increase is due primarily to the inclusion of a full year of net pre-
miums earned related to Winterthur International in 2002.

Net premiums earned are expected to increase in 2004 mainly due to the growth in net premiums written during
2003.

Fee income and other decreased in 2003 as compared to 2002 and increased in 2002 as compared to 2001 primarily
due to $21.0 million of contingent income received in the fourth quarter of 2002 that related to a sale in 1999 of the motor
business written by the Company’s Lloyd’s syndicates. In addition, at the end of 2002, the Company discontinued cer-
tain consulting and administration services related to the Winterthur International operations for employee benefit plans
of unrelated companies.

Exchange gains in 2003 and 2002 were primarily due to a decline in the value of the U.S. dollar against U.K. ster-
ling and Swiss franc in those operations that have monetary assets and liabilities denominated in these foreign curren-
cies. The gain in 2003 was partially reduced by a hedge put in place by the Company in February 2003 to cover part of
its exposure to a U.K sterling reinsurance recoverable balance.

The increase in the underwriting profit in 2003 as compared with 2002 and 2002 as compared with 2001 is also
reflective of the combined ratios as shown below. The following table presents the ratios for this segment for each of
the three years ended December 31:

2003 2002 2001

Loss and loss expense ratio 65.4% 62.6% 85.9%
Underwriting expense ratio 26.2% 30.3% 32.0%
Combined ratio 91.6% 92.9% 117.9%

The loss and loss expense ratio includes net losses incurred for both the current year and any adverse or favorable
prior year development of loss and loss reserves held at the beginning of the year.

The loss ratio was higher in 2003 as compared to 2002 due primarily to an increase in the net adverse develop-
ment of prior year loss reserves that was partially offset by a relatively lower level of current year loss activity with the
positive effect of continued pricing increases and improved terms and conditions across most lines written. The loss ratio
was lower in 2002 as compared with 2001 due primarily to the September 11 event.
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The following tables present the prior year adverse or favorable development of the Company’s gross and net loss
and loss expense reserves for its insurance operations:

Gross
(U.S. dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Unpaid losses and loss expense reserves at the 
beginning of the year $8,103 $7,834 $3,046

Net adverse development of those reserves during the year 1,055 54 69

Unpaid losses and loss expense reserves re-estimated 
one year later $9,158 $7,888 $3,115

Net
(U.S. dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Unpaid losses and loss expense reserves at the 
beginning of the year $4,771 $4,680 $2,457

Net adverse (favorable) development of those reserves 
during the year 153 28 (78)

Unpaid losses and loss expense reserves re-estimated 
one year later $4,924 $4,708 $2,379

During 2003, the Company’s net adverse prior year development of $153 million was due primarily to increases
in previously reported case reserves for excess professional liability lines of $143 million for the underwriting years 1997
through 2001. These increases in reported case reserves exceeded the Company’s expected losses based on historical pat-
terns of loss development. Specifically, the increase related to reported case reserves for directors and officers and errors
and omissions coverages. During 2003, there was an increase in the amount of litigation related to certain losses. In addi-
tion, there was adverse development of $37 million related to environmental business primarily for professional liabil-
ity coverage underwritten in 2000 and 2001 that was offset by favorable development of $27 million primarily in
aviation, property, marine and energy coverages.

The Company did not change its methodology or key assumptions used in 2003, 2002 or 2001 to determine ulti-
mate loss reserves for any line of insurance business written.

During 2003, the Company’s net adverse development of its gross reserves exceeded its net reserve adverse devel-
opment due principally to an increase in prior year reserves related to Winterthur International. The Company has pro-
tection with respect to any adverse development of loss and unearned premium reserves related to the acquired Winterthur
International operations with effect from July 1, 2001 under the SPA with the Seller, and has recorded a recoverable of
the same amount. See - Financial Condition and Liquidity and Note 6(b) to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
further information.

During 2002, the Company’s net adverse prior year development of $28 million was comprised of an increase in
loss reserves of $73 million relating to the September 11 event that was partially offset by a net decrease in the other reserves
of $45 million.

In 2002, the increase in the estimate of the ultimate losses relating to the September 11 event of $73 million related
primarily to the accident and health business written in the Company’s Lloyd’s operations. The Company had origi-
nally recorded ultimate losses for the September 11 event in the insurance segment of $318 million in 2001 based on
management’s best estimate at that time. This best estimate was based on an analysis which had been performed to attempt
to identify all possible claims and to analyze the magnitude of the potential loss. The increase in the loss reserves occurred
in the second quarter of 2002 after the Company received additional information from policyholders with regard to claims
relating to their insured employee casualties, including estimates of benefits payable under U.S. workers’ compensa-
tion statutes.



During 2002, the Company decreased the estimate of other reserves at the beginning of 2002 by a net amount of
$45 million, consisting of a decrease in reserves relating to the excess casualty insurance business of $114 million par-
tially offset by increases in prior year reserves for satellite lines of $30 million and other casualty insurance lines of $39
million. Estimated ultimate loss reserves were reduced for excess casualty insurance based upon lower than expected actual
reported loss experience for business written in years 1997 and prior. A lack of available industry data resulted in more
actuarial judgment being involved in establishing IBNR loss reserves for this line of business in the earlier years, as men-
tioned above under “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates”—Unpaid losses and loss expenses and unpaid loss and
loss expenses recoverable. Estimated loss reserves are then regularly updated to take into account actual claims reported.
The adverse development experienced in the satellite lines was due to several satellite malfunctions that caused an increase
in actual reported loss activity that was greater than expected. The adverse development for the other casualty lines was
for business written in 1999 through 2001. In these years, premium rates for casualty business had declined due to com-
petitive market pressures and in 2002, there was an increase in the size of claims reported that was higher than expected.

During 2001, the net favorable prior year loss development of $78 million related principally to the Company’s
excess casualty insurance business. 2001 favorable development related to business written in 1994 through 1997.
Similar to 2002, favorable development was due primarily to judgment required in establishing reserves for this line of
business due to the lack of industry data available as described above.

There is no assurance that conditions and trends that have affected the development of liabilities in the past will
continue. Accordingly, it may not be appropriate to extrapolate future redundancies or deficiencies based on the
Company’s historical results.

The decrease in the underwriting expense ratio in 2003 from 2002 is due to a reduction in the acquisition expense
ratio of 2.0% (14.9% as compared to 16.9%) and a reduction in the operating expense ratio of 2.1% (11.3% as compared
to 13.4%). The reduction in the acquisition expense ratio is due primarily to lower commission and brokerage costs in
a favorable underwriting market on certain lines of business and where there has been a change in the mix of business
earned. The reduction in the operating expense ratio is due to the growth in net premiums earned where the amount of
net premiums earned has increased more than the amount of increase in operating expenses, which is due primarily to
the growth in the segment operations.

The decrease in the underwriting expense ratio in 2002 over 2001 is due to a reduction in the acquisition expense
ratio that was partially offset by an increase in the operating expense ratio. The acquisition expense ratio decreased due
to a change in the mix of business earned where there has been an increase in certain lines which typically carry a lower
commission and brokerage cost. In addition, 2001 net premiums earned were reduced by $25.3 million related to the
September 11 event that contributed to higher ratios in 2001. Operating expenses included $181.6 million and $69.8 mil-
lion in 2002 and 2001, respectively, relating to the operations of Winterthur International. This increase reflects a full
year of Winterthur International’s results in 2002 as well as costs associated with the building and integration of their
infrastructure. In addition, 2002 was also affected by an increase in operating expenses at the Company’s Lloyd’s oper-
ations, where the Company has owned 100% of the syndicate capacity since January 1, 2002.
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Reinsurance

Reinsurance – General Operations

The following table summarizes the underwriting results for the general operations of this segment:

% Change % Change

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 03 vs 02 2002 02 vs 01 2001

Gross premiums written $3,402,764 7.2% $3,174,819 74.6% $1,818,491
Net premiums written 2,827,072 10.2% 2,564,334 150.1% 1,021,668

Net premiums earned $2,440,703 18.1% $2,066,775 100.7% 1,029,618
Fee income and other 25,240 125.3% 11,201 256.0% (7,180)
Net losses and loss expenses 2,197,357 41.1% 1,557,065 9.0% 1,428,772
Acquisition costs 555,431 22.3% 454,300 55.5% 292,069
Operating expenses 151,332 37.8% 109,796 26.0% 87,169
Exchange (gains) losses (26,390) 10.9% (23,787) NM 4,062
Underwriting loss $ (411,787) NM $ (19,398) NM $ (789,634)

Gross premiums written increased 7.2% in 2003 as compared to 2002 due mainly to new business written and increases
in premium rates, primarily in casualty and international property lines. This increase was partially offset by some can-
cellations in treaty renewals on certain contracts in 2003 and also a reduction of $18.0 million in 2003 of reinstatement
premiums related to the release of loss reserves for the September 11 event, discussed further below. Gross premiums
written increased 74.6% in 2002 as compared to 2001 due primarily to new business written, premium rate increases and
the acquisition of Le Mans Ré, now known as XL Re Europe, which had gross premiums written of $307.3 million and
which was consolidated into the Company’s results with effect from January 1, 2002. This was partially offset by the
inclusion of reinstatement premiums of $147.9 million in 2001 related to losses arising from the September 11 event.

Net premiums earned in 2003 increased 18.1% as compared to 2002 due primarily to growth in net premiums writ-
ten in 2003 and 2002. Casualty reinsurance net premiums earned were $971.2 million in 2003 as compared to $792.6
million in 2002.

Net premiums earned in 2002 also increased as compared to 2001 due to new business written and pricing increases,
In addition, 2002 included net premiums earned of $241.5 million related to XL Re Europe. Further, net premiums earned
in 2001 were also reduced by $120.4 million of net reinstatement premiums related to the September 11 event.

Fee income and other relates primarily to fees earned on deposit liability contracts which are earned based on indi-
vidual underlying contractual terms and conditions. The increase in 2003 as compared to 2002 is due to the reassess-
ment and reduction of the risk period related to one contract, and accordingly is not expected to reoccur in 2004.

Fee income and other in 2002 relates primarily to the earning of fees on two deposit liability contracts that were
commuted in the second and third quarters of 2002. Fee income and other in 2001 was negative due to non-underwrit-
ing costs for an outward reinsurance contract.

There were no significant catastrophic loss events affecting the Company in 2003 or 2002. In 2001 other current
year loss events, excluding the September 11 event, totaled approximately $93.0 million. Property catastrophe business
has loss experience that is generally categorized as low frequency but high severity in nature. This may result in volatil-
ity in the Company’s financial results for any fiscal year or quarter.



The following table presents the underwriting ratios for this segment:

2003 2002 2001

Loss and loss expense ratio 90.0% 75.3% 138.8%
Underwriting expense ratio 29.0% 27.3% 36.8%
Combined ratio 119.0% 102.6% 175.6%

The loss and loss expense ratio includes net losses incurred for both the current year and any adverse or favorable
prior year development of loss reserves held at the beginning of the year.

The loss and loss expense ratio increased in 2003 as compared to 2002 due primarily to net adverse development
of prior year loss reserves primarily related to the Company’s North American casualty business written during the 1997
through 2001 underwriting years. See further discussion below.

The loss ratio was lower in the year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to 2001 due primarily to a relatively
lower level of current year loss activity in 2002 and the positive effect of pricing increases across most lines written. Current
year loss activity in 2001 included $442.1 million of net losses incurred relating to the September 11 event.

The increase in the underwriting expense ratio in 2003 as compared with 2002 was due to an increase in the acqui-
sition expense ratio of 0.8% and operating expense ratio of 0.9%. The increase in the acquisition expense ratio was due
primarily to higher ceding company profit commissions payable and a change in the mix of net premiums earned. The
operating expense ratio increased due primarily to a reduction of operating expenses in 2002 of approximately $8.0 mil-
lion in recognition of a curtailment gain on a Company pension plan in the U.S.

The underwriting expense ratio in 2001 was affected by the negative impact of the September 11 event reinstate-
ment premiums on net premiums earned. Excluding the effect of the reinstatement premiums the underwriting expense
ratio would have been 33.0% in 2001 as compared to 27.3% in 2002. The reduction in the underwriting expense ratio
in 2002 was due primarily to a change in the mix of business in net premiums earned where certain lines had a lower
commission rate and also due to the growth in net premiums earned being greater than the growth in operating expenses.
Operating expenses generally do not change in direct proportion to changes in net premiums earned, particularly where
they are due to price changes. Partially offsetting this was a reduction in 2001 of approximately $7.0 million related to
certain compensation expenses accrued in previous years.

Exchange gains in 2003 and 2002 were mainly attributable to a decline in the value of the U.S. dollar against U.K.
sterling and the Euro in those operations that write business globally.

The following tables present the adverse prior year development of the Company’s gross and net loss and loss expense
reserves for its reinsurance general operations:

Gross
(U.S. dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Unpaid losses and loss expense reserves at the 
beginning of the year $5,062 $3,947 $2,614

Net adverse development of those reserves 
during the year 821 504 381

Unpaid losses and loss expense reserves re-estimated 
one year later $5,883 $4,451 $2,995
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Net
(U.S. dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Unpaid losses and loss expense reserves at the 
beginning of the year $3,588 $2,467 $1,863

Net adverse development of those reserves 
during the year 799 385 253

Unpaid losses and loss expense reserves re-estimated 
one year later $4,387 $2,852 $2,116

The following is an analysis of the net adverse prior year development during each of the three years ended December
31, 2003:

Net
(U.S. dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001

September 11 event reserves $(197) $127 $ –
Other reinsurance reserves 996 258 253

Total net adverse prior year development $ 799 $385 $253

In the fourth quarter 2003, the Company reduced aviation loss reserves related to the September 11 event by $197
million. This reduction in reserves was due to higher than expected levels of participation (97%) in the September 11
Victim Compensation Fund, a no-fault compensation scheme funded by the U.S. government, which closed on December
22, 2003. This resulted in a reduction in the estimated ultimate losses by the Company for this event.

During 2003, the Company increased its estimated reserves related to its reinsurance segment (excluding the
September 11 event) by $996 million of which approximately $877 million related primarily to the Company’s North
American reinsurance operations for casualty business underwritten during the 1997 through 2001 underwriting years.
Of the $877 million, $184 million was recorded in the third quarter of 2003 and $663 million in the fourth quarter of
2003 as described below.

The main lines of business affected by this adverse development included general liability, medical malpractice,
professional and surety lines. As previously noted, the Company’s expected loss development is actuarially determined
based on historical claims analysis and projected trends. Actual reported losses may vary from expected loss develop-
ment from quarter to quarter. Generally, as an underwriting year matures, the level of newly reported claims decreases
and typically, unless the Company receives additional reported claims that are significantly higher or lower than expected,
estimated ultimate loss reserves are not adjusted prior to a full actuarial review. In the third quarter of 2003, the Company
received a significant increase in reported claims that were in excess of the Company’s expected claims development.
In addition, the Company completed an actuarial review for the longer tail lines of this book of business, using data eval-
uated at March 31, 2003. As a result, the Company recorded an increase in loss reserves of $184.0 million in the third
quarter of 2003. This adverse development has been due to several factors - competitive market pressures on pricing dur-
ing these underwriting years caused premium rates for excess casualty business to decline industry wide and there has
been an increase in the number and size of claims reported in recent years as a result of increases in court filings, cor-
porate scandals, rising tort costs and settlement awards.

As a result of this increase in prior period loss reserves in the third quarter of 2003, the Company completed an
extensive claims audit review at the relevant ceding companies in order to obtain information to more accurately deter-
mine an estimate of the ultimate loss reserves for this book of business. The claims audit review included both internal
and external resources, a comprehensive claims audit of the largest and most significant ceding companies, and a review
of loss ratios and reserve analysis procedures. Additional case reserves and potential additional loss exposure were iden-
tified during the review and upon completion of the claims review, the Company recorded a further increase to net loss
reserves of $663.0 million in the fourth quarter of 2003 primarily related to the Company’s North American casualty



reinsurance business written in the 1997 through 2001 underwriting years. This comprised additional case reserves of
$124.0 million and an increase in IBNR reserves of $539.0 million.

As a result of the new information obtained in the claims audit review, the Company changed its actuarial method-
ology and key assumptions for determining ultimate loss reserves. The Company separately reviewed the historical loss
development of its major cedents using several actuarial methodologies; where the analysis of a cedent’s experience con-
cluded that the experience was worse than the Company’s historical loss development experience, the Company projected
that cedent’s ultimate loss based on the cedent’s own experience. In addition, the Company assumed that the more recent
experience was more indicative of future loss development by selecting development patterns that were based on the most
recent experience rather than on the Company’s longer term historical experience.

Prior year reserves also developed adversely on certain other casualty business written in the 1998 through 2001
underwriting years outside of North America. These exposures were affected by trends similar to those as described above
for the North American casualty reinsurance operations. The casualty exposures underwritten in these entities were much
less than those of the North American operations so the impact on the prior year reserves was relatively smaller.

In the second quarter 2002, the Company increased its estimated loss reserves for the September 11 event by $127
million due primarily to higher than originally estimated business interruption losses and exposure to potential claims
by the Lloyd’s Central Guaranty Fund. The increase followed an analysis of additional new information received from
the Company’s ceding companies with regard to their increased estimates of claims relating to their exposures to the
September 11 event. During 2001, the Company had recorded incurred losses for the September 11 event for its rein-
surance operations of $442 million. Due to the size and complexity of the loss and the time lag in ceding companies report-
ing the information to the Company, establishing reserves for this loss within a short time period was difficult.

The increase in estimate for all other reinsurance reserves in 2002 and 2001 of $258 million and $253 million, respec-
tively, also related principally to losses on business written in 1997 through (and including) 2000 in the Company’s U.S.
casualty reinsurance business and for asbestos losses in years prior to 1985. The increase in 2002 was partially offset by
decreases in estimates for losses related to business written in 1985 through 1996 in these same lines of business. The
increases in 2002 and 2001 were also due to increases in reported claims that were in excess of the Company’s expected
loss development for this business from higher court settlement awards. The Company did not change its methodology
or key assumptions for determining ultimate loss reserves in 2002 or 2001.

During 2003, the Company reviewed its actual reported loss experience for asbestos and environmental claims for
its 1985 and prior exposures. The actual loss experience was consistent with assumptions established in the Company’s
2002 review and therefore there was no adverse prior year development of the Company’s asbestos and environmental
reserves in 2003. The reserves for these exposures represented less than 1% of the Company’s total unpaid loss and loss
expense reserves at December 31, 2003.

The Company updated its assumptions for asbestos loss reserves in 2002 to take account of an increase in 2002
in the number and size of the ultimate asbestos claims that the Company anticipates on the policies underwritten during
the years 1972 through 1985. These changes were based on recent increases in court filings and settlements on behalf
of asbestos claimants and bankruptcies of asbestos defendants which tend to shift liabilities to other parties. The
Company’s increase of $30 million in 2002 increased its total net reserves for asbestos and environmental exposures to
$66 million.

The Company utilizes industry standard asbestos and environmental claims models to estimate its ultimate liability
for these exposures.

As of December 31, 2003, the Company had approximately 594 open claim files for potential asbestos exposures
and 490 open claim files for potential environmental exposures on business written prior to 1986. Approximately 43%
in 2003 and 44% of the open claim files for both 2002 and 2001 are due to precautionary claim notices. Precautionary
claim notices are submitted by the ceding companies in order to preserve their right to receive coverage under the 
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reinsurance contract. Such notices do not contain an incurred loss amount to the Company. The development of the num-
ber of open claim files for potential asbestos and environmental claims is as follows:

Asbestos Environmental

Claims Claims

Total number of claims outstanding at December 31, 2000 374 613
New claims reported in 2001 122 33
Claims resolved in 2001 43 103

Total number of claims outstanding at December 31, 2001 453 543
New claims reported in 2002 117 42
Claims resolved in 2002 33 70

Total number of claims outstanding at December 31, 2002 537 515
New claims reported in 2003 205 49
Claims resolved in 2003 148 74

Total number of claims outstanding at December 31, 2003 594 490

The Company’s exposure to asbestos and environmental claims arises from policies written, both on a proportional
and excess basis, after 1972. The Company discontinued writing policies with these exposures in 1985. Business writ-
ten was across many different policies, each with a relatively small contract limit. The Company’s recently reported asbestos
claims related to both traditional products and premises and operations coverage.

The estimation of loss and loss expense liabilities for asbestos and environmental exposures is subject to much greater
uncertainty than is normally associated with the establishment of liabilities for certain other exposures due to several fac-
tors, including: (i) uncertain legal interpretation and application of insurance and reinsurance coverage and liability; (ii)
the lack of reliability of available historical claims data as an indicator of future claims development; (iii) an uncertain
political climate which may impact, among other areas, the nature and amount of costs for remediating waste sites; and
(iv) the potential of insurers and reinsurers to reach agreements in order to avoid further significant legal costs. Due to
the potential significance of these uncertainties, the Company believes that no meaningful range of loss and loss expense
liabilities beyond recorded reserves can be established. As the Company’s net unpaid loss and loss expense reserves related
to asbestos and environmental exposures are less than 1% of the total net reserves at December 31, 2003, further adverse
development is not expected to be material to the Company’s overall net loss reserves. See Note 10 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for further information.

The Company believes it has made reasonable provision for its asbestos and environmental exposures and is unaware
of any specific issues that would significantly affect its estimate for loss and loss expenses.

During 2001, the Company’s prior estimate of the year-end net reserves increased by $253 million. The increase
in 2001 related principally to loss estimates for losses occurring in 1998 through (and including) 2000 related to the
Company’s casualty reinsurance business. The reasons were the same as those explained above. The Company did not
change its methodology or key assumptions in 2001.



Reinsurance – Life and Annuity Operations

The following table summarizes the net income (loss) from life and annuity operations of this segment:

% Change % Change

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 03 vs 02 2002 02 vs 01 2001

Gross premiums written $673,027 (32.9)% $1,003,154 44.2% $695,595
Net premiums written 655,986 (33.0)% 979,825 40.8% 695,595

Net premiums earned $664,612 (32.2)% $ 980,387 40.9% $695,595
Fee income and other 599 NM 2 NM –
Claims and policy benefits 750,663 (27.0)% 1,027,981 47.1% 698,675
Acquisition costs 33,090 157.7% 12,839 NM –
Operating expenses 9,019 54.3% 5,844 NM –
Net investment income 139,241 52.3% 91,451 NM –
Exchange gains (4,371) NM – NM –
Net income (loss) $ 16,051 (36.2)% $ 25,176 NM $ (3,080)

Life gross and net premiums written, net premiums earned and claims and policy benefits in the three years ended
December 31, 2003 included the assumption of the following long duration annuity portfolios:

1. Fourth quarter of 2003 – two portfolios, one U.K. and one European, for a total of approximately 
$390.0 million.

2. Third quarter of 2002 – one U.K. portfolio of approximately $762.7 million

3. Fourth quarter of 2001 – one European portfolio of approximately $549.3 million

The Company acquired cash and investment assets related to the future policy benefit reserves assumed at incep-
tion of these large contracts. While the Company expects to write more of these contracts, the frequency of these trans-
actions will likely continue to be irregular.

Excluding these large contracts, net premiums earned in life reinsurance increased in 2003 compared with 2002
and 2002 compared with 2001 as the Company expanded its life and annuity reinsurance operations in Europe, as well
as new annuity business and term life assurance business in 2003.

Acquisition costs, operating expenses and net investment income increased in 2003 as compared to 2002 in line
with the expansion of this business.

Net investment income is included in the calculation of net income from life operations as it relates to income earned
on portfolios of separately identified and managed life investment assets and other allocated assets. The accretion of the
related future policy benefit reserves is included in claims and policy benefits.
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Financial Products and Services

Financial Products and Services – Financial Operations

The following table summarizes the underwriting results for this segment:

% Change % Change

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 03 vs 02 2002 02 vs 01 2001

Gross premiums written $313,916 57.0% $199,913 112.2% $ 94,197
Net premiums written 299,240 68.3% 177,794 103.6% 87,327

Net premiums earned $139,622 106.1% $ 67,745 82.5% $ 37,113
Fee income and other 1,990 (71.7)% 7,043 – 7,069
Net losses and loss expenses 33,750 NM (1,732) (111.4)% 15,155
Acquisition costs 19,066 97.7% 9,644 158.6% 3,730
Operating expenses 50,147 16.4% 43,068 40.6% 30,636
Exchange losses – NM 8 NM –

Underwriting profit (loss) $ 38,649 62.4% $ 23,800 NM $ (5,339)
Investment income – financial guarantee 23,273 (10.4)% 25,962 5.2% 24,670
Net realized and unrealized gains on weather 

and energy derivative instruments 1,103 (93.3)% 16,607 0.3% 16,556
Operating expenses – weather and energy 21,837 46.8% 14,875 50.0% 9,916
Equity in net income of financial affiliates 37,108 NM 5,166 (22.5)% 6,663
Minority interest 11,424 9.6% 10,424 212.7% 3,333
Net realized and unrealized losses on credit 

derivatives (1) (25,787) (44.1)% (46,137) 137.5% (19,426)
Net contribution from financial operations $ 41,085 NM $ 99 99.0% $ 9,875

(1) In 2003, the Company has reclassified all credit derivatives from the general operations insurance segment into the financial products and ser-
vices segment. Prior period information has been reclassified to conform to current year presentation. There was no net income impact of this
change in presentation.

Gross and net premiums written increased in 2003 as compared to 2002, and 2002 as compared to 2001 primar-
ily due to new financial guaranty business written.

The growth in net premiums earned in 2003 as compared to 2002 was greater than the increase in net premiums
written over the same period. This is due to net premiums that were earned from business written in the current and prior
years that earn out over the life of the underlying exposures, which are typically longer than the risk periods related to
the Company’s insurance and reinsurance general operations.

Fee income and other in 2002 and 2001 related primarily to liquidity facility fees earned from one of the
Company’s financial guaranty contracts. In 2003, fee income primarily related to an early termination fee received on
one financial guaranty contract. Fee income and other is expected to decrease in 2004 as early terminations are not antic-
ipated.



As with the Company’s property and casualty insurance and reinsurance operations, net losses and loss expenses
include current year net losses incurred and adverse or favorable development of prior year net loss and loss expenses
reserves. In 2002, net losses incurred were negative due to favorable development of prior year loss and loss expense reserves,
described below. The following tables present the favorable development of the Company’s gross and net loss and loss
expense reserves for its general financial products and services operations:

Gross and Net
(U.S. dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Unpaid losses and loss expense reserves at the beginning of the year $ 36 $ 26 $12

Net adverse (favorable) development of those reserves during the year (15) (13) –

Unpaid losses and loss expense reserves re-estimated one year later $ 21 $ 13 $12

The Company commenced writing financial guaranty business in 1998 and had relied entirely upon industry data
to establish reserves until the end of 2001. In 2002, the Company refined its assumptions to take into account its actual
historical loss experience and revised its estimated claim reporting pattern for the IBNR losses that the Company
records during each loss year. The Company uses this expected loss reporting pattern, combined with changes in
reported losses, to determine the prior year development amount. Using the new methodology developed in 2002, actual
reported loss development was less than expected in 2003, resulting in a release of prior period reserves of $15 million.
In 2002, reported losses for this business were also less than expected and with the refinement in assumptions resulted
in a decrease in the estimate of reserves for prior years of $13 million.

In 2001, the Company did not change its prior year loss reserves because it did not have sufficient Company-spe-
cific loss experience data available to justify amending the Company’s initial assumptions.

In 2002, acquisition costs as a percentage of net premiums earned increased as compared to 2001, due to an increase
in ceding commissions paid, lower reinsurance commissions received and increased amortization of deferred underwriting
expenses.

Operating expenses increased in 2003 as compared to 2002 and 2002 as compared to 2001 due to expansion of
all activities in the segment.

Net investment income related to the financial guaranty business decreased in 2003 as compared to 2002 due pri-
marily to a decline in general market interest rates.

The net realized and unrealized gains on weather and energy risk management derivative instruments were lower
in 2003 as compared to 2002 primarily due to losses from natural gas based exposures in 2003 that was partially offset
by a positive mark-to-market adjustment in weather based exposures. In 2003, the energy group established and traded
financial gas positions in the U.S. natural gas markets but at year end December 31, 2003, both the positions and activ-
ity were significantly reduced and future participation is expected to be limited.

Equity in net income of financial affiliates increased in 2003 as compared to 2002 due primarily to increased earn-
ings of $29.6 million from the Company’s investment in Primus Guaranty, Ltd (“Primus”), which specializes in providing
credit risk protection through credit derivatives. Primus had growth in underlying business written and a positive mark
to mark adjustment of approximately $19.0 million due to a significant narrowing of credit spreads in the second and
third quarters of 2003 relative to spreads when the protection was originally sold.

The increase in minority interest in 2003 and 2002 is due to an increase in the profitability of XL Financial Assurance
Ltd., of which 15% is held by a minority shareholder.

The Company’s credit derivative transactions relate primarily to financial guaranty coverage that is written in swap
form and pertains to tranches of collateralized debt obligations and asset backed securities, particularly the higher rated
tranches with 83% covering “A” to “AAA” tranches at December 31, 2003. Prior to January 1, 2003, the Company’s credit
derivative transactions written at primary layers on a partially funded or finite basis were included in the insurance seg-
ment. Effective January 1, 2003 the Company has managed all credit default swap transactions in this segment and prior
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period results have been amended to conform to this change. The Company had net realized and unrealized losses of $25.8
million, $46.1 million and $19.4 million in the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, related to
the fair value adjustment for credit derivatives. These losses are mainly unrealized and related to the deterioration of credit
quality for certain credit pools, widespread ratings downgrades of corporate obligors, and certain specific credit events
reported in the year on a small number of transactions. The year ended December 31, 2002 was also affected by a sig-
nificant widening of credit spreads. The Company continues to monitor its credit exposures and establish reserves as required.

Financial Products and Services – Life and Annuity Operations

The following table summarizes the net income from life and annuity operations of this segment:

% Change % Change

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 03 vs 02 2002 02 vs 01 2001

Gross premiums written $95,062 37.6% $69,094 NM –
Net premiums written 83,883 91.6% 43,779 NM –

Net premiums earned $83,883 96.9% $42,605 NM –
Fee income and other 246 NM – – –
Claims and policy benefits 68,231 64.5% 41,475 NM –
Acquisition costs 17,450 NM – – –
Operating expenses 7,866 NM 404 NM –
Net investment income 28,616 NM – – –
Interest expense 12,168 NM – – –
Net income $ 7,030 NM $ 726 NM –

Gross and net premiums written and earned in 2003 and 2002 related to certain blocks of U.S based term life mor-
tality reinsurance business written that were novated to the Company from an insurance affiliate in December 2002. Claims
and policy benefits from this book of business are in line with the management’s expectations.

Net premiums earned, claims and policy benefit reserves and acquisition costs all related to this novated block of
business. During the quarter ended September 30, 2003, the Company exercised its right and terminated a retrocession
agreement of certain of these exposures, which led to a higher percentage increase in net premiums written than gross
premiums written.

The Company commenced writing municipal reinvestment contracts in 2002 and funding agreements in 2003 whereby
the Company receives cash and deposits and pays interest at a contractual interest rate. The Company has investment
risk related to its ability to generate sufficient investment income to enable the total invested assets to cover the payment
of the ultimate liability. Net investment income and interest expense in 2003 related to these transactions and at December
31, 2003, the Company had written approximately $1.5 billion of municipal reinvestment contracts and $550 million of
funding agreements.

The increase in operating expenses in 2003 related to the growth of this business.



Investment Activities

The following table illustrates the change in net investment income from general operations, equity in net income
of investment affiliates, net realized gains and losses on investments and net realized and unrealized gains and losses on
investment derivatives for each of the three years ended December 31, 2003.

% Change % Change

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 03 vs 02 2002 02 vs 01 2001

Net investment income – general operations $588,428 (4.6)% $ 617,122 5.3% $585,858
Equity in net income of investment affiliates (1) 133,902 107.1% 64,662 (19.8)% 80,580
Net realized gains (losses) on investments 120,195 NM (214,160) NM (93,237)
Net realized and unrealized (losses) gains on 

investment derivative instruments (2) (2,858) NM (22,231) NM 14,638

(1) Equity in net income of investment affiliates in 2003 includes income on the alternative investment portfolio for eleven months ended November
30, 2003 as compared to twelve months in December 2002 and 2001. The Company determined it was necessary to record the investment affil-
iates on a one month lag in order for the Company to meet the accelerated filing deadlines as specified by the Securities and Exchange
Commission. The fair market values of certain of these alternative investments often take longer to obtain as compared to other of the Company’s
investments and therefore are unavailable at the time of the close.

(2) For a summary of realized and unrealized gains and losses on all derivative instruments, see Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Net investment income related to general operations decreased in 2003 as compared to 2002 primarily due to the
market decline in yields and the shorter duration of the investment portofolio, partially offset by growth in the invest-
ment base.

The Company’s total investments available for sale and cash and cash equivalents less net pending payable for invest-
ments purchased was $23.1 billion at December 31, 2003 as compared to $18.1 billion at December 31, 2002. This increase
of $5.0 billion includes (i) cash flow from operations of $3.4 billion and (ii) cash flow of $1.5 billion from spread prod-
uct transactions. The annualized effective yield of the total investment portfolio was 3.46% for 2003 as compared to 4.28%
for 2002, a 0.82% reduction. The reduction in the effective yield of the total investment portfolio was primarily due to
compression in the spreads of corporate securities and other sectors relative to government bonds and the shortening of
the average duration of the total portfolio. For example, during 2003 the U.S. mortgage spread to treasuries declined 0.14%,
the US investment grade corporate index spread to treasuries declined 0.91% and the U.S. high yield index spread to trea-
suries declined 4.53%. The reduction in the spreads offset a gradual rise in treasury yields during the year. As a result,
the yield on the portfolio was lower at the end of 2003 in comparison with the end of 2002.

The increase in net investment income in 2002 as compared to 2001 was due to an increase in the total investment
base that was partially offset by a decline in the investment yield of the total portfolio. The annualized effective yield on
the total investment portfolio was 5.52% in 2001. The reduction in the effective yield of the total investment portfolio
was due to a general decline in interest rates in the U.S. and Europe, with the reduction in rates attributed to markets dis-
counting a slowdown in economic activity. For example, during 2002 the yield on 5-Year U.S. Treasury securities declined
by approximately 1.60%, the yield on the 5-Year Euro-denominated government securities declined by approximately
1.00% and the yield on 5-Year U.K. Government securities declined by approximately 0.90%. The growth in the total
investment base in 2002 included cash related to (i) the issuance of preference shares in the third and fourth quarters of
2002 generating proceeds of $501.2 million, (ii) $250.0 million of net proceeds relating to the issue of $600.0 million
6.5% Guaranteed Senior Notes due January 2012, after debt repayment of $350.0 million; (iii) cash flow from opera-
tions of $3.0 billion; and (iv) investment assets of approximately $653.3 million relating to the consolidation of XL Re
Europe, formerly known as Le Mans Ré, as a subsidiary with effect from January 1, 2002.

It is expected that investment income in 2004 will increase moderately due to projected increases in investments
resulting from expected positive operating cash flow. However, market changes in interest rates could offset or supple-
ment the effects of cashflow. See further discussion in “Financial Condition and Liquidity”.
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Equity in net income of investment affiliates includes earnings from the Company’s investments in closed-end invest-
ment funds and partnerships (the alternative investment portfolio) and investment management companies. Equity in net
income of investment affiliates increased in 2003 as compared to 2002 due mainly to the strong performance of certain
of the Company’s investment funds and investments in management companies, particularly in the second and fourth
quarters of 2003 as compared to lower overall returns on these funds and management companies in 2002. In addition,
as noted above, income on the alternative investment portfolio was for an eleven month period in 2003 as compared to
twelve months in 2002. Equity in net income of investment affiliates in 2002 decreased as compared to 2001 due pri-
marily to lower overall returns in the second and the third quarter of 2002 on certain of the Company’s investment funds
as compared to a strong performance of the funds in 2001.

Investment Performance

Measurement of investment performance is a function of the investment strategy and business purpose for each
of the components of the investment portfolio discussed above. Investment performance is based upon total return of the
portfolio that includes net investment income, net realized gains and losses on investments, net realized and unrealized
gains and losses on investment derivatives and the change in the net unrealized gains and losses on investments.

Within the actively managed portion of the asset/liability portfolio, the objective is to maximize total investment
returns at a risk level that is managed relative to applicable public market fixed income indices. However, the deposit
and regulatory holdings portion of the asset/liability portfolio is subject to investment restrictions that limit the effectiveness
of active discretionary management. As a result, comparisons of the deposit and regulatory holdings portion of the Company’s
asset/liability portfolio with public market indices are not meaningful. Due to the unique nature of the underlying lia-
bilities in the Company’s structured product portfolio (i.e., deposit liabilities and future policy benefit reserves), customized
benchmarks are used to measure performance. Finally, certain of the Company’s business investments are private mar-
ket transactions that cannot be meaningfully compared to certain public indices. Accordingly, only approximately 24%
(2002; 40%) of the Company’s total investment portfolio could be meaningfully compared to public market indices. The
reduction in comparison to the public market indices is due primarily to sterling portfolios that are now managed rela-
tive to custom liability benchmarks.



The table below summarizes investment performance for those portions of the asset/liability and risk asset port-
folios that could be meaningfully compared to public market indices for each of the years ending December 31 presented
below:

2003 2002 2001

Asset/Liability Portfolios
U.S. Investment Grade, Moderate Duration 4.8% 9.0% 9.2%
Lehman Aggregate Bond Index 4.1% 10.3% 8.4%

Relative Performance 0.7% (1.3)% 0.8%

U.S. Investment Grade, Low Duration 4.9% 3.8% 10.1%
Salomon 1-3 Year Treasury Index 1.9% 5.8% 8.3%

Relative Performance 3.0% (2.0)% 1.8%

Euro Aggregate, Unhedged 4.7% 8.1% n/a
Lehman Euro Aggregate Index 4.5% 9.5% n/a

Relative Performance 0.2% (1.4)% n/a

Pan European, Hedged 23.9% 23.1% n/a
Merrill U.K. / Merrill Pan Europe Composite 21.4% 25.2% n/a

Relative Performance 2.5% (2.1)% n/a

U.K. Sterling, Unhedged (Note 2) n/a 8.5% n/a
Merrill U.K. Sterling Broad Index, 1-10 Years n/a 8.8% n/a

Relative Performance n/a (0.3)% n/a

Risk Asset Portfolios – Fixed Income
U.S. Moderate Grade 19.5% 1.0% 7.5%
Investment Grade / High Yield Composite 12.7% 7.9% 9.7%

Relative Performance 6.8% (6.9)% (2.2)%

U.S. High Yield 25.6% (4.3)% 3.4%
CS First Boston High Yield Index 27.9% 3.1% 5.8%

Relative Performance (2.3)% (7.4)% (2.4)%

Risk Asset Portfolios – Equities
U.S. Large Cap Growth Equity 32.0% (30.1)% (29.6)%
Russell 1000 Growth Index 29.5% (28.0)% (20.5)%

Relative Performance 2.5% (2.1)% (9.1)%

U.S. Large Cap Value Equity 31.5% (12.5)% 3.8%
Russell 1000 Value Index 29.5% (15.8)% (5.9)%

Relative Performance 2.0% 3.3% 9.7%

U.S. Small Cap Equity 51.3% (15.9)% 5.2%
Russell 2000 Index 47.0% (20.6)% 2.3%

Relative Performance 4.3% 4.7% 2.9%
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2003 2002 2001

Non-U.S. Equity 37.8% (16.1)% (18.5)%
MSCI EAFE Index 38.6% (15.9)% (21.4)%

Relative Performance (0.8)% (0.2)% 2.9%

Risk Asset Portfolios – Alternative Investments (Note 3)
Alternative Investments 8.6% 6.7% 14.3%
Standard and Poor’s 500 Index 22.3% (22.1)% (11.9)%

Relative Performance (13.7)% 28.8% 26.2%

(1) “n/a” indicates that portfolios comparable to this benchmark have been in existence for less than the period indicated. Returns are time-weighted
and have been annualized for periods in excess of one year. U.S. equity indices are shown net of withholding taxes.

(2) In 2003, all sterling portfolios are now managed relative to custom liability benchmarks. Comparisons to market indices are no longer relevant.
(3) In 2003, the return on the alternative investment portfolio was for eleven months ended November 30, 2003 as compared to twelve months in

December 2002 and 2001. The fair market values of certain of these alternative investments often take longer to obtain as compared to other of
the Company’s investments and therefore are unavailable at the time of the close. For comparative purposes, the Standard and Poor’s 500 index
returns are on the same basis.

Net realized gains and losses on investments and other than temporary declines in the value of investments

The Company’s investment portfolio is classified as available for sale. Realized investment gains and losses occur
through the normal turnover of the Company’s investment portfolio. Realized investment losses include impairment charges
relating to declines in value of securities that are considered to be other than temporary. See “– Critical Accounting Policies”
for further information.

In 2003, net realized gains on investments were $120.2 million which included $344.8 million of gross realized
losses on fixed income and $162.5 million of gross realized losses on equity securities. Gross realized losses in 2003 included
$130.7 million of provisions for declines in fair value considered to be other than temporary. The general economy in
the United States and the investment markets improved in 2003 relative to 2002. For example, Moody’s Investor Service
(“Moody’s”) reported that 77 issuers defaulted in 2003 as compared with 141 issuers in 2002. The Company experienced
a reduction in the amount of write downs for securities with declines in value deemed to be other than temporary that
was consistent with these figures. The write downs for 2003 occurred mainly in the first half of the year which was con-
sistent with Moody’s monthly default statistics. As a percentage of the total fixed income portfolio, the write down for
other than temporary declines was 0.6% in 2003 as compared with 1.6% in 2002 and 1% in 2001.

During the year ended 2002, the Company had net realized losses on investments of $214.2 million. This included
gross realized losses on fixed income and equity securities of $526.3 million and $160.1 million, respectively. Gross and
net realized losses in 2002 included $251.5 million of provisions for declines in fair value considered to be other than
temporary. Of the total provisions, $144.3 million related to fixed income securities, $77.8 million to equity securities
and $29.4 million to other investments. Approximately 44% of the declines in fair value in 2002 of fixed income and
equity securities considered to be other than temporary related to the communications sector, including Worldcom Inc.
and Adelphia Communication Corp. in the second quarter of 2002. In addition, approximately $41.0 million of gross real-
ized losses related to sales of Worldcom Inc. and Adelphia Communication Corp.

During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company had net realized losses on investments of $93.2 million.
This included gross realized losses on fixed income and equity securities of $373.6 million and $140.9 million, respec-
tively. Gross and net realized losses on investments included $115.5 million of provisions for declines in fair value con-
sidered to be other than temporary, $66.4 million of which related to fixed income and equity securities and $49.1 million
of which related to the Company’s other investments.



The significant circumstances that contributed to the realized losses in 2002 and 2001 included the high level of
distress and default in the telecommunications sector, the Enron Corp. bankruptcy and a general rise in corporate
defaults across other sectors in response to the general economic decline in the United States and elsewhere.

For the securities that were sold at a loss during the year ended December 31, 2002, the fair market value of the
fixed income securities and equity securities at the sales dates was approximately $8.5 billion and $306.0 million, respec-
tively. For the securities that were sold at a loss during the year ended December 31, 2001, the fair market value of the
fixed income securities and equity securities at the sales dates was approximately $8.8 billion and $350.0 million, respec-
tively.

With respect to those securities that were sold at a loss during the year ended December 31, 2003 the following is
an analysis of the period of time that those securities had been in a continual unrealized loss position, the amount of the
realized loss recorded in the Company’s results of operations as of the sale date and the amount of the impairment charge
taken in the year:

Length of time in a continual unrealized loss position
(U.S. dollars in thousands) Fixed Income Securities Equity Securities

Less than 6 months $242,220 $ 94,151
At least 6 months but less than 12 months 13,347 9,502
At least 12 months but less than 2 years 20,614 4,444
At least 2 years but less than 3 years 245 253_________ _________

Total gross realized loss from sales 276,426 108,350
Impairment charges for declines in value considered to be 

other than temporary 68,405 54,206
Total gross realized loss $344,831 $162,556

With respect to those securities that were sold at a loss during the year ended December 31, 2002 the following is
an analysis of the period of time that those securities had been in an unrealized loss position, the amount of the realized
loss recorded in the Company’s results of operations as of the sale date and the amount of the impairment charge taken
in the year:

Length of time in a continual unrealized loss position
(U.S. dollars in thousands) Fixed Income Securities Equity Securities

Less than 6 months $284,259 $ 60,925
At least 6 months but less than 12 months 59,350 14,128
At least 12 months but less than 2 years 19,429 6,830
At least 2 years but less than 3 years 18,983 411_________ _________

Total gross realized loss from sales 382,021 82,294
Impairment charges for declines in value considered to be 

other than temporary 144,255 77,832
Total gross realized loss $526,276 $160,126

The Company’s process for identifying declines in the fair value of investments that are other than temporary involves
consideration of several factors as discussed under “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates”.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company realized losses of $20.9 million and $4.7 million upon
the sale of fixed income securities and equity securities, respectively, that had been in an unrealized loss position for greater
than twelve months. During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company realized a loss of $38.4 million and $7.2
million upon the sale of fixed income securities and equity securities, respectively, that had been in an unrealized loss
position for greater than twelve months. The decisions to sell these securities were made by the Company’s investment
managers based upon a change in market conditions and other factors (which decisions were independent of the
Company’s previously stated intent and ability to hold such securities).
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The significant circumstances that contributed to the realized losses on the Company’s fixed income and equity
securities during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 also affected the Company’s other investments. Of the
total impairment charges taken in 2003 and 2002 of $130.7 million and $251.5 million, respectively, $8.1 million and
$29.4 million related to the Company’s other investments. The Company’s other investments include investments in pri-
vate equity limited partnerships which also experienced significant market-wide declines. In 2003 and 2002, the
Company wrote down the carrying value of its investment in Mutual Risk Management Ltd by $3.2 million and $20.0
million, respectively. In 2001, declines in value of the Company’s other investments were greatest in the technology sec-
tor and write-downs in the portfolio were mainly a result of re-evaluations of technology and financial services invest-
ments, reflecting the reduced business prospects of these companies.

Net realized and unrealized gains on investment derivatives result from the Company’s investment strategy to eco-
nomically hedge against interest and foreign exchange risk within the investment portfolio. See “Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk,” and “– Financial Condition and Liquidity” for a more detailed analysis.

Unrealized losses on investments

At December 31, 2003, there were $120.0 million of gross unrealized losses on fixed income and short-term invest-
ments, and $6.2 million of gross unrealized losses on equity securities. At December 31, 2002, there were $141.9 mil-
lion of gross unrealized losses on fixed income and short-term investments and $86.9 million of gross unrealized losses
on equity securities. At December 31, 2001, there were $283.9 million of gross unrealized losses on fixed income and
short-term investments and $70.0 million of gross unrealized losses on equity securities. These losses include securities
below investment grade as discussed below.

The information shown below about the unrealized losses on the Company’s investments at December 31, 2003
concerns the potential affect upon future earnings and financial position should management later conclude that some
of the current declines in the fair value of these investments are other than temporary declines. Throughout 2003, sig-
nificant corporate spread tightening contributed to an increase in the value of corporate security holdings resulting in a
reduction of unrealized loss positions.



The following is an analysis of how long each of those securities at December 31, 2003 and 2002 had been in a
continual unrealized loss position:

Amount of Amount of
Type of Securities Length of time in a continual unrealized loss at unrealized loss at
(U.S. dollars in thousands) unrealized loss position December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002

Fixed Income and Short-Term Less than six months $ 32,514 $ 48,188

At least 6 months but less than 12 months 82,647 47,502

At least 12 months but less than 2 years 4,355 44,879

At least 2 years but less than 3 years 517 610

At least 3 years but less than 4 years 24 656

At least 4 years but less than 5 years – 109

Total $120,057 $141,944

Equities Less than six months $ 4,830 $ 20,972

At least 6 months but less than 12 months 911 62,859

At least 12 months but less than 2 years 440 2,672

At least 2 years but less than 3 years 49 367

Total $ 6,230 $ 86,870

The total gross unrealized losses represented approximately 3,436 fixed income securities out of a total of approx-
imately 14,300 fixed income securities and 258 equity securities out of a total of approximately 1,850 equity securities
at December 31, 2003. The total gross unrealized losses represented approximately 1,250 fixed income securities out of
a total of approximately 10,100 fixed income securities and 1,120 equity securities out of a total of approximately 2,000
equity securities at December 31, 2002.

The Company operates a risk asset portfolio that includes high yield (below investment grade) fixed income secu-
rities. These securities have a higher volatility to changes in fair values than investment grade securities. At December
31, 2003, approximately 5.4% of the Company’s fixed income investment portfolio was invested in securities which were
below investment grade. Approximately 7.7% of the unrealized losses in the Company’s fixed income securities port-
folio at December 31, 2003 related to securities that were below investment grade and 1.1% of securities in an unreal-
ized loss position were not rated.

At December 31, 2002, approximately 5.3% of the Company’s fixed income investment portfolio was invested in
securities which were below investment grade. Approximately 38% of the unrealized losses in the Company’s fixed income
securities portfolio at December 31, 2002 related to securities that were below investment grade and there were no unrated
securities in an unrealized loss position.

The following is an analysis of how long each of these below investment grade and unrated securities had been in
a continual unrealized loss position at the date indicated.

Amount of Amount of 

Length of time in a continual unrealized loss position unrealized loss at unrealized loss at

(U.S. dollars in thousands) December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002

Less than six months $ 756 $12,689
At least 6 months but less than 12 months 5,722 31,498
At least 12 months but less than 2 years 1,447 25,977
At least 2 years but less than 3 years 517 924
Total $ 8,442 $71,088

Of the gross unrealized investment losses on the fixed income and short term investments portfolio at December
31, 2003 of $120.0 million, approximately $61.2 million related to corporate fixed income securities. Within the corpo-
rate fixed income securities, approximately 36.9% of the losses were in the financial sector, 16.6% in asset backed secu-
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rities, 10.1% in the communications sector, 8.1% in the utilities sector, 7.2% in the consumer non-cyclical sector, 5.7%
in the basic materials sector, and 5.0% in the consumer cyclical sector. No other sector was greater than 5%. Approximately
29 equity securities held by the Company with total unrealized losses of approximately $0.5 million at December 31,
2003 were in a continual unrealized loss position for at least 12 months. The largest unrealized loss in the fixed income
portfolio was $8.7 million. All other individual fixed income security unrealized losses were less than $5.0 million. The
largest individual unrealized loss in the equity portfolio was $0.2 million.

Of the gross unrealized investment losses on the fixed income and short term investments portfolio at December
31, 2002 of $141.9 million, approximately $120.1 million related to corporate fixed income securities. Within the cor-
porate fixed income securities, approximately 26% was in the communications sector, 21% in the energy sector, 20%
in the utilities sector, 8% in the financial sector and 7% in the consumer cyclical sector. No other sector was greater than
5%. Approximately 80 equity securities held by the Company with total unrealized losses of approximately $3.0 mil-
lion at December 31, 2002 were in a continual unrealized loss position for at least 12 months. The largest unrealized loss
in the fixed income portfolio was $8.0 million. All other individual fixed income security unrealized losses were less than
$5.0 million. The largest individual unrealized loss in the equity portfolio was $1.4 million.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the following was the maturity profile of the fixed income securities (excluding
short term) that were in a gross unrealized loss position:

Maturity profile in years of fixed income Amount of Amount of

securities in a continual unrealized loss position unrealized loss at unrealized loss at 

(U.S. dollars in thousands) December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002

At least 1 year but less than 5 years remaining $ 21,720 $22,344
At least 5 years but less than 10 years remaining 36,866 56,280
More than 10 years but less than 20 years remaining 24,862 14,969
At least 20 years or more remaining 22,713 34,419
Mortgage backed securities 12,602 10,855
Total $118,763 $138,867

Other Revenues and Expenses

The following table sets forth other revenues and expenses of the Company for each of the three years ended December
31, 2003:

% Change % Change

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 03 vs 02 2002 02 vs 01 2001

Equity in net loss of insurance affiliates  . . . . . . . . . (42,887) 102.9% (21,142) 76.7% (11,963)
Amortization of intangible assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,637 (25.1)% 6,187 (89.4)% 58,569
Corporate operating expenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 145,085 21.4% 119,515 26.9% 94,207
Interest expense  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 187,239 11.4% 168,086 48.4% 113,272
Minority interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,160) NM 2,947 NM (1,220)
Income tax expense (benefit) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30,049 32.7% 22,647 NM (189,914)

Equity in net loss of insurance affiliates in 2003 included an other than temporary decline of $40.9 million in the
value of the Company’s investment in Annuity & Life Re (Holdings), Ltd. (“ANR”). The investment was written down
to its fair value of $2.2 million at March 31, 2003.

Equity in net loss of insurance affiliates in 2002 also included a loss of approximately $22.7 million relating to
ANR. This loss included a write down of the goodwill component of the Company’s investment of $13.3 million in the
fourth quarter of 2002 due to a significant decline in the book value of ANR.



In 2001, the equity in net loss of insurance affiliates included a loss of $10.9 million related to the Company’s share
of the loss in XL Re Europe, formerly known as Le Mans Ré, mainly related to the September 11 event in 2001, and
$1.6 million in ANR.

Amortization of intangible assets decreased in 2003 as compared to 2002 due primarily to a reduction in the expense
related to intangible assets related to the acquisition of XL Re Europe. Amortization of intangible assets decreased in
2002 as compared to 2001 due to the adoption of FAS 142, when the Company was no longer required to amortize good-
will.

Corporate operating expenses increased 21.4% in 2003 compared to 2002 due primarily to the continued build-
out of the Company’s global infrastructure in developing a network of shared service organizations to support operations
in certain locations, new costs related to the Company’s global branding campaign and $5.6 million of stock option expenses
associated with the adoption of FAS 123 as amended by FAS 148. See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for more information.

Corporate operating expenses also increased in 2002 compared to 2001 due primarily to the continued integration
of the Company’s global operations and increased costs for directors and officers insurance in line with the market in
general. Corporate operating expenses in 2001 included $14.0 million related to Winterthur International integration costs.

Interest expense includes costs related to the Company’s debt and collateral facilities as well as deposit liability
accretion. In 2003, interest expense for debt and collateral facilities was $94.3 million as compared to $102.2 million in
2002. This decrease was due to the inclusion of amortization of debt issuance expenses in 2002 related to the issue of
the Zero Coupon Convertible Debentures (“CARZ”) and the Liquid Yield Option Notes (“LYONS”). See “Financial
Condition and Liquidity” for more information. In 2003, interest expense related to the accretion of deposit liabilities
was $92.9 million as compared to $65.9 million due to new deposit liability contracts written in 2003.

The increase in interest expense in 2002 as compared to 2001 was due primarily to an increase in the level of indebt-
edness. Notes payable and debt were $1.9 billion and $1.6 billion at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Minority interest relates to a 9% ownership in one of the Company’s insurance subsidiaries.

The change in the Company’s income taxes in each of the three years ended December 31, 2003 principally reflects
the effects of changes in losses arising from the September 11 event and the decline in the profitability of the U.S. oper-
ations for each year. The deferral of tax losses is evaluated based upon the future profitability of the Company’s taxable
entities and under current projections, the Company anticipates using this asset by 2007. The Company’s net deferred
tax asset at December 31, 2003 is $310.1 million, which consists principally of net operating losses generated by sub-
sidiaries in the U.S. and U.K. Should the taxable income of these entities fall below expectations, a further valuation allowance
may have to be established which could be significant. In addition, if any further losses are generated by these entities,
these losses may not be tax effected. See “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” and Note 24 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Financial Condition and Liquidity

As a holding company, the Company’s assets consist primarily of its investments in subsidiaries and the Company’s
future cash flows depend on the availability of dividends or other statutorily permissible payments from its subsidiaries.
The ability to pay such dividends is limited by the applicable laws and regulations of the various countries the Company
operates in, including, among others, Bermuda, the United States, Ireland, Switzerland and the United Kingdom, and
those of the Society of Lloyd’s and certain contractual provisions. See Note 25 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for further discussion. No assurance can be given that the Company or its subsidiaries will be permitted to pay dividends
in the future.

The Company’s ability to underwrite business is largely dependent upon the quality of its claims paying and finan-
cial strength ratings as evaluated by independent rating agencies. See “Ratings” for further information.
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Financial Condition

The following are some of the most significant items in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet at December
31, 2003 and changes from December 31, 2002:

a. Shareholders’Equity. The Company’s shareholders’equity at December 31, 2003 was $6.9 billion, of which $2.5
billion was retained earnings. Included in accumulated other comprehensive income was $138.3 million of
cumulative currency translation adjustments which were primarily related to unrealized losses on foreign currency
exchange rate movements relating to the Company’s global operations that have a functional currency that is not
the U.S. dollar.

b. Total Investments Available For Sale. Total investments available for sale have increased from $16.1 billion at
December 31, 2002 to $20.8 billion at December 31, 2003. This increase is due primarily to cash flows from oper-
ations (see discussion below) of $3.4 billion and new deposit liability transactions of approximately $1.5 billion.

c. Unpaid Losses and Loss Expenses. Unpaid losses and loss expenses includes reserves on the Company’s general
and financial operations and relates primarily to the casualty insurance and reinsurance business written by the Company.
This was $16.6 billion at December 31, 2003 which is an increase of $3.4 billion from December 31, 2002. The
increase was due primarily to new business written and earned in the year, together with an increase in reserves for
net adverse development in 2003 of $0.9 billion of prior period loss reserves.

No assurance can be given that actual claims made and payments related thereto will not be in excess of the amounts
reserved. See “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” and Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for further discussion.

d. Unpaid Losses and Loss Expenses Recoverable and Reinsurance Balances Receivable. Unpaid losses and loss
expense recoverables were $5.8 billion and $5.0 billion at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. At December
31, 2003 and 2002, reinsurance balances receivable were $1.4 billion and $1.2 billion respectively. Unpaid losses
and loss expense recoverable relates to estimated reinsurance recoveries based on the unpaid loss and loss expense
reserves.

The Company has credit risk should any of its reinsurers be unable to settle amounts due. Of the total unpaid losses
and loss expenses recoverable and reinsurance balances receivable at December 31, 2003 of $7.2 billion, no indi-
vidual reinsurer accounted for 10% or more of the total. The Company is the beneficiary of letters of credit, trust
accounts and funds withheld in the aggregate amount of $1.7 billion at December 31, 2003, collateralizing rein-
surance recoverables with respect to certain reinsurers.

Included in unpaid loss and loss expenses recoverable at December 31, 2003 is an unsecured, net reinsurance recov-
erable from the Seller of $740.9 million, related to the acquisition of Winterthur International. This amount is sub-
ject to ongoing adjustment, and the Seller, is currently rated “A” by S&P. The SPA provides the Company with
post-closing protection with respect to adverse development of loss and unearned premium reserves relating to the
acquired Winterthur International business. This protection is based upon actual net loss experience and develop-
ment over a three year post-closing seasoning period based on loss development experience, collectible reinsurance,
reinsurance recoveries and certain other factors set forth in the SPA. The SPA provides for independent actuarial
determination should the Seller and the Company disagree on the final amounts due thereunder. The Company may
recognize an impairment if the amount determined to be due to the Company was less than the carrying value of
the SPA recovery balance deemed due from the Seller or to the extent that any amount proves to be uncollectible
from the Seller for any reason.

Excluding the recoverable from the Seller described above, approximately 72% of the total unpaid loss and loss
expense recoverable and reinsurance balances receivable (excluding collateral held) outstanding at December
31, 2003 were due from reinsurers rated “A” or better by S&P. The following is an analysis of the total recov-
erable and reinsurance balances receivable at December 31, 2003 by reinsurers owing more than 3% of such
total:



Standard and

Name of reinsurer Poor’s rating % of total

Lloyd’s Syndicates A 6.6
Munich Re A+ 5.7
Swiss Re AA 5.6
GE Frankona Ruckversicherungs A+ 3.7
London Life and General Reinsurance Company Ltd. * 3.2

* London Life and General Reinsurance Company is rated A by A.M. Best.

In addition, at December 31, 2003, approximately $2.2 billion of the total recoverable balance of $7.2
billion related to reinsurance recoverables for the Winterthur International operations. The recoverability of
these balances is also guaranteed under the SPA as described above.

As at December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company had a reserve for potential non-recoveries from rein-
surers of $108.0 million and $47.3 million, respectively.

Liquidity

Certain business written by the Company has loss experience generally characterized as having low frequency and
high severity. This may result in volatility in both the Company’s results and operational cash flows.

See – “Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows”. There are three main sources of cash flows for the Company –
those provided by operations, investing activities and financing activities.

Cash Flow provided by Operations

Cash flow from operations is derived from two main sources :

1) The receipt of investment income on the Company’s total investment portfolio, and

2) The net receipt of premiums less claims and expenses related to its underwriting activities in general, life and finan-
cial operations.

Cash flow from operations was $3.4 billion in 2003 as compared to $3.0 billion in 2002. This increase in 2003 is
due to an increase in the receipt of investment income in line with the growth of the investment portfolio together with
an increase in net cash received from underwriting activities.

Net cash received from underwriting activities is comprised of receipt of premiums, minus payment of claims and
operating and acquisition costs. Premiums and acquisition expenses are settled based on terms of trade as stipulated by
an underwriting contract, but generally are received within the first year of inception of a policy when the premium is
written, but can be up to three years on certain reinsurance business assumed. Operating expenses are generally paid within
a year of being incurred. Claims on the other hand, especially for casualty business, can take a much longer time before
they are reported and ultimately settled and this is why the Company establishes reserves for unpaid losses and loss expenses.
Therefore, the amount of claims paid in any one year is not necessarily related to the amount of net losses incurred as
reported in the consolidated statement of income.

During 2003, 2002 and 2001, the total amounts of net losses paid for the general operations were $2.8 billion, $2.8
billion and $1.8 billion, respectively, whereas the amount of net losses incurred was $4.6 billion, $3.3 billion and $2.9
billion, respectively. The larger difference between net incurred and paid losses in 2003 is due primarily to the prior period
adverse development on the Company’s North American casualty reinsurance book as described above, where the Company
increased reserves by $877 million. The payout of the Company’s casualty reserves at December 31, 2003 could be as
long as thirty years period. Property claims are generally reported and settled within a much shorter period, usually up
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to three years. Cumulative net losses paid by the Company for the September 11 event at December 31, 2003 were $380
million, or approximately half of the total net incurred losses of $763.0 million.

Cash Flow used in Investing Activities

Generally, positive cash flow from operations and financing activities, is invested in the Company’s portfolio, includ-
ing affiliates or acquisition of subsidiaries. In 2003, in addition to purchases and sales of the Company’s total investment
portfolio, the Company had the following significant investment cash flows:

1) In September 2003, the Company exercised its option and settled the related Euro liability to purchase the remain-
ing 33% ownership of Le Mans Ré, now known as XL Re Europe, for approximately $161 million. See Note 6(a)
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

2) In December 2003, the Company received $75.4 million relating to the settlement of the purchase price for
Wintherthur International. See Note 6(b) to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

3) In July 2003, the Company acquired new offices in London for its London headquarters. The acquisition was by a
purchase, sale and leaseback transaction resulting in net cash received of $45.3 million, which was recorded as a
deferred liability at December 31, 2003. The Company also recorded a capitalized lease asset and liability of approx-
imately $150.0 million related to this transaction and there have been no significant capital expenditures for lease-
hold improvements during 2003.

In 2002, in addition to purchases and sales of the Company’s total investment portfolio, the Company had the fol-
lowing significant investment cash flows:

1) The Company completed the acquisition of a 67% majority shareholding in Le Mans Ré, increasing its shareholding
from 49% at December 31, 2001. Cash paid, net of cash acquired, was $45.5 million.

2) The Company invested a further $717.5 million in alternative investment managers, related investment funds and
insurance affiliates. The majority of this amount included four separate investments in funds managed by FrontPoint
Partners LLC, an investment in SPhinX Ltd., a fund designed to track an S&P Hedge Fund Index, and an invest-
ment in Primus Guaranty, Ltd, which specializes in providing credit risk protection through credit derivatives.

Cash Flow Provided by Financing Activities

Cash flows related to financing activities include the payment of dividends, share related transactions, the issue
or repayment of debt and deposit liability transactions. In 2003 and 2002, the Company received $1.5 billion and $1.2
billion of net cash relating to new deposit liability contracts. In 2003, dividends were $263 million for ordinary shares
and $40 million for preferred shares.

In connection with the acquisition of Winterthur International, a limited recourse receivables financing facility pre-
viously available to these operations from the Seller was made available to the Company. The balance outstanding at
December 31, 2003 and 2002 was approximately $ 223.0 million and $338.6 million, respectively and is included in other
liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Capital Resources

In addition to ordinary share capital, the Company depends on external sources of finance to support its underwriting
activities in the form of:

a. debt,

b. preference shares, and

c. bank credit



In particular, the Company requires, among other things, –

• Sufficient capital to maintain its financial strength, claims paying and debt ratings, as issued by several ratings agen-
cies, at a level considered necessary by management to enable the Company’s key operating subsidiaries to com-
pete.

• Sufficient capital to enable its underwriting subsidiaries to meet the capital adequacy tests performed by statutory
agencies in the U.S., the U.K., and other key markets.

• Letters of credit and other forms of collateral that are required by the Company’s non-U.S. operating companies
that are “non-admitted” under U.S. state insurance regulations. The Company also uses letters of credit to support
its operations at Lloyd’s.

• Revolving credit to meet short-term liquidity needs.

The Company is currently reviewing its capital needs for 2004 and expects to raise approximately $750 million
of additional capital in the first half of 2004 in the form of mandatory convertible securities.

The following are possible outcomes if the Company is unable to secure the additional $750 million of capital later
in 2004 –

• Possible downgrades in the financial strength, claims paying and debt ratings assigned by rating agencies to the
Company’s operating subsidiaries. This could place those operating companies at a competitive disadvantage
compared to higher-rated competitors.

• Reduction in the quantity of business that the Company’s principal operating subsidiaries are able to write in order
to meet capital adequacy-based tests.

• The possible ratings downgrades that could result from not issuing the anticipated additional capital could increase
the cost of bank credit and letters of credit.

Certain of the Company’s credit facilities will expire in 2004. The following risks are associated with the
Company’s requirement to renew these facilities during 2004 –

• The credit available from banks may be reduced resulting in the Company’s need to pledge its investment portfo-
lio to customers. This could result in a lower investment yield.

• The volume of business that the Company’s non-admitted subsidiaries are able to transact could be reduced if the
Company is unable to renew its letter of credit facilities at an appropriate size.

Recent consolidation within the banking industry may result in the aggregate amount of credit provided by to
the Company being reduced. The Company attempts to mitigate this risk by identifying additional banks that could par-
ticipate in the credit facilities on renewal.

The Company has the option to “call” the “CARZ” and “LYONs” zero-coupon convertibles (described below)
from May 23 and September 27, 2004, respectively, onwards and the bondholders have the option to “put” the securi-
ties on the same date.

• These calls are exercisable by the Company and would require the payment of approximately $649 million for
the CARZ and $317 million for the LYONs to bondholders. This would result in the subsequent retirement of the
related debt securities. At present the Company is evaluating its alternatives with respect to these calls.

• The puts are exercisable by the investors and would also require the payment of $649 million for the CARZ and
$317 million for the LYONs or the equivalent in the Company’s ordinary shares at the Company’s option, to the
bondholders. The Company has the ability to prospectively enhance the terms of the convertibles if market condi-
tions near to the put date indicate that this would increase the likelihood that the securities remain outstanding.
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a) Debt

At December 31, 2003, banks and investors provided the Company and its subsidiaries with $2.6 billion of debt
capacity, of which $1.9 billion was utilized by the Company as of December 31, 2003. This included:

• Revolving credit facility (“revolver”) of $675 million. This revolver (and its predecessor facility) was not utilized
during 2003. During 2002, borrowings under such revolvers were $847 million and repayments were $600 million.
Borrowings in 2002 were used to pay down two 5-year revolvers (that were subsequently cancelled) and for gen-
eral corporate purposes. The revolver is a component of a $2.5 billion facility ($2 billion at December 31, 2002)
provided on an unsecured basis by a syndicate of banks. It can be utilized to provide cash at any time until the facil-
ity expires at the end of June 2004. The Company anticipates that the facility will be renewed for a further year,
however, the size of the facility and the price terms will depend on market conditions in the period leading up to
the renewal.

• Senior Unsecured Notes of approximately $1 billion. These notes require the Company to pay a fixed rate of inter-
est during their ten-year lives. There are three outstanding issues of senior unsecured notes –

• $100 million senior notes due 2005 with a fixed coupon of 7.15%. It is a publicly traded security.

• $255 million senior notes due 2011 with a fixed coupon of 6.58%. This transaction was privately placed – it
is not traded on a public exchange.

• $600 million senior notes due 2012 with a fixed coupon of 6.5%. The security is publicly traded. The notes
were issued at $99.469 and gross proceeds were $596.8 million. Related expenses of the offering amounted
to $7.9 million.

• Convertible securities of approximately $1 billion. There are two such convertibles that the Company issued in
2001. Both are zero-cash-coupon transactions that, under normal circumstances, will not require cash payments prior
to the maturity of the securities in 2021. Described below are features that may result in the securities being redeemed
for cash or the Company’s ordinary shares prior to 2021. Rather than paying cash interest, the convertibles were
issued at a discount to their redemption values – known as the principal amount at maturity.

• In May 2001, the Company issued $1.01 billion principal amount at maturity (subject to adjustment in the event
there is an upward interest adjustment) of “CARZ” convertibles at $593.57 per bond and, unless converted or
repaid before their due date of May 2021, they will be repaid in May 2021 at $1,000 per bond at a total cost
of $1.01 billion. The accretion rate is 2.625% per annum on a semi-annual basis or 2.6422% per annum on an
annual basis.

• In September 2001, the Company issued $508.8 million principal amount at maturity (subsequently increased
to $514.6 million under the provisions of the upward accretion rate adjustment described below) of “LYONs”
convertibles at an initial price of $565.01 per bond. The LYONs will be repaid at $1,011.36 each (originally
$1,000.00 each but subsequently increased as a result of the accretion rate adjustment described below), unless
converted or repaid before their due date of September 2021, at a total cost of $514.6 million. The accretion
rate on the LYONs was originally 2.875% per annum on a semi-annual basis or 2.896% per annum on an annual
basis. The accretion rate for the year to September 7, 2004, was increased by 0.645% per annum on a semi-
annual basis to 3.52% on a semi-annual basis and 3.551% per annum on an annual basis as a result of a decrease
of the Company’s ordinary share price in the 30-day period leading up to the second “put” date in September
2003. The accretion rates will revert to their original rates in September 2004.

• Although both the CARZ and LYONs are due to be repaid in 2021, there are several features that may result in the
bonds being repaid or converted into the Company’s Class A Ordinary Shares before the redemption date. As these
features include market-driven features and options available to the Company and bondholders, it is not possible
to determine if the bonds will remain outstanding until their scheduled maturity in 2021.



• Both the CARZ and LYONs provide the bondholders with the right to require the Company to repurchase the
bonds on predetermined dates (“put” dates) at predetermined values (subsequently increased in the case of the
LYONs as a result of the upward accretion rate adjustment described above). The remaining put dates for the
CARZ occur on May 23 of 2004, 2006, 2008, 2011 and 2016. The remaining put dates for the LYONs occur
on September 7 of 2004, 2006, 2008, 2011 and 2016. The Company may, at its option, pay the repurchase price
in cash or Class A ordinary shares or a combination thereof.

• Both the CARZ and LYONs provide for a contingent conversion feature that gives the bondholders the right
to convert the bonds into the Company’s ordinary shares at other times during the life of the bonds if the mar-
ket price of the Company’s shares is at certain levels. If the Company’s ordinary share price is at least 110%
of the accreted conversion price for at least twenty of the thirty days during the relevant conversion period, the
bondholders would have the right to convert the bonds into ordinary shares. If converted for ordinary shares,
each CARZ would be converted into 5.9467 ordinary shares and each holder of a LYONs would receive 5.277
ordinary shares. The accreted values would be determined by applying the accretion rate to the initial issue price.
In the example of CARZ, the accreted price on May 23, 2004 will be $641.88 determined by adding two years’
accretion of 2.6422% per annum on an annual basis to the original issue price of $593.57.

• The holders of each of the CARZ and LYONs also have the right to convert the bonds for ordinary shares in
the event that the trading price of the bonds for a predetermined period falls below 95% of the value of the equiv-
alent number of shares, provided however, if the ordinary shares are trading at a predetermined premium to
the accreted price of the bonds, holders may receive cash, ordinary shares or a combination thereof in lieu of
ordinary shares upon conversion.

• The bonds are also “callable” as the Company has the right to redeem the bonds for cash, in full or in part, at
their accreted value at any time after May 23, 2004, in the case of the CARZ, and September 7, 2004, in the
case of the LYONs.

• These bonds also provide for interest rates to be adjusted in the event that the Company’s ordinary share price falls
below certain levels specified in the relevant indenture relative to the conversion price.

• In the event that the credit ratings assigned to the bonds by S&P’s fall below BBB+, the bonds would be convert-
ible into ordinary shares at 5.9467 ordinary shares per CARZ and 5.277 ordinary shares per LYON. The rating assigned
to the bonds at the time of issue was “A+”. The ratings were lowered to “A” by S&P in January 2004. Some cor-
porate transactions, such as a change of control of the Company, would give the bondholders the right to require
the Company to repurchase the bonds at the accreted value of the bonds at that time.

• The bonds become immediately due if an event of default occurs and 25% or more of the bondholders demand repay-
ment of the accreted value at the time of such event. Such an event of default would include failure to pay amounts
due on the notes, an event of default occurring under the Company’s other credit facilities, or certain other events
such as bankruptcy or insolvency of the Company. Further descriptions of the events of default are contained in the
indentures and consequences to the Company are described under “Cross Default and Other Provisions in Debt
Documents”.

• The puts and the interest rate adjustment features embedded in the CARZ and LYONs are considered derivatives
and are subject to fair value. There is currently minimal value ascribed to the puts, as the contingent events of these
features are considered unlikely to occur or to the interest rate adjustment feature due to the current trading value
of the bonds. Due to the contingent nature of the conversion features of these debt securities, there is no impact on
fully diluted earnings (loss) per ordinary share at this time.
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The following tables present the Company’s debt under outstanding securities and lenders’ commitments as at
December 31, 2003:

Payments Due by Period

Notes Payable and Debt Year of Less than 1 to 3 4 to 5 After 5

(U.S. dollars in thousands) Commitment In Use Expiry 1 Year Years Years Years

364-day revolver $ 675,000 $ – 2004 $ – $ – $ – $ –

7.15% Senior Notes 99,986 99,986 2005 – 100,000 – –

6.58% Guaranteed

Senior Notes 255,000 255,000 2011 – – – 255,000

6.50% Guaranteed

Senior Notes 597,441 597,441 2012 – – – 600,000

Zero Coupon Convertible

Debentures “CARZ” 642,340 642,340 2021 – – – 1,010,833

Liquid Yield Option 

Notes “LYONs” 310,716 310,716 2021 – – – 514,622

Total $2,580,483 $1,905,483 $ – $100,000 $ – $2,380,455

“Commitment” and “In Use” data represent December 31, 2003 accreted values. “After 5 years” data represent ultimate redemption values.

b) Preferred shares

In 2002, the Company issued perpetual preferred shares as follows –

• Series A Preferred In August 2002, the Company issued 9.2 million of 8% Series A preference ordinary shares
(“Series A preference shares”). Gross proceeds were $230.0 million and related expenses were $7.2 million. Upon
dissolution of the Company, the holders of the Series A preference shares are entitled to receive a liquidation pref-
erence of $25 per share, plus accrued dividends. Dividends on the preference Shares are cumulative from the date
of original issuance and are payable when declared. The Company may redeem the Series A preference shares on
or after August 14, 2007, at a redemption price of $25 per share. The Company may, under certain circumstances,
redeem the Series A preference shares before August 14, 2007 at specified redemption prices, plus accrued divi-
dends. These circumstances include an amalgamation, consolidation or other similar transaction involving the Company
in which the Series A preferred shares are entitled to a class vote ($26 per share redemption price), or a change in
tax laws that requires the Company to pay additional amounts with respect to the Series A preference shares ($25
per share redemption price). The proceeds were used for general corporate purposes.

• Series B Preferred In November 2002, the Company issued 11.5 million of 7 5/8% Series B preference ordinary
shares (“Series B preference shares”). Gross proceeds were $287.5 million and related expenses were $9.1 million.
Upon dissolution of the Company, the holders of the Series B preference shares are entitled to receive a liquidation
preference of $25 per share, plus accrued dividends. Dividends on the preference shares are cumulative from the
date of original issuance and are payable when declared. The Company may redeem the Series B preference ordi-
nary shares on or after November 18, 2007, at a redemption price of $25 per share. The Company may, under cer-
tain circumstances, redeem the B preference shares before November 18, 2007 at specified redemption prices, plus
accrued dividends. These circumstances include an amalgamation, consolidation or other similar transaction
involving the Company in which the Series B preferred shares are entitled to a class vote ($26 per share redemp-
tion price), or a change in tax laws that requires the Company to pay additional amounts with respect to the Series
B preference shares ($25 per share redemption price). The proceeds were used for general corporate purposes.

c) Letter of Credit Facilities and other sources of collateral

At December 31, 2003, the Company had eight letter of credit facilities in place with total availability of $3.5 bil-
lion, of which $2.7 billion was utilized at December 31, 2003.



Amount of Commitment Expiration per period

Other Commercial Commitments Year of Less than 1 to 3 4 to 5 After 5

(U.S. dollars in thousands) Commitment In Use Expiry 1 Year Years Years Years

8 Letter of credit facilities (1) $ 3,528,652 $2,695,893 2004 $3,528,652 $ – $ – $ –

(1) Of the total letter of credit facilities above, $500 million is also included in the 364-day revolver under notes payable and debt

The facilities are provided on a syndicated and bilateral basis from commercial banks and are scheduled for renewal
during 2004.

It is anticipated that the commercial facilities will be renewed on expiry but such renewals are subject to the avail-
ability of credit from banks utilized by the Company. In the event that such credit support is insufficient, the Company
could be required to provide alternative security to cedents. This could take the form of insurance trusts supported by
the Company’s investment portfolio or funds withheld (amounts retained by ceding companies to collateralize loss or
premium reserves) using the Company’s cash resources. The value of letters of credit required is driven by, among other
things, loss development of existing reserves, the payment pattern of such reserves, the expansion of business written
by the Company and the loss experience of such business. In addition to letters of credit, the Company has established
insurance trusts in the U.S. that provide cedents with statutory relief required under state insurance regulation in the U.S.

The Company reviews current and projected collateral requirements on a regular basis, as well as new sources of
collateral. Management’s objective is to maintain an excess amount of collateral sources over expected uses. The
Company also reviews its liquidity needs on a regular basis.

The following letter of credit facilities were originated or renewed during 2003:

• $200 million facility. In January 2003, the Company entered into a new $100.0 million letter of credit facility to
provide additional capacity to support the Company’s U.S. non-admitted business. This facility was subsequently
increased to $200.0 million in June 2003 and was fully utilized at December 31, 2003.

• $2.5 billion facility. In June 2003, the Company renewed its principal revolving credit and letter of credit facility.
The facility was increased from $2.0 billion to $2.5 billion of which up to $675 million is available as revolving
credit and up to $2.3 billion is available in the form of letters of credit, with the combined total not to exceed $2.5
billion. As at December 31, 2003 approximately $1.6 billion of this facility was in use in the form of letters of credit.

• £400 million facility. In November 2003, the Company renewed its unsecured syndicated letter of credit facility
that supports its operations at Lloyd’s. The renewed facility is denominated in U.K. sterling and was approximately
$712 million at December 31, 2003.

In addition to the letter of credit facilities described above, the Company obtained collateral from the following
transactions that were completed during 2003:

• $500 million commercial paper-based facility. In February 2003, the Company entered into an aggregate of $300.0
million of commercial paper-based credit facilities (the “Credit Facilities”). These facilities were increased to $500.0
million in June 2003. The proceeds of advances under the Credit Facilities were used to fund a trust account to col-
lateralize the reinsurance obligations of the Company under an inter-company quota share reinsurance agreement.
The Company could face additional obligations under the Credit Facilities prior to the stated maturity of February
25, 2008, if certain events were to occur, including, but not limited to the Company’s insolvency, withdrawal of assets
from the Regulation 114 trust by the ceding company, the downgrade of the Company’s credit ratings below cer-
tain specified levels, or the failure of the agent to have a first priority perfected security interest in the collateral posted
by the Company. At maturity, the Company will be obligated to make payments in an amount equal to the princi-
pal and accrued interest outstanding under the Credit Facilities. The issued securities and the Company’s repayment
obligations are recorded as a net balance on the Company’s balance sheet.
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• $500 million contingent capital facility. In July 2003, the Company entered into a contingent capital transaction
with an aggregate value of $500.0 million. This transaction also provides the Company with an insurance trust that
provides the Company with statutory relief under state insurance regulations in the U.S. Under the terms of this facil-
ity, the Company has acquired an irrevocable put option to issue preference ordinary shares into a trust in return
for proceeds raised from investors. This put option may be exercised by the Company at any time. In addition, the
Company may be required to issue preference ordinary shares to the trust under certain circumstances, including,
but not limited to, the non-payment of the put option premium and a ratings downgrade of the Company. In con-
nection with this transaction, the fair value of the put premiums and other related costs, in total of $111.9 million
was transferred from “Additional paid in capital” to a deferred liability which was established (included with “Other
liabilities”) in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2003. The Company began to amortize this liability
that resulted in additional interest expense of approximately $2.0 million in 2003.

Cross-Default and Other Provisions in Debt Documents

The following describes certain terms of the documents referred to below. All documents referred to below have
been filed with the SEC and should be referred to for an assessment of the complete contractual obligations of the Company.

In general, all of the Company’s bank facilities, indentures and other documents relating to the Company’s out-
standing indebtedness, including the Credit Facilities discussed above (collectively, the “Company’s Debt Documents”),
contain cross default provisions to each other and the Company’s Debt Documents (other than the LYONs, CARZ and
6.5% Guaranteed Senior Notes indentures) contain affirmative covenants. These covenants provide for, among other things,
minimum required ratings of the Company’s insurance and reinsurance operating subsidiaries (other than its AAA finan-
cial guaranty companies) and the level of secured indebtedness in the future. In addition, generally each of the Company’s
Debt Documents provide for an event of default in the event of a change of control of the Company or some events involv-
ing bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization of the Company. The Company’s credit facilities and the 6.58% Guaranteed
Senior Notes also contain minimum consolidated net worth covenants.

Under the Company’s 364-day facility and ten-year private placement notes described above, in the event that the
Company fails to maintain a financial strength rating of at least A from A.M. Best or the Company’s insurance and rein-
surance rated operating subsidiaries (other than its AAA financial guaranty companies) fail to maintain a rating of at least
A from S&P, an event of default would occur.

Each of the LYONs, CARZ and 6.5% Guaranteed Senior Notes indentures contains a cross default provision. In
general, in the event that the Company defaults in the payment of indebtedness in the amount of $50.0 million or more,
an event of default would be triggered under both the LYONs and 6.5% Guaranteed Senior Notes indentures. Under the
CARZ indenture, in the event that the Company defaults in the payment of indebtedness in the amount of $100 million
or more, an event of default would be triggered.

Given that all of the Company’s Debt Documents contain cross default provisions, this may result in all holders
declaring such debt due and payable and an acceleration of all debt due under those documents. If this were to occur,
the Company may not have funds sufficient at that time to repay any or all of such indebtedness.

In addition, the Company’s unsecured Lloyd’s letter of credit facility provides that, in the event that the Company’s
insurance and reinsurance rated operating subsidiaries fall below A (as generally measured by the lower of the financial
strength rating from A.M. Best or S&P at any time), the facility would then be required to be fully secured by the Company,
at which time the Company would be required to either (i) provide an amount in cash to cover an amount equal to the
aggregate letters of credit outstanding at that time or (ii) deposit assets in trust securing 105% of the aggregate letters of
credit outstanding at that time. If this were to occur, the Company may not be able to provide the collateral required in
order to maintain this facility.

See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.



Long Term Contractual Obligations

The following table presents the Company’s long term contractual obligations and related payments as at December
31, 2003, due by period. This table excludes further commitments of $154.6 million to the Company’s investment man-
agers, related investment funds, certain limited partnerships, insurance affiliates, collateralized debt/equity investments
and letter of credit facilities of $3.5 billion. See Note 14 and Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for fur-
ther information.

Contractual Obligations Less than 1- less than 3-less than More than

(U.S. dollars in thousands) Total 1 year 3 years 5 years 5 years

Long-term debt obligations (1) $1,905,483 $ – $ 100,000 $ – $2,380,455
Contingent capital facility 116,850 12,300 24,600 24,600 55,350
Capital lease obligations 352,710 10,600 22,010 23,140 296,960
Operating lease obligations 320,408 53,634 70,250 58,013 138,511
Guaranteed investment contracts (2) 3,786,344 309,987 857,861 801,917 1,816,579
Total $6,481,795 $386,521 $1,074,721 $907,669 $4,687,855

(1) The long term debt obligations include the ultimate redemption values on the CARZ and LYONs up to 2021 and therefore the total obligation
amount is greater than the current notes payable and debt outstanding at December 31, 2003. See Note 14 and Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for further information.

(2) See Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

Variable Interest Entities and Other Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company utilizes variable interest entities both indirectly and directly in the ordinary course of the Company’s
business.

The Company provides various forms of credit enhancement including financial guaranty insurance and reinsur-
ance of structured transactions backed by pools of assets of specified types, municipal obligations supported by the issuers’
ability to charge fees for specified services or projects, and structured single risk based obligations including essential
infrastructure projects and obligations backed by receivables from future sales of commodities and other specified ser-
vices. The obligations related to these transactions are often securitized through variable interest entities. In synthetic trans-
actions the Company guarantees payment obligations of counterparties including special purpose vehicles under credit
derivatives referencing asset portfolios. The Company invests in collateralized debt obligations (“CDOs”), collateralized
bond obligations (“CBOs”) and other investment vehicles that are issued through variable interest entities as part of the
Company’s risk asset portfolio.

In 2003, the Company entered into an aggregate of $500.0 million of commercial paper-based credit facilities (the
“Credit Facilities). The proceeds of advances under the Credit Facilities were used to fund a trust account (“Trust”) to
collateralize the reinsurance obligations of the Company under an intercompany quota share reinsurance agreement. The
issued securities and the Company’s repayment obligations will be recorded as a net balance on the Company’s balance
sheet because the Company has a contractual legal right of offset. In the event that in the future the Company were to
not have the right to offset such assets (as, for example, would be the case if the assets in the Trust were withdrawn in
order to satisfy the Company’s reinsurance obligations or if lender-issued securities could not be held in the Trust because
they did not qualify as permitted assets under the trust agreement), then all or a portion of the assets in the Trust and the
Company’s repayment obligations under the Credit Facilities would be required to be included as assets and liabilities
on a gross basis, respectively, on the Company’s balance sheet. See also “Financial Condition and Liquidity” for more
details regarding this off balance sheet collateral arrangement.

In July 2003, the Company entered into a contingent capital transaction with an aggregate value of $500.0 mil-
lion. This transaction also provides the Company with an insurance trust that provides the Company with statutory relief
under state insurance regulations in the U.S. Under the terms of this facility, the Company has acquired an irrevocable
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put option to issue preference ordinary shares into a trust in return for proceeds raised from investors. This put option
may be exercised by the Company at any time. In addition, the Company may be required to issue preference ordinary
shares to the trust under certain circumstances, including, but not limited to, the non-payment of the put option premium
and a ratings downgrade of the Company.

The Company has an investment in the junior notes of a collateralized debt obligation (“CDO”). The Company
also issued financial guaranties for the senior notes of the CDO. As of December 31, 2003, the CDO had assets of $463.9
million and liabilities of $395.6 million and the Company’s maximum exposure to loss as a result of its financial guar-
anties and investment in this variable interest entity was approximately $412.3 million. The Company could experience
a loss in the event that the cash flows relating to the underlying assets are not collected as expected. The Company is not
the primary beneficiary of this entity and therefore is not required to consolidate this entity.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2(r) to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion on recent accounting pronouncements.

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (“PSLRA”) provides a “safe harbor” for forward-looking
statements. Any prospectus, prospectus supplement, the Company’s Annual Report to ordinary shareholders, any proxy
statement, any other Form 10-K, Form 10-Q or Form 8-K of the Company or any other written or oral statements made
by or on behalf of the Company may include forward-looking statements which reflect the Company’s current views with
respect to future events and financial performance. Such statements include forward-looking statements both with
respect to the Company in general, and to the insurance, reinsurance and financial products and services sectors in par-
ticular (both as to underwriting and investment matters). Statements which include the words “expect”, “intend”, “plan”,
“believe”, “project”, “anticipate”, “will”, and similar statements of a future or forward-looking nature identify forward-
looking statements for purposes of the PSLRA or otherwise.

All forward-looking statements address matters that involve risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, there are or will
be important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated in such statements. The Company
believes that these factors include, but are not limited to, the following: (i) rate increases and improvements in terms and
conditions may not be as large or significant as the Company is currently projecting; (ii) the timely and full recoverability
of reinsurance placed by the Company with third parties, or other amounts due to the Company, including, without lim-
itation, amounts due to the Company from the Seller in connection with the Company’s acquisition of the Winterthur
International operations; (iii) the projected amount of ceded reinsurance recoverables and the ratings and creditworthi-
ness of reinsurers may change; (iv) the timing of claims payments being faster or the receipt of reinsurance recoverables
being slower than anticipated by the Company; (v) ineffectiveness or obsolescence of the Company’s business strategy
due to changes in current or future market conditions; (vi) increased competition on the basis of pricing, capacity, cov-
erage terms or other factors; (vii) greater frequency or severity of claims and loss activity, including as a result of nat-
ural or man-made catastrophic events, than the Company’s underwriting, reserving or investment practices anticipate based
on historical experience or industry data; (viii) developments in the world’s financial and capital markets which adversely
affect the performance of the Company’s investments and the Company’s access to such markets; (ix) the potential impact
on the Company from government-mandated insurance coverage for acts of terrorism; (x) the potential impact of vari-
able interest entities or other off-balance sheet arrangements on the Company; (xi) developments in bankruptcy proceedings
or other developments related to bankruptcies of companies insofar as they affect property and casualty insurance and
reinsurance coverages or claims that the Company may have as a counterparty; (xii) availability of borrowings and let-
ters of credit under the Company’s credit facilities; (xiii) changes in regulation or tax laws applicable to the Company
or its subsidiaries, brokers or customers; (xiv) acceptance of the Company’s products and services, including new prod-
ucts and services; (xv) changes in the availability, cost or quality of reinsurance; (xvi) changes in the distribution or place-
ment of risks due to increased consolidation of insurance and reinsurance brokers; (xvii) loss of key personnel; (xviii)
the effects of mergers, acquisitions and divestitures; (xix) changes in rating agency policies or practices; (xx) changes



in accounting policies or practices or the application thereof; (xxi) legislative or regulatory developments; (xxii) changes
in general economic conditions, including inflation, foreign currency exchange rates and other factors; (xxiii) the effects
of business disruption or economic contraction due to war, terrorism or other hostilities; and (xxiv) the other factors set
forth in the Company’s other documents on file with the SEC. The foregoing review of important factors should not be
construed as exhaustive and should be read in conjunction with the other cautionary statements that are included herein
or elsewhere. The Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly or revise any forward-looking statement,
whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The following risk management discussion and the estimated amounts generated from the sensitivity and value-
at-risk (“VaR”) analyses presented in this document are forward-looking statements of market risk assuming certain adverse
market conditions occur. Actual results in the future may differ materially from these estimated results due to, among
other things, actual developments in the global financial markets. The results of analysis used by the Company to assess
and mitigate risk should not be considered projections of future events of losses. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”

The Company enters into derivatives and other financial instruments primarily for risk management purposes. The
Company’s derivative transactions can expose the Company to credit derivative risk, weather and energy risk, investment
market risk, and foreign currency exchange rate risk. The Company attempts to manage these risks based on guidelines
established by senior management. Derivative instruments are carried at fair value with the resulting changes in fair value
recognized in income in the period in which they occur.

Credit Derivative Risk

The Company enters into swaps written under International Swaps and Derivatives Association (“ISDA”) forms
as an extension of its financial guaranty business. The fair value is determined using models developed by the Company
and is dependent upon a number of factors, including changes in interest rates, future default rates, changes in credit qual-
ity, future expected recovery rates and other market factors. Other elements of the change in fair value are based upon
pricing established at the inception of the contract. A change in the interest, default and recovery rate assumptions indi-
cated below would cause the fair value associated with credit derivatives to decrease as follows:

Assumptions

(U.S. dollars in thousands) % Change Decrease in Fair Value

Interest rate 1% decrease $ 3,286
Default rate 10% increase $10,800
Recovery rate 10% decrease $ 5,355

Weather and Energy Market Risk

The Company offers weather and energy risk management products in insurance or derivative form to end-users,
while managing the risks in the over-the-counter and exchange traded derivatives markets in a weather and energy deriv-
atives trading portfolio.

Fair values for the Company’s natural gas derivative contracts are determined through the use of quoted market
prices. As quoted market prices are not widely available in the weather derivative market, management uses available
market data and internal pricing models based upon consistent statistical methodologies to estimate fair values. Estimating
fair value of instruments which do not have quoted market prices requires management’s judgment in determining amounts
which could reasonably be expected to be received from, or paid to, a third party in respect of the contracts. The
amounts could be materially different from the amounts that might be realized in an actual sale transaction. Fair values
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are subject to change in the near-term and reflect management’s best estimate based on various factors including, but not
limited to, realized and forecasted weather conditions, changes in interest rates and other market factors.

The following table summarizes the movement in the fair value of contracts outstanding during the year ended
December 31, 2003:

Unrealized gain

(U.S. dollars in thousands) (loss)

Fair value of contracts outstanding, beginning of the year $ (6,024)
Option premiums received , net of premiums realized (1) (6,608)
Reclassification of settled contracts to realized (2) 206,079
Other changes in fair value (3) (204,937)
Fair value of contracts outstanding, end of year $ (11,490)

(1) For the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company collected $210.5 million of paid premiums and realized $203.9 million of premiums on
expired transactions for a net increase in the balance sheet derivative liability of $6.6 million.

(2) The Company paid $206.1 million to settle derivative positions during the year ended December 31, 2003, resulting in a reclassification of this
amount from unrealized to realized and a reduction in the balance sheet derivative liability.

(3) This represents the effects of changes in commodity prices, the time value of options, and other valuation adjustments of $204.9 million on the
Company’s derivative positions, primarily attributable to the hedges of the positions that realized $203.9 million of premiums.

The change in fair value of contracts outstanding at December 31, 2003 as compared to the beginning of the year
is primarily due to the increased volume of weather and energy risk management contracts written during the first half
of the year, partially offset by the settlement of positions in the latter half of the year.

The following table summarizes the maturity of contracts outstanding at December 31, 2003:

Greater

Source of Fair Value than 5 Total Fair

(U.S. dollars in thousands) Less than 1 Year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years Years Value

Prices actively quoted $(30,278) $ – $ – $ – $(30,278)
Prices based on models and other 

valuation methods 3,026 12,391 3,371 – 18,788
Total fair value of contracts outstanding $(27,252) $12,391 $3,371 $ – $(11,490)

Market risk for the Company’s weather and energy portfolio relates to changes in underlying weather conditions
(i.e., changes in climatic variables such as temperature and precipitation) changes in electricity prices, and changes in
natural gas prices. The Company has underwritten risks in Asia, Australia, Europe, and North America, with its primary
market risk reflected in temperature changes within the United States and Europe.

The Company manages its weather and energy risk portfolio through the employment of a variety of strategies.
These include geographical and directional diversification of risk exposures and direct hedging within the capital and
reinsurance markets. Risk management is undertaken on a portfolio-wide basis, to maintain a portfolio that the Company
believes is well diversified and which remains within the aggregate risk tolerance established by the Company’s senior
management.

Value-At-Risk

A statistical technique known as Value-at-Risk (VaR) is one of the tools used by management to measure, moni-
tor and review the market risk exposures of the Company’s weather risk and natural gas portfolios. VaR, as it relates to
commodity risk, is at the 99% confidence level.

The Company’s aggregate average, low and high seasonal VaR amounts for its weather risk management portfo-
lio, calculated at a 99% confidence level, during the year ended December 31, 2003, were $137.7 million, $100.1 mil-



lion and $178.4 million, respectively. The corresponding levels for the weather risk management portfolio during the year
ended December 31, 2002 were $102.7 million, $25.8 million and $201.3 million, respectively. The Company calculates
its aggregate VaR by summing the VaR amounts for each of its seasonal portfolios. The Company’s aggregation method-
ology yields a conservative aggregate portfolio VaR, given that current weather events and patterns have an immaterial
effect on expectations for future seasons and the Company could therefore reduce or eliminate its VaR on future seasons
by selling its positions prior to the beginning of a season.

For the natural gas portfolio, VaR is calculated using a one-day holding period. The Company’s average, low and
high daily VaR amounts calculated at a 99% confidence level during the year ended December 31, 2003 were $2.0 mil-
lion, $0.2 million and $2.9 million, respectively. The corresponding amounts during the year ended December 31, 2002
were $0.8 million, nil and $2.9 million, respectively.

For electricity price risk management products, including electricity generation outage products, VaR is calculated
using an annual holding period. Management has established an annual VaR limit of $17 million for this book of busi-
ness. The Company’s average, low and high annual VaR amounts, calculated at a 99% confidence level during the year
ended December 31, 2003 were $2.3 million, $0.8 million, and $5.3 million, respectively.

Since VaR statistics are estimates based on simulations of historical market data, VaR should not be viewed as an
absolute, prognostic measurement gauge of future financial performance or as a way for the Company to predict risk.
There can be no assurance that the Company’s actual future losses will not exceed its VaR amounts.

Credit Risk

The Company is exposed to credit risk, or the risk that counterparties to weather and energy transactions will fail
to perform their contractual obligations leading to possible losses. In order to control its risk exposures, the Company
has implemented a credit risk control framework centered on a management credit committee, credit policies and credit
limits developed, enhanced and maintained by a credit officer and a credit committee comprised of senior management.
All credit-sensitive transactions are reviewed and approved by the Company’s risk management personnel and/or credit
committee and exposures are reviewed with respect to authorized credit limits before the Company enters into weather
derivative transactions. To address counterparty risk concerns and to support credit exposures in certain cases, the
Company may require that a counterparty provide a guaranty or a letter of credit or post margin or collateral. The Company
monitors its credit exposures on a daily basis to ensure adherence to all policies and limits.

Investment Market Risk

The Company’s investment portfolio is managed by external investment professionals under the direction of the
Company’s management and generally in accordance with detailed investment guidelines provided and monitored by
the Company. Managers are selected directly by the Company on the basis of various criteria, including investment style,
track record, performance, internal controls, operational risk, and diversification implications. The vast majority of the
Company’s investment portfolio is managed by well established, large institutional investment professionals.

The Company’s investment portfolio consists of exposures to fixed income securities, equities, alternative invest-
ments, derivatives, business and other investments and cash. These securities and investments are denominated in both
U.S. dollar and foreign currencies.

Through the structure of the Company’s investment portfolio, the Company’s earnings are directly affected by changes
in the valuations of the securities and investments held in the investment portfolio. These valuation changes reflect
changes in interest rates (e.g., changes in the level, slope and curvature of yield curves, volatility of interest rates, mort-
gage prepayment speeds and credit spreads), credit quality, equity prices (e.g., changes in prices and volatilities of indi-
vidual securities, equity baskets and equity indices) and foreign currency exchange rates (e.g., changes in spot prices, forward
prices and volatilities of currency rates). Market risk therefore arises due to the uncertainty surrounding the future valua-
tions of these different assets, the factors that impact their values and the impact that this could have on the Company’s
earnings.
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The Company seeks to manage the risks of the investment portfolio through a combination of asset class, coun-
try, industry and security level diversification and investment manager allocations. Further, individual security and
issuer exposures are controlled and monitored at the investment portfolio level, via specific investment constraints out-
lined in investment guidelines and agreed with the external investment professionals. Additional constraints are gener-
ally agreed with the external investment professionals which may address exposures to eligible securities, prohibited
investments/transactions, credit quality and general concentrations limits.

The Company’s direct use of investment derivatives includes futures, forwards, swaps and option contracts that
derive their value from underlying assets, indices, reference rates or a combination of these factors. When invest-
ment guidelines allow for the use of derivatives, these can generally only be used for the purpose of managing inter-
est rate risk, foreign exchange risk and credit risk, provided the use of such instruments is incorporated in the overall
portfolio duration, spread, convexity and other relevant portfolio metrics. The direct use of derivatives is not per-
mitted to economically leverage the portfolio outside of the stated guidelines. Derivatives may also be used to add
value to the investment portfolio where market inefficiencies are perceived to exist, to utilize cash holdings to pur-
chase equity indexed derivatives and to adjust the duration of a portfolio of fixed income securities to match the dura-
tion of related deposit liabilities.

Investment Value-at-Risk

Central to the Company’s market risk management framework is Value at Risk (“VaR”). VaR is a statistical risk
measure, calculating the level of potential losses that could be expected to be exceeded, over a specified holding period
and at a given level of confidence, in normal market conditions, due to adverse movements in the investment portfolio’s
underlying securities and investments valuations.

The Company calculates the VaR of the investment portfolio using a 1-month time horizon and a 95% level of con-
fidence. This means that, on average, the Company could expect losses greater than predicted by the VaR results 5% of
the time, or once every 20 months. The calculation of VaR is performed monthly using a full valuation based on the Monte
Carlo approach and it is expressed both in terms of U.S. dollars and as a percentage of the Company’s investment port-
folio.

The modeling of the risk of any portfolio, as measured by VaR, involves a number of assumptions and approxi-
mations. While the Company believes that its assumptions and approximations are appropriate, there is no uniform indus-
try methodology for calculating VaR. The Company notes that different VaR results can be produced for the same portfolio
dependent, not only on the approach used but also on the assumptions employed when implementing the approach.

In the third quarter of 2003, the Company introduced a new, more widely used risk management system to gen-
erate the investment VaR and to stress test the investment portfolio. Although the overall methodology is consistent between
the two systems, there are certain differences between these systems relating to security pricing models, time series, time
periods and proxies used for individual instruments. Accordingly, the VaR for the investment portfolio and the stress tests
on the investment portfolio are not directly comparable to prior periods.

The VaR approach uses historical data to determine the sensitivity of each of the underlying securities to the risk
factors incorporated into the models that are employed in the Monte Carlo simulations. In calculating these sensitivities,
greater importance is placed on the more recent data points and information. Since the VaR approach is based on his-
torical positions and market data, VaR results should not be viewed as an absolute and predictive gauge of future finan-
cial performance or as a way for the Company to predict risk. There is no assurance that the Company’s actual future
losses will not exceed its VaR and the Company expects that 5% of the time the VaR will be exceeded. Additionally, the
Company acknowledges the fact that risks associated with abnormal market events can be significantly different from
the VaR results and these are by definition not reflected or assessed in the VaR analysis.

The VaR of the investment portfolio at December 31, 2003 was approximately $444.0 million. The VaR of all invest-
ment related derivatives excluding investments in affiliates and other investments was $9.5 million.



In instances where the data or time series are insufficient to determine the risk factor sensitivities, the VaR
approach uses proxy time series data available for similar instruments. As at December 31, 2003, approximately $7.7
billion (31% of the Company’s investment portfolio at market value) used proxy time series data. Approximately $4.1
billion related to various fixed income portfolios, $1.4 billion to alternative investments, $84.1 million to equity portfo-
lios, $1.5 billion to various cash portfolios and $579.1 million to business and other investments. The Company reviews
the proxies to ensure that an appropriate data and time series is being used in the calculations and that the proxies used
are conservative.

The following two tables show the Company’s average, minimum and maximum VaR in percentage and dollar terms
for the total investment portfolio during 2003, based upon the VaR at quarter end dates. The two tables also include the
Company’s VaR in percentage and dollar terms, respectively, for the total investment portfolio as at December 31, 2003.
The Company’s investment portfolio VaR as at December 31, 2003 is not necessarily indicative of future VaR levels.

At December 31,

Average VaR Minimum VaR Maximum VaR 2003

% VaR(1) % VaR(1) % VaR(1) % VaR(1)

Fixed Income 1.99% 1.63% 2.39% 1.86%
Alternatives (2) 0.17% 0.14% 0.25% 0.14%
Equity 0.18% 0.12% 0.29% 0.12%
Business and Other Investments 0.18% 0.11% 0.24% 0.11%
Derivatives 0.04% 0.03% 0.08% 0.04%
Cash Equivalents 0.04% 0.02% 0.06% 0.02%
Total Undiversified VaR (3) 2.60% 2.27% 3.06% 2.29%
Diversification VaR (4) (0.75)% NA NA (0.48)%
Total Investment Portfolio VaR (5) 1.85% 1.31% 2.56% 1.81%

VaR as at

Average VaR Minimum VaR Maximum VaR December 31,

during 2003 during 2003 during 2003 2003

(U.S. dollars in millions) $VaR(6) $VaR(6) $VaR(6) $VaR(6)

Total Investment Portfolio VaR (5) 405.2 262.1 549.3 444.0

(1) Based on a 95% confidence level with a one month holding period and expressed as a percentage of the total investment portfolio.
(2) The majority of the Company’s alternative investment portfolio is accounted for as equity in affiliates. However, for purposes of monitoring and

tracking the Company’s total investment market risk, the total alternative investment portfolio is included in these calculations. The alternative
investment portfolio is principally proxied to the public equity markets and fixed income markets in these VaR calculations. The actual annual-
ized volatility of the Company’s alternatives portfolio during 2003 was 2.4% versus approximately 16.8% for the public equity markets and approx-
imately 4.3% for the fixed income markets, as proxied by the S&P 500 Index and Lehman US Aggregate Bond Index, respectively.

(3) Average Total Undiversified VaR and December 31, 2003 Total Undiversified Var is the summation of the individual VaRs for each of the sep-
arate asset classes and, by construction, ignores any and all correlations between the different asset classes. The Total Undiversified VaR there-
fore ignores diversification benefits that exist in between these different asset classes. Maximum and Minimum Total Undiversified VaR is not
necessarily the summation of the individual VaRs for each of the separate asset classes since the Maximum and Minimum VaRs for each of the
asset classes and the Maximum and Minimum Total Undiversified VaR do not necessarily refer to the same point in time.

(4) Diversification VaR equals the difference between the Total Investment Portfolio VaR and the Total Undiversified VaR. As the former explicitly
accounts for the correlations and diversification benefits that exist between the actual asset classes and the latter explicitly does not, the differ-
ence in the two VaR results is due to the ‘diversification benefits’. These diversification benefits arise due to the risk reduction that occurs when
different assets, that are not perfectly correlated, are combined in a portfolio. It will vary over time dependent on: allocations changes; changes
in the correlations between the different asset classes; and changes in the general asset class risks. The NA reflects the fact that, since the Minimum
and Maximum VaR for the six different asset class portfolios do not refer to the same point in time, and therefore it is not meaningful to calcu-
late the Diversification VaR.

(5) Total Investment Portfolio VaR is the Company’s investment portfolio VaR based on the prescribed methodology that explicitly accounts for the
diversification benefits that occur when each of the allocations to the individual asset classes are included in the investment portfolio.

(6) Based on a 95% confidence level with a one month holding period, expressed in millions of US$ Dollars.
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The Company’s total investment portfolio VaR is driven by: the size of the overall investment portfolio; the size
of the allocations to the different asset classes and securities in the asset classes; the risks associated with each of the asset
classes and securities; and the correlations and diversification benefits between each of the asset classes and securities.
Changes in any of these variables will have a direct impact on the Company’s VaR.

The Company’s total undiversified VaR, which ignores any correlation and diversification benefits, at December
31, 2003 was 2.29% compared to a maximum of 3.06% and a minimum of 2.27% during 2003. The Company’s aver-
age diversification VaR during 2003 resulted in an average reduction of the Company’s total undiversified VaR of
0.75% and as at December 31, 2003 was 0.48%.

The Company’s total investment portfolio VaR was on average 1.85% during 2003 and as at December 31, 2003,
was 1.81%. The Company’s maximum and minimum total investment portfolio VaR during 2003 were 2.56% and 1.31%,
respectively. The Company’s largest VaR exposure during 2003 was to fixed income. The average VaR for fixed income
was 1.99%, compared to a maximum of 2.39% and a minimum of 1.63%. As at December 31, 2003, the fixed income
VaR was 1.86%.

At December 31, 2003, the ranking for the Company’s asset class risk, based on the individual asset class VaRs,
was: fixed income; alternative investments; equity; business and other investments; cash equivalents and derivatives.

Stress Testing

VaR does not provide the means to estimate the magnitude of the loss in the 5% of occurrences that the Company
expects the VaR level to be exceeded. To complement the VaR analysis based on normal market environments, the Company
considers the impact on the investment portfolio in several different historical stress periods to analyze the effect of unusual
market conditions. The Company establishes certain historical stress test scenarios which are applied to the actual invest-
ment portfolio. As these stress tests and estimated gains and losses are based on historical events, they will not neces-
sarily reflect future stress events or gains and losses from such events. The results of the stress test scenarios are
reviewed on a regular basis to ensure they reflect current shareholders equity, market conditions and the Company’s total
risk profile.

The table below shows the maximum impact on the Company’s investment portfolio if all events stress tested were
to repeat themselves, given the actual investment portfolio’s allocations at quarter end dates during 2003. The Company
assumes that no action is taken during the stress period to either liquidate or rebalance the portfolio. The Company believes
that this fairly reflects the potential decreased liquidity that is often associated with stressed market environments.

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

Stress Test 2003 2003 2003 2003

Maximum loss impact on portfolio (4.8)% (4.2)% (6.1)% (5.9)%
Maximum gain impact on portfolio 14.2% 13.3% 19.1% 19.0%

From the different scenarios that the Company analyzes, the largest downside event risk exposure during 2003 was
6.1%, based on the investment portfolio as at September 30, 2003. The largest upside risk exposure during 2003 was 19.1%
as at September 30, 2003.

Given the investment portfolio allocations as at December 31, 2003, the Company would expect to lose approxi-
mately 5.9% of the portfolio if the most damaging event stress tested was repeated, all other things held equal. Given
the investment portfolio allocations as at December 31, 2003, the Company would expect to gain approximately 19.0%
of the portfolio if the most favorable event stress tested was repeated, all other things held equal.



Fixed Income Portfolio

The Company’s fixed income portfolio is exposed to credit and interest rate risk through its portfolio of debt secu-
rities, and includes fixed maturities and short-term investments. The fixed income portfolio includes fixed maturities, short-
term investments, cash and cash equivalents and net payable for investments purchased.

As at December 31, 2003, the value of the Company’s fixed income portfolio including cash and cash equivalents
and net payable for investments purchased as approximately $22.5 billion as compared to approximately $17.5 billion
as at December 31, 2002. As at December 31, 2003, the fixed income portfolio consisted of approximately 88.5% of the
total investment portfolio (including cash and cash equivalents, accrued investment income and net payable for invest-
ments purchased) as compared to approximately 86.6% as at December 31, 2002.

The Company manages credit risk in the investment portfolio through the credit research performed by the exter-
nal investment professionals and limitations on the investment portfolio’s exposure to individual credits, as set by the
Company. Limits are set for each credit quality rating and are a function of the probability of default and the expected
loss in the event of default. Limits ensure that potential losses from individual defaults should not exceed predetermined
levels.

The Company reviews on a regular basis its corporate debt concentration, credit quality and compliance with estab-
lished credit limits. Any obligor over its credit limits, experiencing financial difficulties, material credit quality deterio-
ration or potentially subject to fore coming credit quality deterioration is placed on a Watch List for closer monitoring.
Where appropriate, exposures are reduced or prevented from increasing.

The table below shows the Company’s fixed income portfolio by credit rating in percentage terms of the Company’s
total fixed income exposure (including fixed maturities, short-term investments, cash and cash equivalents and net
payable for investments purchased) as at December 31, 2003.

Total

AAA 56.7%
AA 13.1%
A 15.5%
BBB 9.3%
BB & below 5.0%
NR 0.4%
Total 100.0%

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the average credit quality of the Company’s total fixed income portfolio was
“AA”.

As at December 31, 2003, the top 10 corporate holdings represented approximately 6.2% of the total fixed income
portfolio and approximately 13.6% of all corporate holdings. The top 10 corporate holdings listed below utilizes a con-
servative approach to aggregation as it includes unsecured as well as securitized, credit enhanced and collateralized secu-
rities issued by parent companies and their affiliates.
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Percentage of Total 

Top 10 Corporate Holdings (2) Fixed Income Portfolio (1)

JPMorgan Chase & Co 0.86%
Citigroup Inc 0.79%
General Electric Company 0.72%
Morgan Stanley 0.71%
HSBC Holdings plc 0.66%
Bank of America Corporation 0.52%
American International Group Inc. 0.52%
Bear Sterns & Co 0.49%
General Motors Corporation 0.49%
Ford Motor Company 0.46%

(1) Including fixed maturities, short-term investments, cash and cash equivalents and net payable for investments purchased.
(2) Corporate holdings include parent and affiliated companies that issue fixed income securities. In some cases a portion of the market value may

be invested in bonds that are securitized or have sufficient credit enhancement that provides a long-term credit rating that is higher than the rat-
ing of the unsecured debt of the parent company.

The Company’s fixed income portfolio is exposed to interest rate risk. Interest rate risk is the price sensitivity of
a fixed income security to changes in interest rates. The Company manages interest rate risk within the context of its over-
all asset liability management strategy by setting duration targets for its investment portfolio in line with the estimated
duration of its liabilities, thus mitigating the overall economic effect of interest rate risk. The Company remains never-
theless exposed to accounting interest rate risk since the assets are marked to market, thus subject to market conditions,
while liabilities are accrued at a static rate. The hypothetical case of an immediate 100 basis point adverse parallel shift
in global bond curves as at December 31, 2003 would decrease the fair value of the Company’s fixed income portfolio
by approximately 4.7% or $1.1 billion. Based on historical observations, it is unlikely that all global yield curves would
shift in the same direction and at the same time.

In addition, the Company has short-term debt and long-term debt outstanding. Interest rates on short-term debt are
LIBOR based. Accordingly, any changes in interest rates will affect interest expense.

Equity Portfolio

As at December 31, 2003, the Company’s equity portfolio was $583 million as compared to $575 million as at
December 31, 2002. As at December 31, 2003, the Company’s allocation to equity securities was approximately 2.3%
of the total investment portfolio (including cash and cash equivalents, accrued investment income and net payable for
investments purchased) as compared to approximately 2.9% as at December 31, 2002.

As at December 31, 2003, approximately 62% of the equity portfolio was invested in U.S. companies as compared
to approximately 60% as at December 31, 2002. As at December 31, 2003, the top ten equity holdings represented approx-
imately 11.6% of the Company’s total equity portfolio.

The Company’s equity portfolio is exposed to price risk. Equity price risk is the potential loss arising from
decreases in the market value of equities. An immediate hypothetical 10% change in the value of each equity position
would affect the fair value of the portfolio by approximately $58.3 million as at December 31, 2003.

Alternative Investment Portfolio

A portion of the Company’s portfolio is invested in funds that pursue alternative investment strategies, with the
investment objective of attaining high risk-adjusted total return whilst maintaining a low level of correlation to the tra-
ditional asset classes and realizing a low volatility. Investments within this portfolio are generally fund investments in
limited partnerships or similar vehicles, with each fund pursuing different absolute return investment mandates, typically



investing in one or more of the traditional asset classes including equities, fixed income, credit, currency and commod-
ity markets.

Various strategies can be pursued and the Company classifies each fund allocation into three general style cate-
gories established by S&P. The three styles are: Event driven, which includes strategies that pursue merger arbitrage, dis-
tressed and special situations opportunities; Directional/tactical, which includes strategies that pursue long/short equity,
managed futures and macro opportunities; and Arbitrage, which includes strategies that pursue equity market neutral,
fixed income arbitrage and convertible arbitrage opportunities.

During 2003, the Company implemented additional risk and portfolio management analytics and processes to enhance
the overall management and assessment of the alternative investment portfolio. Central to the portfolio and risk management
processes is the receipt of information on each of its allocations that is sufficient to assess risks and exposures of the fund
allocations and to monitor how the portfolio and associated risk changes over time. The level and frequency of information
required by the Company on each investment depends on the type of strategy that a fund pursues; the expected risk pro-
file and types of risk that the fund and underlying securities are exposed to; the liquidity of the fund and underlying secu-
rities; and the size of the allocation.

The Company’s alternative investment portfolio had over 100 separate investments in different funds at December
31, 2003 with a total exposure of $1.4 billion making up approximately 5.9% of the total investments compared to December
31, 2002 where the Company had over 100 separate fund investments with a total exposure of $1.3 billion representing
approximately 6.7% of the total investments.

At December 31, 2003, the alternative investment style allocation was 35% in arbitrage strategies, 39% in direc-
tional/tactical strategies and 26% in event driven strategies. 

Private Investment Portfolio

A portion of the Company’s portfolio is invested in limited partnerships and other entities which are not publicly
traded. In addition to normal market risks, these positions may also be exposed to liquidity risk, risks related to distressed
investments, and risks specific to startup or small companies.

As at December 31, 2003, the Company’s exposure to Private Investments was approximately $200.0 million com-
pared to $236.0 million as at December 31, 2002. As at December 31, 2003, the Company’s exposure to private invest-
ments consisted of approximately 0.8% of the total investment portfolio (including cash and cash equivalents, accrued
investment income and net payable for investments purchased), as compared to 1.2% as at December 31, 2002.

Bond and Stock Index Futures Exposure

At December 31, 2003, bond and stock index futures outstanding were $241.1 million with underlying investments
having a market value of $801.1 million. Losses of $6.3 million were realized on these contracts for the year ended December
31, 2003. A 10% appreciation or depreciation of these derivative instruments would have resulted in realized gains and
realized losses of $24.1 million respectively. The Company reduces its exposure to these futures through offsetting trans-
actions, including options and forwards.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

The Company uses foreign exchange contracts to manage its exposure to the effects of fluctuating foreign currencies
on the value of certain of its foreign currency fixed maturities and equity investments. These contracts are not designated
as specific hedges for financial reporting purposes and therefore, realized and unrealized gains and losses on these con-
tracts are recorded in income in the period in which they occur. These contracts generally have maturities of three months
or less. At December 31, 2003, forward foreign exchange contracts with notional principal amounts totaling $193.0 mil-
lion were outstanding. The fair value of these contracts as at December 31, 2003 was $189.4 million with unrealized gains
of $3.5 million. For the year ended December 31, 2003, realized gains of $1.0 million and unrealized gains of $3.3 mil-
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lion were recorded in net realized and unrealized gains and losses on derivative instruments. Based on this value, a 10%
appreciation or depreciation of the U.S. dollar as compared to the level of other currencies under contract at December
31, 2003 would have resulted in approximately $9.8 million of unrealized gains and $12.1 million in unrealized losses,
respectively.

The Company attempts to manage the exchange volatility arising on certain administration costs denominated in
foreign currencies. Throughout the year, forward contracts are entered into to acquire foreign currencies at an agreed rate
in the future. At December 31, 2003, the Company had forward contracts outstanding for the purchase of $25.9 million
Euros and $70.2 million U.K. sterling at fixed rates. The unrealized loss on these contracts at December 31, 2003 was
$2.5 million and $7.7 million, respectively.

Credit Risk

The Company is exposed to credit risk in the event of non-performance by the other parties to the forward con-
tracts, however the Company does not anticipate non-performance. The difference between the notional principal
amounts and the associated market value is the Company’s maximum credit exposure.

Embedded Derivatives

The puts and the interest rate adjustment features embedded in the CARZ and LYONs are considered derivatives
and are subject to fair value. There is currently minimal fair value ascribed to (i) the puts, as the contingent events of these
features are considered unlikely to occur or (ii) the interest rate adjustment feature due to the current trading value of the
bonds.



A S S E T S
(U.S. dollars in thousands, except share amounts) 2003 2002

Investments:
Fixed maturities at fair value (amortized cost: 2003, $18,990,670; 2002, $14,118,527) $19,494,356 $14,482,647
Equity securities, at fair value (cost: 2003, $ 473,112 ; 2002, $661,377) 583,450 575,010
Short-term investments, at fair value (amortized cost: 2003, $696,798;

2002, $1,001,179) 697,450 1,002,076

Total investments available for sale 20,775,256 16,059,733
Investments in affiliates 1,903,341 1,750,005
Other investments 142,567 146,061

Total investments 22,821,164 17,955,799
Cash and cash equivalents 2,403,121 3,557,815
Accrued investment income 294,615 226,862
Deferred acquisition costs 777,882 688,281
Prepaid reinsurance premiums 977,595 957,036
Premiums receivable 3,487,322 3,592,713
Reinsurance balances receivable 1,359,486 1,239,970
Unpaid losses and loss expenses recoverable 5,779,997 5,012,655
Goodwill and other intangible assets 1,845,507 1,653,700
Deferred tax asset, net 310,077 320,624
Other assets 707,449 441,914

Total assets $40,764,215 $35,647,369

L I A B I L I T I E S  A N D  S H A R E H O L D E R S ’ E Q U I T Y

Liabilities:
Unpaid losses and loss expenses $16,558,788 $13,202,736
Deposit liabilities 4,050,334 2,373,047
Future policy benefit reserves 3,233,845 2,516,949
Unearned premiums 4,729,989 4,028,299
Notes payable and debt 1,905,483 1,877,957
Reinsurance balances payable 1,525,739 1,924,150
Net payable for investments purchased 96,571 1,546,276
Other liabilities 1,666,397 1,551,443
Minority interest 60,154 56,923

Total liabilities $33,827,300 $29,077,780
Commitments and Contingencies

Shareholders’ Equity:
Series A preference ordinary shares, 9,200,000 authorized, par value $0.01 

Issued and outstanding: (2003 and 2002, 9,200,000) $ 92 $ 92
Series B preference ordinary shares, 11,500,000 authorized, par value $0.01

Issued and outstanding: (2003 and 2002, 11,500,000 ) 115 115
Series C preference ordinary shares, 20,000,000 authorized, par value $0.01 

Issued and outstanding: 2003 and 2002, nil. – –
Class A ordinary shares, 999,990,000 authorized, par value $0.01

Issued and outstanding: (2003, 137,343,232, 2002, 136,063,184) 1,373 1,360
Additional paid in capital 3,949,421 3,979,979
Accumulated other comprehensive income 490,195 184,814
Deferred compensation (46,124) (31,282)
Retained earnings 2,541,843 2,434,511

Total shareholders’ equity $ 6,936,915 $ 6,569,589

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $40,764,215 $35,647,369

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

XL CAPITAL LTD

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2003 AND 2002
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(U.S. dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts) 2003 2002 2001

Revenues:

Net premiums earned – general operations $6,081,033 $4,899,073 $2, 730,420

Net premiums earned – life and annuity operations 748,495 1,022,992 695,595

Net premiums earned – financial operations 139,622 67,745 37,113

Net investment income 779,558 734,535 610,528

Net realized gains (losses) on investments 120,195 (214,160) (93,237)

Net realized and unrealized (losses) gains on

derivative instruments (27,542) (51,761) 11,768

Equity in net income of investment affiliates 133,902 64,662 80,580

Fee income and other 41,745 54,963 18,247

Total revenues $8,017,008 $6,578,049 $4,091,014

Expenses:

Net losses and loss expenses incurred – general

and financial operations $4,610,606 $3,327,315 $2,905,231

Claims and policy benefits – life operations 818,894 1,069,456 698,675

Acquisition costs 1,167,186 955,331 639,046

Operating expenses 797,826 674,403 422,673

Exchange (gains) losses (38,619) (80,294) 12,184

Interest expense 199,407 168,086 113,272

Amortization of intangible assets 4,637 6,187 58,569

Total expenses $7,559,937 $6,120,484 $4,849,650

Income (loss) before minority interest, income tax and equity in net (loss) 

of insurance and financial affiliates $ 457,071 $ 457,565 $ (758,636)

Minority interest in net income of subsidiary 9,264 13,371 2,113

Income tax expense (benefit) 30,049 22,647 (189,914)

Equity in net loss of insurance and financial affiliates 5,779 15,976 5,300

Net income (loss) $ 411,979 $ 405,571 $ (576,135)

Preference share dividends (40,321) (9,620) –

Net income (loss) available to ordinary shareholders $ 371,658 $ 395,951 $ (576,135)

Net income (loss) $ 411,979 $ 405,571 $ (576,135)

Change in net unrealized appreciation (depreciation) of investments 383,311 390,707 (71,004)

Foreign currency translation adjustments (77,930) 7,120 (37,297)

Comprehensive income (loss) $ 717,360 $ 803,398 $ (684,436)

Weighted average ordinary shares and ordinary share equivalents 

outstanding – basic 136,906 135,636 126,676

Weighted average ordinary shares and ordinary share equivalents 

outstanding – diluted 138,187 137,388 126,676

Earnings (loss) per ordinary share and ordinary share equivalent – basic $ 2.71 $ 2.92 $ (4.55)

Earnings (loss) per ordinary share and ordinary share equivalent – diluted $ 2.69 $ 2.88 $ (4.55)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

XL CAPITAL LTD

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2002 AND 2001



(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Series A and B Preference Ordinary Shares:

Balance – beginning of year $ 207 $ – $ –

Issue of shares – 207 –

Balance – end of year $ 207 $ 207 $ –

Ordinary Shares:

Balance – beginning of year $ 1,360 $ 1,347 $ 1,250

Issue of shares 5 2 94

Exercise of stock options 8 11 18

Repurchase of shares – – (15)

Balance – end of year $ 1,373 $ 1,360 $ 1,347

Additional paid in capital:

Balance – beginning of year $3,979,979 $3,378,549 $2,497,416

Issue of shares 34,103 522,713 808,916

Contingent capital costs (111,930) – –

Stock option expense 5,590 – –

Exercise of stock options 42,103 79,364 103,135

Repurchase of shares (424) (647) (30,918)

Balance – end of year $3,949,421 $3,979,979 $3,378,549

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):

Balance – beginning of year $ 184,814 $ (213,013) $ (104,712)

Net change in unrealized gains (losses) on investment portfolio,

net of tax 386,729 397,330 (72,272)

Net change in unrealized (losses) gains on investment

portfolio of affiliate (3,418) (6,623) 1,268

Currency translation adjustments (77,930) 7,120 (37,297)

Balance – end of year $ 490,195 $ 184,814 $ (213,013)

Deferred Compensation:

Balance – beginning of year $ (31,282) $ (27,177) $ (17,727)

Issue of restricted shares (32,757) (18,416) (19,802)

Amortization 17,915 14,311 10,352

Balance – end of year $ (46,124) $ (31,282) $ (27,177)

Retained Earnings:

Balance – beginning of year $2,434,511 $2,297,478 $3,197,441

Net income (loss) 411,979 405,571 (576,135)

Dividends on Class A ordinary shares (263,176) (257,054) (237,628)

Dividends on Series A and B preference ordinary shares (40,321) (9,620) –

Repurchase of shares (1,150) (1,864) (86,200)

Balance – end of year $2,541,843 $2,434,511 $2,297,478

Total shareholders’ equity $6,936,915 $6,569,589 $5,437,184

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

XL CAPITAL LTD

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2002 AND 2001
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(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Cash Flows Provided by Operating Activities:

Net income (loss) $ 411,979 $ 405,571 $ (576,135)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash

provided by operating activities:

Net realized (gains) losses on sales of investments (120,195) 214,160 93,237

Net realized and unrealized losses (gains) on derivative instruments 27,542 51,761 (11,768)

Amortization of discounts on fixed maturities 44,792 (15,715) (38,589)

Amortization of intangible assets 4,637 6,187 58,569

Amortization of deferred compensation 17,915 14,311 10,352

Accretion of convertible debt 25,512 24,831 12,339

Accretion of deposit liabilities 105,070 65,884 57,246

Equity in net income of investment, financial and insurance affiliates (128,123) (48,687) (75,280)

Unpaid losses and loss expenses 3,356,052 850,566 3,555,484

Unearned premiums 701,690 1,316,263 427,613

Premiums receivable 105,391 (1,337,876) 76,076

Unpaid losses and loss expenses recoverable (881,342) 76,347 (1,959,927)

Future policy benefit reserves . 757,427 1,103,327 623,298

Prepaid reinsurance premiums (20,559) (102,580) (277,053)

Reinsurance balances receivable (119,516) 68,869 (1,425,613)

Reinsurance balances payable (398,411) 182,861 831,364

Deferred acquisition costs (89,601) (294,023) (82,717)

Deferred tax asset 10,547 102,162 (267,054)

Other (380,474) 352,226 406,160

Total adjustments $ 3,018,354 $ 2,630,874 $ 2,013,737

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 3,430,333 $ 3,036,445 $ 1,437,602

Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities:

Proceeds from sale of fixed maturities and short-term investments 27,235,169 44,554,304 28,396,278

Proceeds from redemption of fixed maturities and

short-term investments 11,462,093 3,753,801 1,543,550

Proceeds from sale of equity securities 1,224,420 754,611 882,501

Purchases of fixed maturities and short-term investments (44,732,460) (50,859,921) (31,975,544)

Purchases of equity securities (909,414) (531,437) (739,872)

Investments in affiliates, net of dividends received (56,004) (717,523) (185,106)

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (91,470) (43,143) (262,001)

Other investments 4,697 34,171 (108,993)

Fixed assets and other (3,338) (4,509) (21,898)

Net proceeds from purchase and sale of leasehold property 45,307 – –

Net cash used in investing activities $ (5,821,000) $ (3,059,646) $ (2,471,085)

XL CAPITAL LTD

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2002 AND 2001)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Cash Flows Provided by Financing Activities:

Issue of common shares $ – $ – $ 787,678

Issue of preference shares – 503,579 –

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 42,113 79,375 105,233

Repurchase of shares (1,574) (2,512) (117,133)

Dividends paid on common shares (263,176) (257,054) (237,628)

Dividends paid on preference shares (40,321) (9,620) –

Proceeds from notes payable and debt – 846,814 1,172,533

Repayment of notes payable and debt – (600,000) (50,000)

Deposit liabilities 1,496,285 1,156,285 306,664

Minority interest – – (24)

Net cash provided by financing activities 1,233,327 1,716,867 1,967,323

Effects of exchange rate changes on foreign currency cash 2,646 288 (448)

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,154,694) 1,693,954 933,392

Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year 3,557,815 1,863,861 930,469

Cash and cash equivalents – end of year $ 2,403,121 $3,557,815 $1,863,861

Net taxes (paid) received $ (3,154) $ 76,750 $ 10,025

Interest paid $ (62,929) $ (36,820) $ (36,509)

XL CAPITAL LTD

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2002 AND 2001)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements



N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D A T E D   
F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S



1. History

XL Capital Ltd together with its subsidiaries (the “Company” or “XL”), is a holding company organized under
the laws of the Cayman Islands. XL Capital Ltd was incorporated on March 16, 1998, as the successor to EXEL
Limited, a Cayman Islands corporation organized in 1986, in connection with EXEL Limited’s merger with Mid Ocean
Limited, a Cayman Islands corporation. XL Capital Ltd operated under the name EXEL Limited from completion of the
merger until February 1, 1999, when its current name was approved by the requisite vote of the Company’s sharehold-
ers. The Company provides insurance and reinsurance coverages and financial products and services to industrial, com-
mercial and professional service firms, insurance companies and other enterprises on a worldwide basis.

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company increased its shareholding in Le Mans Ré from 49% to 67% in order to
expand its international reinsurance operations. Due to certain contractual arrangements between the Company and Les
Mutuelles du Mans Assurances Group (“MMA”), MMA did not have any economic interest in the earnings of Le Mans
Ré with effect from January 1, 2002 and accordingly, no minority interest was recorded from that date. In September
2003, the Company purchased the remaining 33% and Le Mans Ré was renamed “XL Re Europe”. XL Re Europe under-
writes a worldwide portfolio comprising most classes of property and casualty reinsurance business, together with a selec-
tive portfolio of life reinsurance business. See Note 6 (a) for additional information.

On July 25, 2001, the Company acquired certain Winterthur International insurance operations (“Winterthur
International”) to extend its predominantly North American based large corporate business globally. Effective July 1, 2001,
the Company’s results include Winterthur International. See Note 6 (b) for additional information. In 2003, the Winterthur
International operations changed its name to “XL Global Risk”.

In 1999, XL Capital Ltd merged with NAC Re Corp (“NAC”), a Delaware corporation. NAC was organized in
1985 and wrote property and casualty insurance and reinsurance in the U.S., Canada and Europe.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Preparation and Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of its subsidiaries, includ-
ing variable interest entities for which the Company has effective control. These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP (“GAAP”). The results include the consolidation of XL Re Europe, accounted
for as a subsidiary effective January 1, 2002, described in Note 6(a). In addition, the results also include the acquired
Winterthur International operations, effective July 1, 2001, under the purchase method of accounting, described in Note
6(b). All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. Certain amounts in 2002 and 2001
have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation.

Normally control of a subsidiary or variable interest entity reflects ownership of majority voting interests. However,
control can be attained when less than a majority voting interest is held. Factors considered in determining whether con-
trol exists include whether the Company provides significant financial support or makes other operating decisions that
significantly affect the entity’s results of operations or whether the Company holds a majority of the financial risks and
rewards of the entity.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. While

XL CAPITAL LTD

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

F-67

F-68

X
L

 C
A

P
IT

A
L

A
n

n
u

al R
e

p
o

rt 2
0

0
3

management believes that the amounts included in the consolidated financial statements reflect the Company’s best esti-
mates and assumptions, actual results could differ from these estimates.

(b) Premiums and Acquisition Costs

Premiums written are recorded in accordance with the terms of the underlying policies. Reinsurance premiums
written are recorded at the inception of the policy and are estimated based upon information received from ceding com-
panies and any subsequent differences arising on such estimates are recorded in the period they are determined. Financial
guaranty installment premiums are recorded as premiums written when due.

Premiums are earned on a pro-rata basis over the period the coverage is provided. Financial guaranty insurance
premiums are earned over the life of the exposure. Unearned premiums represent the portion of premiums written applic-
able to the unexpired terms of policies in force. Net premiums earned are presented after deductions for reinsurance ceded,
as applicable.

Reinstatement premiums are recognized at the time a loss event occurs where coverage limits for the remaining
life of the contract are reinstated under pre-defined contract terms and are earned on a pro-rata basis over the remaining
risk period.

Life and annuity premiums from long duration contracts that transfer significant mortality or morbidity risks are
recognized as revenue and earned when due from policyholders. Life and annuity premiums from long duration contracts
that do not subject the Company to risks arising from policyholder mortality or morbidity are accounted for as deposit
liabilities.

Acquisition costs, which vary with and are related to the acquisition of policies, consist primarily of commissions
paid to brokers and cedents, and certain underwriting costs, are deferred and amortized over the period the premiums
are earned. Acquisition costs are shown net of commissions earned on reinsurance ceded. Future earned premiums, the
anticipated losses and other costs (and in the case of a premium deficiency, investment income) related to those premi-
ums, are also considered in determining the level of acquisition costs to be deferred.

(c) Reinsurance

In the normal course of business, the Company seeks to reduce the potential amount of loss arising from claims
events by reinsuring certain levels of risk assumed in various areas of exposure with other insurers or reinsurers.
Reinsurance premiums ceded are expensed (and any commissions recorded thereon are earned) on a monthly pro-rata
basis over the period the reinsurance coverage is provided. Prepaid reinsurance premiums represent the portion of pre-
miums ceded applicable to the unexpired term of policies in force. Reinstatement premiums ceded are recorded at the
time a loss event occurs where coverage limits for the remaining life of the contract are reinstated under pre-defined con-
tract terms and are expensed over the remaining risk period. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a man-
ner consistent with the claim liability associated with the reinsured policy. Provisions are made for estimated unrecoverable
reinsurance.

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(a) Basis of Preparation and Consolidation (continued)



XL CAPITAL LTD

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(d) Fee Income and Other

Fee income and other includes fees earned for insurance related services provided and is earned over the service
period of the contract. Any adjustments to fees earned or the service period are reflected in income in the period when
determined.

(e) Other Than Temporary Declines in Investments

The Company reviews the fair value of its investment portfolio to identify declines in fair value that are other than
temporary. This review involves consideration of several factors including (i) the time period during which there has been
a significant decline in value, (ii) an analysis of the liquidity, business prospects and overall financial condition of the
issuer, (iii) the significance of the decline, (iv) an analysis of the collateral structure and other credit support, as applic-
able, of the securities in question and (v) the Company’s intent and ability to hold the investment for a sufficient period
of time for the value to recover. Where the Company concludes that declines in fair values are other than temporary, the
cost of the security is written down to fair value and the previously unrealized loss is therefore realized in the period such
determination is made.

With respect to securities where the decline in value is determined to be temporary and the security’s value is not
written down, a subsequent decision may be made to sell that security and realize a loss. Subsequent decisions on secu-
rity sales are made within the context of overall risk monitoring, changing information, market conditions generally and
assessing value relative to other comparable securities.

(f) Derivative Instruments and Weather Derivative Contracts

The Company recognizes all derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet and measures those instru-
ments at fair value. Non-exchange traded weather products are recorded at fair value. The changes in fair value of deriv-
atives are shown in the consolidated statement of income as “net realized and unrealized gains and losses on derivative
instruments”. Changes in fair value of derivatives may create volatility in the Company’s results of operations from period
to period.

The Company conducts activities in three main types of instruments: credit derivatives, weather and energy deriv-
atives and investment related derivatives.

Credit derivatives

Credit derivatives are recorded at fair value which is determined using models developed by the Company and is
dependent upon a number of factors including changes in interest rates, future default rates, credit spreads, changes in
credit quality, future expected recovery rates and other market factors. The change resulting from movements in credit
and credit quality spreads is unrealized as the credit derivatives are not traded to realize this resultant value.

Weather and Energy derivatives

Fair value for the Company’s natural gas contracts are determined through the use of quoted market prices. As quoted
market prices are not widely available in the weather and electricity derivative markets, management uses available mar-
ket data and internal pricing models based upon consistent statistical methodologies to estimate fair values. Estimating
the fair value of instruments which do not have quoted market prices requires management’s judgment in determining
amounts which could reasonably be expected to be received from, or paid to, a third party in settlement of the contracts.
The amounts could be materially different from the amounts that might be realized in an actual sale transaction. Fair val-

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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ues are subject to change in the near-term and reflect management’s best estimate based on various factors including,
but not limited to, actual and forecasted weather conditions, changes in commodity prices, changes in interest rates and
other market factors.

Investment Related derivatives

The Company uses investment derivatives to manage duration and currency exposure for its investment portfolio.

The Company uses investment derivatives, substantially interest rate swaps, to manage the interest rate exposure
of the Company’s guaranteed investment contracts (“GICs”). All interest rate swaps are recorded at fair value which is
determined using fixed income analytical models and is dependent upon interest rate conditions and relationships
among interest rates and indices. Changes in the value of fair value hedges are recorded as adjustments to the hedged
items to the extent that the hedge is effective. Changes in the value of cash flow hedges are recorded in other compre-
hensive income to the extent that the hedge is effective. The ineffective portion of both fair value and cash flow hedges
are recorded in the consolidated statement of income as “net realized and unrealized gains and losses on derivative instru-
ments”.

The Company also has investment related derivatives embedded in certain reinsurance contracts. For a particular
life reinsurance contract, the Company pays the ceding company a fixed amount equal to the estimated present value of
the excess of guaranteed benefit (“GMIB”) over the account balance upon the policyholder’s election to take the income
benefit. The fair value of this derivative is determined based on the present value of expected cash flows. In addition, the
Company has modified coinsurance and funds withheld reinsurance agreements that provide for a return based on a port-
folio of fixed income securities, as such, the agreements contain embedded derivatives. Based on the terms and condi-
tions of the agreements, the Company designates the derivative as either a total return swap or a credit derivative. The
embedded derivative is bifurcated from the funds withheld balance and recorded at fair value.

(g) Total Investments

Investments Available For Sale

Investments that are considered available for sale are carried at fair value. The fair value of investments is based
upon quoted market values where available or by reference to broker or underwriter bid indications. The net unrealized
appreciation or depreciation on investments, net of tax, is included in “accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)”.
Any unrealized depreciation in value considered by management to be other than temporary is charged to income in the
period that it is determined.

Short-term investments comprise investments with a remaining maturity equal to or greater than 90 days but less
than one year. Equity securities include investments in open end mutual funds.

All investment transactions are recorded on a trade date basis. Realized gains and losses on sales of equities and
fixed income investments are determined on the basis of average cost and amortized cost, respectively. Investment income
is recognized when earned and includes interest and dividend income together with the amortization of premium and dis-
count on fixed maturities and short-term investments.

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(f) Derivative Instruments and Weather Derivative Contracts (continued)



XL CAPITAL LTD

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Investment In Affiliates

Investments in which the Company has significant influence over the operations are classified as investments in
affiliates for accounting purposes and are carried under the equity method of accounting. Under this method, the
Company records its proportionate share of income or loss from such investments in its results for the period. Significant
influence is deemed to exist where the Company has an investment of 3% or greater in closed end funds, limited part-
nerships or similar investment vehicles. Significant influence is considered for other strategic investments on a case-by-
case basis. The determination of whether an entity is classified as an affiliate for GAAP accounting purposes may be different
from the determination of whether such entity would constitute an affiliate for any other purposes, including regulatory
purposes. The equity in net income of affiliates is shown separately between equity in net income of insurance and finan-
cial affiliates and equity in net income of investment affiliates. Any decline in value of an affiliate investment considered
by management to be other than temporary is charged to income in the period that it is determined.

Other investments

The Company accounts for its other investments at estimated fair value based on financial information received,
as it has no significant influence over these entities.The net unrealized appreciation or depreciation on investments, net
of tax, is included in “accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss)”. Any unrealized depreciation in value consid-
ered by  management to be other than temporary is charged to income in the period that it is determined.

(h) Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents include fixed interest deposits placed with a maturity of under 90 days when purchased.

(i) Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities of foreign operations whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar are translated at pre-
vailing year end exchange rates. Revenue and expenses of such foreign operations are translated at average exchange rates
during the year. The net effect of the translation adjustments for foreign operations, net of applicable deferred income
taxes, is included in “accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)”.

Other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are revalued at the exchange rate in effect
at the balance sheet date with the resulting foreign exchange gains and losses recognized in income.

(j) Intangible Assets

Identifiable intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
The Company evaluates the recoverability of its intangible assets whenever changes in circumstances warrant. If it is deter-
mined that an impairment exists, the excess of the unamortized balance over the fair value of the intangible asset will be
charged to income at that time.

Intangible assets with an indefinite life and goodwill are no longer amortized with effect from January 1, 2002, in
accordance with FAS 142. The Company continues to review the carrying value of goodwill related to all of its invest-
ments for any impairment at least annually. If it is determined that an impairment exists, the Company adjusts the car-
rying value of goodwill to fair value. The impairment charge is recorded in income in the period in which it is determined.
See Note 5 for further information.

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(g) Total Investments (continued)
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(k) Losses and Loss Expenses

Unpaid losses and loss expenses includes reserves for reported unpaid losses and loss expenses and for losses incurred
but not reported. The reserve for reported unpaid losses and loss expenses for the Company’s general and financial oper-
ations is established by management based on amounts reported from insureds or ceding companies, and represents the
estimated ultimate cost of events or conditions that have been reported to or specifically identified by the Company.

The reserve for losses incurred but not reported is estimated by management based on loss development patterns
determined by reference to the Company’s underwriting practices, the policy form, type of program and historical expe-
rience. The Company’s actuaries employ a variety of generally accepted methodologies to determine estimated ultimate
loss reserves, including the “Bornhuetter-Ferguson incurred loss method” and frequency and severity approaches.

Certain workers’ compensation, long term disability liabilities and financial guarantee case reserve contracts are
considered fixed and determinable and are subject to tabular reserving. Reserves associated with these liabilities are dis-
counted.

Management believes that the reserves for unpaid losses and loss expenses are sufficient to cover losses that fall
within coverages assumed by the Company. However, there can be no assurance that losses will not exceed the
Company’s total reserves. The methodology of estimating loss reserves is periodically reviewed to ensure that the
assumptions made continue to be appropriate and any adjustments resulting there-from are reflected in income of the
year in which the adjustments are made.

(l) Deposit Liabilities

Contracts entered into by the Company with cedants which are not deemed to transfer significant underwriting and/or
timing risk are accounted for as deposits, whereby liabilities are initially recorded at an amount equal to the assets received.
The Company uses a portfolio rate of return of equivalent duration to the liabilities in determining risk transfer. An ini-
tial accretion rate is established based on actuarial estimates whereby the deposit liability is increased to the estimated
amount payable over the term of the contract. The deposit accretion rate is the rate of return required to fund expected
future payment obligations (this is equivalent to the ‘best estimates’ of future cash flows), which are determined actuar-
ially based upon the nature of the underlying indemnifiable losses. Accretion of the liability is recorded as interest expense.
The Company periodically reassesses the estimated ultimate liability. Any changes to this liability are reflected as an adjust-
ment to interest expense to reflect the cumulative effect of the period the contract has been in force, and by an adjust-
ment to the future accretion rate of the liability over the remaining estimated contract term.

Guaranteed investment contracts are initially recorded at an amount equal to the assets received. The Company
may use derivative instruments in order to hedge and reduce the Company’s exposure to fluctuations in interest rates related
to these contracts. Changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are recognized in income. The change in the fair
value of the hedged item, attributable to the hedged risk, is recorded as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged
item and is recognized in income.

(m) Future policy benefit reserves

The Company estimates the present value of future policy benefits related to long duration contracts using assump-
tions for investment yields, mortality, and expenses, including a provision for adverse deviation.

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The assumptions used to determine future policy benefit reserves are best estimate assumptions that are determined
at the inception of the contracts and are locked-in throughout the life of the contract unless a premium deficiency devel-
ops. As the experience on the contracts emerges, the assumptions are reviewed. If such review would produce reserves
in excess of those currently held then the lock-in assumptions will be revised and a claim and policy benefit is recog-
nized at that time.

Certain life insurance and annuity contracts provide the holder with a guarantee that the benefit received upon death
will be no less than a minimum prescribed amount. To the extent the guaranteed minimum death benefit exceeds the cur-
rent account value at the time of death, the Company incurs a cost that is recorded as claims and policy benefits for the
period in which the death occurs.

(n) Income Taxes

The Company utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred
income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The deferral of tax losses is evaluated based
upon management’s estimates of the future profitability of the Company’s taxable entities based on current forecasts and
the period for which losses may be carried forward. A valuation allowance is established for any portion of a deferred
tax asset that management believes will not be realized. The Company continues to evaluate income generated in future
periods by its subsidiaries in jurisdictions in determining the recoverability of its deferred tax asset. If it is determined
that future income generated by these subsidiaries is insufficient to cause the realization of the net operating losses within
a reasonable period, a valuation allowance is established at that time.

(o) Stock Plans

The Company accounts for stock compensation plans in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”, except for stock options granted subsequent to January 1, 2003.
Accordingly, compensation expense for stock awards and stock options issued before January 1, 2003, is recognized
to the extent that the fair value of the stock exceeds the exercise price of the option at the measurement date. Stock options
issued after January 1, 2003 are accounted for in accordance with FAS 123 “Accounting for stock based compensa-
tion” using the fair value based method. See Note 2(r).

(p) Per Share Data

Basic earnings per ordinary share is based on weighted average ordinary shares outstanding and excludes any dilu-
tive effects of options and convertible securities. Diluted earnings per ordinary share assumes the exercise of all dilutive
stock options and conversion of convertible securities where the contingency for conversion has occurred or been satis-
fied.

(q) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair values of investments and derivatives are based on published market values if available, estimates of fair val-
ues of similar issues or estimates of fair values determined by the Company. See Notes 2(e), 2(f), 2(g), 7 and 15 for fur-
ther information.

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(m) Future policy benefit reserves (continued)
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(r) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company has adopted the fair value recognition provisions of FAS 123 “Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation”, using the prospective method allowed under FAS 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation – Transition and Disclosure” for options granted subsequent to January 1, 2003. Prior to 2003, the
Company accounted for options under the disclosure-only provisions of FAS 123 and no stock based employee com-
pensation cost was included in net income as all options granted had an exercise price equal to the market value of the
Company’s ordinary shares on the date of grant. Awards under the Company’s stock plans vest over periods ranging from
three to four years. If the fair value based method had been applied to all awards since the original effective date of FAS
123, the cost related to employee stock based compensation included in the determination of net income would have been
higher. FAS 148 amends FAS 123 by providing alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value-
based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, FAS 148 amends the disclosure require-
ments of FAS 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results.

The following table illustrates the net effect on net income and earnings per ordinary share if the fair value
method had been applied to all outstanding and unvested awards for the three years ended December 31, 2003:

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2003 2002 2001

Net income (loss) available to ordinary shareholders – as reported $371,658 $395,951 $(576,135)

Add: Stock based employee compensation expense included in 

reported net income, net of related tax. 5,590 – –

Deduct: Total stock based employee compensation expense 

determined under fair value based method for all awards 

net of related tax effects (49,473) (54,331) (40,220)

Pro forma net income (loss) available to ordinary shareholders $327,775 $341,620 $(616,355)

Earnings (loss) per ordinary share:

Basic – as reported $ 2.71 $ 2.92 $ (4.55)

Basic – pro forma $ 2.39 $ 2.52 $ (4.87)

Diluted – as reported $ 2.69 $ 2.88 $ (4.55)

Diluted – pro forma $ 2.37 $ 2.49 $ (4.87)

In January 2003, FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 46”). The
objective of FIN 46 is to improve financial reporting by companies involved with variable interest entities. This new model
for consolidation applies to an entity in which either (1) the powers or rights of the equity holders do not give them suf-
ficient decision making ability; (2) the equity investment at risk is insufficient to finance that entity’s activities without
receiving additional subordinated financial support from other parties or (3) the equity investment at risk does not absorb
the expected losses or residual returns of the entity. FIN 46 requires a variable interest entity to be consolidated by the
company that is subject to a majority of the risk of loss from the variable interest entity’s activities or that is entitled to
receive a majority of the entity’s residual returns or both. In December 2003, FASB issued a revision to FIN 46 (FIN 46-
R) which clarified several provisions of FIN 46, superceded the related FASB Staff Positions (FSPs), and amended the
effective date and transition of the pronouncement, except for certain types of entities. The Company is required to apply
the provisions of FIN 46-R to those variable interest entities that are not considered to be special purpose entities no later
than March 31, 2004. The Company must apply the provisions of FIN 46 or FIN 46-R to those entities that are consid-

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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ered to be special-purpose entities as at December 31, 2003. The adoption of this standard did not have a material effect
on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations at at December 31, 2003 and is not expected to have a
material effect at March 31, 2004. See Note 16 for further information.

In April 2003, the FASB cleared Derivative Implementation Guidance Issue No. B36, “Embedded Derivatives:
Modified Coinsurance Arrangements and Debt Instruments That Incorporate Credit Risk Exposures that Are Unrelated
or Only Partially Related to the Creditworthiness of the Obligor under Those Instruments”(“Issue B36”). The account-
ing guidance states that modified coinsurance arrangements, in which funds are withheld by the ceding insurer and a return
on those withheld funds is paid based on the ceding company’s return on certain of its investments, contain an embed-
ded derivative feature that will require bifurcation. This guidance was adopted as of October 1, 2003. The application of
the new guidance did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations.

In July 2003, the Accounting Standards Executive Committee of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants issued Statement of Position (“SOP”) 03-01, “Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises for Certain
Nontraditional Long-Duration Contracts and for Separate Accounts.” AcSEC has developed the SOP to address the evo-
lution of product designs since the issuance of SFAS No. 60, “Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises,” and
SFAS No. 97, “Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises for Certain Long-Duration Contracts and for
Realized Gains and Losses from the Sale of Investments” and the need for interpretive guidance to be developed in three
areas: separate account presentation and valuation; the accounting for sales inducements to contract holders; and the clas-
sification and valuation of certain long-duration contract liabilities. The provisions of the SOP are effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2003, as such, the Company will adopt the SOP effective January 1, 2004. The Company
is currently completing an assessment of the impact of the SOP on its operations; however, the Company does not believe
that the implementation of the SOP will have a material effect on the Company’s financial condition or results of oper-
ations.

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(r) Recent Accounting Pronouncements (continued)
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The Company is organized into three underwriting segments-insurance, reinsurance, and financial products and
services-in addition to a corporate segment that includes the investment and financing operations of the Company. General,
life and annuity, and financial operations are disclosed separately within each segment. General operations include prop-
erty and casualty lines of business. 

One way in which the Company evaluates performance of each segment is based on underwriting results (i.e., under-
writing profit or loss) for general operations, net income from life and annuity operations and contribution from finan-
cial operations. Other items of revenue and expenditure of the Company are not evaluated at the segment level for general
operations. In addition, the Company does not allocate assets by segment for its general operations. Investment assets
related to the Company’s life and annuity, and financial operations are held in separately identified portfolios. Net invest-
ment income from these assets is included in net income from life and annuity operations and contribution from finan-
cial operations, respectively.

Certain lines of business within general operations written by the Company have loss experience generally char-
acterized as low frequency and high severity. This may result in volatility in both the Company’s results and operational
cash flows.

Insurance Operations

General insurance business written includes risk management and specialty lines. Risk management products com-
prise global property and casualty insurance programs for large multinational companies, including umbrella liability,
products recall, integrated risk and primary property and liability coverages. Specialty lines products include the following
lines of business: professional liability, environmental liability, political risk insurance, aviation and satellite, marine and
offshore energy insurance, surety, specie, bloodstock and other insurance including program business.

Reinsurance Operations

Reinsurance general business written includes treaty and facultative reinsurance to primary insurers of casualty
and property risks, principally: general liability; professional liability; accident and health; automobile and workers com-
pensation; commercial and personal property risks; specialty risks including fidelity and surety and ocean marine; prop-
erty catastrophe; property excess of loss; property pro-rata; marine and energy; aviation and satellite; and various other
reinsurance to insurers on a worldwide basis. The Company’s reinsurance life business is primarily European term assur-
ance, group life, critical illness cover, immediate annuities in payment and disability income business.

Financial Products and Services

Financial products and services businesses include insurance, reinsurance and derivative solutions for complex finan-
cial risks. These include financial guaranty insurance and reinsurance, credit enhancement swaps, other collateralized
transactions, weather and energy risk management products and institutional life insurance products. While each of these
is unique and is tailored for the specific needs of the insured or user, they are often multi-year contracts. Due to the nature
of these types of contracts, premium volume as well as underwriting results can vary significantly from period to period.
The financial products and services life business written includes funding agreements, municipal guaranteed reinvest-
ment contracts and highly structured life co/reinsurance transactions.

3. Segment Information
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The following is an analysis of results by segment together with a reconciliation to net income or loss:

Financial

Year Ended December 31, 2003: Products and

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except ratios) Insurance Reinsurance Services Total

General Operations:
Net premiums earned $3,640,330 $2,440,703 $ – $6,081,033
Fee income and other 13,670 25,240 – 38,910
Net losses and loss expenses 2,379,499 2,197,357 – 4,576,856
Acquisition costs 542,149 555,431 – 1,097,580
Operating expenses (1) 412,540 151,332 – 563,872
Exchange gains (7,858) (26,390) – (34,248)
Underwriting profit (loss) $ 327,670 $ (411,787) $ – $ (84,117)

Life and Annuity Operations:

Net premiums earned – $ 664,612 $ 83,883 $ 748,495
Fee income and other – 599 246 845
Claims and policy benefits – 750,663 68,231 818,894
Acquisition costs – 33,090 17,450 50,540
Operating expenses (1) – 9,019 7,866 16,885
Exchange gains – (4,371) – (4,371)
Net investment income – 139,241 28,616 167,857
Interest expense – – 12,168 12,168
Net income from life and annuity operations $ – $ 16,051 $ 7,030 $ 23,081

Financial Operations:

Net premiums earned $139,622 $ 139,622
Fee income and other 1,990 1,990
Net losses and loss expenses 33,750 33,750
Acquisition costs 19,066 19,066
Operating expenses (1) 50,147 50,147
Underwriting profit $ 38,649 $ 38,649
Net investment income, financial guarantee $ 23,273 $ 23,273
Net realized and unrealized gain on weather and 

energy derivatives 1,103 1,103
Operating expenses, weather and energy (1) 21,837 21,837
Equity in net income of financial affiliates 37,108 37,108
Minority interest 11,424 11,424
Net realized and unrealized loss on credit derivatives (25,787) (25,787)
Contribution from financial operations $ 41,085 $ 41,085

3. Segment Information (continued)
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3. Segment Information (continued)

Financial

Year Ended December 31, 2003: Products and

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except ratios) Insurance Reinsurance Services Total

Corporate and other:

Investment income, general operations $588,428
Net realized and unrealized gains on investments and 

investment derivatives (3) 117,337
Equity in net income of investment affiliates 133,902
Equity in net loss of insurance affiliates (42,887)
Interest expense (2) 187,239
Amortization of intangible assets 4,637
Corporate operating expenses 145,085
Minority interest (2,160)
Income tax 30,049
Net income $411,979
Ratios – General operations (4):
Loss and loss expense ratio 65.4% 90.0% 75.3%
Underwriting expense ratio 26.2% 29.0% 27.3%

Combined ratio 91.6% 119.0% 102.6%

(1) Operating expenses exclude corporate operating expenses, shown separately.
(2) Interest expense excludes interest expense related to life and annuity operations shown separately.
(3) This includes net realized gains on investments of $120.2 million and net realized and unrealized losses on 

investment derivatives of $2.9 million.
(4) Ratios are based on net premium earned from general operations excluding fee income and other. The underwriting

expense ratio excludes exchange gains and losses.
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Financial

Year Ended December 31, 2002: Products and

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except ratios) Insurance Reinsurance Services Total

General Operations:

Net premiums earned $2,832,298 $2,066,775 $ – $4,899,073
Fee income and other 36,717 11,201 – 47,918
Net losses and loss expenses 1,771,982 1,557,065 – 3,329,047
Acquisition costs 478,548 454,300 – 932,848
Operating expenses (1) 380,901 109,796 – 490,697
Exchange gains (56,515) (23,787) – (80,302)
Underwriting profit (loss) $ 294,099 $ (19,398) $ – $ 274,701

Life and Annuity Operations:

Life premiums earned $ – $ 980,387 $ 42,605 $1,022,992
Fee income and other – 2 – 2
Claims and policy benefits – 1,027,981 41,475 1,069,456
Acquisition costs – 12,839 – 12,839
Operating expenses (1) – 5,844 404 6,248
Net investment income – 91,451 – 91,451
Net income from life and annuity operations $ – $ 25,176 $ 726 $ 25,902

Financial Operations:

Net premiums earned $ 67,745 $ 67,745
Fee income and other 7,043 7,043
Net losses and loss expenses (1,732) (1,732)
Acquisition costs 9,644 9,644
Operating expenses (1) 43,068 43,068
Exchange losses 8 8
Underwriting profit $ 23,800 $ 23,800
Investment income, financial guarantee $ 25,962 $ 25,962
Net realized and unrealized gain on weather and energy

derivatives 16,607 16,607
Operating expenses, weather and energy (1) 14,875 14,875
Equity in net income of financial affiliates 5,166 5,166
Minority interest 10,424 10,424
Net realized and unrealized loss on credit derivatives (46,137) (46,137)
Contribution from financial operations $ 99 $ 99

3. Segment Information (continued)
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Financial

Year Ended December 31, 2002: Products and

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except ratios) Insurance Reinsurance Services Total

Corporate and other:

Investment income, general operations $ 617,122
Net realized and unrealized losses on investments and

investment derivatives (2) (236,391)
Equity in net income of investment affiliates 64,662
Equity in net loss of insurance affiliates (21,142)
Interest expense 168,086
Amortization of intangible assets 6,187
Corporate operating expenses 119,515
Minority interest 2,947
Income tax expense 22,647
Net income $ 405,571

Ratios – General operations (3):

Loss and loss expense ratio 62.6% 75.3% 68.0%
Underwriting expense ratio 30.3% 27.3% 29.0%

Combined ratio 92.9% 102.6% 97.0%

(1) Operating expenses exclude corporate operating expenses, shown separately.
(2) This includes net realized losses on investments of $214.2 million and net realized and unrealized losses on investment derivatives of $22.2 mil-

lion.
(3) Ratios are based on net premiums earned from general operations, excluding fee income and other. The underwriting expense ratio excludes exchange

gains and losses.

3. Segment Information (continued)
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Financial

Year Ended December 31, 2001: Products and

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except ratios) Insurance Reinsurance Services Total

General Operations:

Net premiums earned $1,700,802 $1,029,618 $ – $ 2,730,420
Fee income and other 18,358 (7,180) – 11,178
Net losses and loss expenses 1,461,304 1,428,772 – 2,890,076
Acquisition costs 343,247 292,069 – 635,316
Operating expenses (1) 200,745 87,169 – 287,914
Exchange losses 8,122 4,062 – 12,184
Underwriting loss $ (294,258) $ (789,634) $ – $(1,083,892)

Life Operations:

Life premiums earned $ — $ 695,595 $ – $ 695,595
Fee income and other — – – –
Claims and policy benefits — 698,675 – 698,675
Net income from life and annuity operations $ — $ (3,080) $ – $ (3,080)

Financial operations:

Net premiums earned $ 37,113 $37,113
Fee income and other 7,069 7,069
Net losses and loss expenses 15,155 15,155
Acquisition costs 3,730 3,730
Operating expenses (1) 30,636 30,636
Underwriting loss $ (5,339) $ (5,339)
Investment income, financial guarantee $ 24,670 $ 24,670
Net realized and unrealized gains on weather and 

energy derivatives 16,556 16,556
Operating expenses, weather and energy (1) 9,916 9,916
Equity in net income of financial affiliates 6,663 6,663
Minority interest 3,333 3,333
Net realized and unrealized gains on credit derivatives (19,426) (19,426)
Contribution from financial operations $ 9,875 $ 9,875

3. Segment Information (continued)
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Financial

Year Ended December 31, 2001: Products and

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except ratios) Insurance Reinsurance Services Total

Corporate and other:
Investment income, general operations $ 585,858
Net realized and unrealized losses on investments and 

investment derivatives (2) (78,599)
Equity in net income of investment affiliates 80,580
Equity in net loss of insurance affiliates (11,963)
Interest expense 113,272
Amortization of intangible assets 58,569
Corporate operating expenses (3) 94,207
Minority interest (1,220)
Income tax benefit (189,914)
Net loss (576,135)

Ratios – General operations (4):
Loss and loss expense ratio 85.9% 138.8% 105.8%
Underwriting expense ratio 32.0% 36.8% 33.9%

Combined ratio 117.9% 175.6% 139.7%

(1) Operating expenses exclude corporate operating expenses, shown separately.
(2) This includes net realized losses on investments of $93.2 million and net realized and unrealized gains on investment derivatives of $14.6 million.
(3) Corporate operating expenses include charges of $14.0 million related to the acquisition of Winterthur International.
(4) Ratios are based on net premiums earned from general operations, excluding fee income and other. The underwriting expense ratio excludes exchange

gains and losses.

3. Segment Information (continued)
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Supplemental Segment and Geographic Information

The following table is an analysis of the Company’s gross premiums written, net premiums written and net pre-
miums earned, by line of business for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001:

Gross Net Net

Year Ended December 31, 2003: Premiums Premiums Premiums

(U.S. dollars in thousands) Written Written Earned

General Operations:
Casualty insurance $2,914,549 $2,121,485 $1,955,787
Casualty reinsurance 1,325,789 1,203,106 971,156
Property catastrophe 355,182 283,273 245,856
Other property 1,837,651 1,254,521 1,266,922
Marine, energy, aviation and satellite 1,276,136 1,017,856 976,232
Accident and health 108,751 72,938 86,519
Other insurance (1) 459,675 298,911 338,611
Other reinsurance (1) 346,347 300,190 239,950

Total general operations 8,624,080 6,552,280 6,081,033
Life and Annuity Operations 768,089 739,869 748,495
Financial Operations 313,916 299,240 139,622
Total $9,706,085 $7,591,389 $6,969,150

Gross Net Net

Year Ended December 31, 2002: Premiums Premiums Premiums

(U.S. dollars in thousands) Written Written Earned

General Operations:
Casualty insurance $2,281,312 $1,606,023 $1,359,161
Casualty reinsurance 1,201,907 1,072,578 792,645
Property catastrophe 336,679 274,633 248,233
Other property 1,776,189 1,265,332 1,133,064
Marine, energy, aviation and satellite 1,101,759 829,929 712,113
Accident and health 137,870 115,181 127,120
Other insurance (1) 577,619 384,418 321,298
Other reinsurance (1) 300,670 223,532 205,439

Total general operations 7,714,005 5,771,626 4,899,073
Life and Annuity Operations 1,072,248 1,023,604 1,022,992
Financial Operations 199,913 177,794 67,745
Total $8,986,166 $6,973,024 $5,989,810

3. Segment Information (continued)
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Gross Net Net

Year Ended December 31, 2001: Premiums Premiums Premiums

(U.S. dollars in thousands) Written Written Earned

General Operations:
Casualty insurance $1,311,538 $ 800,382 $ 779,869
Casualty reinsurance 608,071 444,059 394,825
Property catastrophe 304,506 11,359 85,843
Other property 1,079,764 601,896 606,878
Marine, energy, aviation and satellite 682,172 429,915 392,790
Accident and health 86,430 73,815 83,870
Other insurance (1) 439,534 332,390 272,237
Other reinsurance (1) 119,455 89,228 114,108

Total general operations 4,631,470 2,783,044 2,730,420
Life and Annuity Operations 695,595 695,595 695,595
Financial Operations 94,197 87,327 37,113
Total $5,421,262 $3,565,966 $3,463,128

(1) Other insurance and reinsurance premiums written and earned include political risk, surety, bonding, warranty and other lines.

The following table shows an analysis of the Company’s net premiums written by geographical location of sub-
sidiary where the premium is written for the years ended December 31:

General and financial operations: 2003 2002 2001

Bermuda $1,418,408 $1,419,841 $ 609,705
United States 3,230,825 2,803,523 1,277,668
Europe and other 2,202,287 1,726,056 982,998

Total general and financial operations $6,851,520 $5,949,420 $2,870,371

Life and annuity operations:
Bermuda $83,883 $ 43,779 $ –
Europe and other 655,986 979,825 695,595

Total life and annuity operations $ 739,869 $1,023,604 $ 695,595
Total $7,591,389 $6,973,024 $3,565,966

3. Segment Information (continued)
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Terrorist attacks at the World Trade Center in New York City, in Washington, D.C. and in Pennsylvania on
September 11, 2001 (collectively, “the September 11 event”) are estimated to have caused the largest ever man-made insured
losses for the property and casualty insurance industry. The Company has exposure to this event with claims arising mainly
from its aviation, property, personal accident and business interruption insurance and reinsurance coverages.

During the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company reduced loss reserves by $197.2 million related to the reinsur-
ance segment, primarily aviation lines, due to higher than expected levels of participation (97%) in the September 11 Victims
Compensation Fund, a no-fault compensation scheme funded by the U.S government, which closed on December 22,
2003. This resulted in a reduction in the estimated ultimate losses by the Company for this event and after tax, this resulted
in an increase in net income of approximately $130.0 million.

During the second quarter 2002, the Company increased loss reserves by $200.0 million following the receipt of
updated loss information. Due principally to the complexity of the claims and inherent lag in reporting from insureds
and cedents, management believed it was necessary to increase the estimate for ultimate losses.

During the third quarter 2001, the Company performed a detailed analysis of contracts it believed were exposed
to this event. The process varied between segments, due to the specific nature of each of their operations, and by line of
business. For the insurance lines of business, the Company was able to identify a limited number of relevant contracts
soon after the event. The process included identification of possible claims using underwriting systems to determine poten-
tial exposures on a case-by-case basis. The exposures were then analyzed to determine the exact location and magnitude
of the potential loss.

This process was complicated in the reinsurance operations where the Company is not a direct insurer. Potential
losses on certain business lines were easily estimated, such as aviation and direct property catastrophe. Estimates related
to the retrocessional book of business were more difficult to ascertain due to the inherent nature of determining the effect
from losses arising on the underlying contracts. A net loss of $795.9 million related to the September 11 event was recorded
in the year ended December 31, 2001.

The amount of reinsurance recoveries was calculated in accordance with underlying reinsurance contract terms
and management believes that the credit rating of the relevant reinsurers continues to provide confidence in ultimate recov-
erability of these balances.

The following is an analysis of the impact on the Company’s segments and total results of operations from the
September 11 event for the year ended December 31, 2001:

Year Ended December 31, 2001: 
(U.S. dollars in thousands) Insurance Reinsurance Total

Gross premium written $ – $ 147,900 $ 147,900
Reinsurance ceded 25,300 340,400 365,700
Net premiums earned (25,300) (120,400) (145,700)
Net losses and loss expenses 317,850 442,150 760,000

Underwriting loss $(343,150) $(562,550) $(905,700)

Equity in net loss of affiliates (27,000)
Income tax benefit 136,760
Net loss $(795,940)

4. The September 11 Event
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Premiums written, ceded and earned related to reinstatement and adjustment premiums that are typically received
and paid when a catastrophic event occurs. The premium is paid to reinstate coverage for the remaining life of the contract.

At December 31, 2003, net losses and loss expenses comprise gross claims of $1.9 billion with estimated reinsurance
recoveries of $1.2 billion, both excluding Winterthur International. Winterthur International incurred gross losses of $272.0
million related to the September 11 event, which the Company expects to recover from third-party reinsurers or under
the net loss reserve seasoning mechanism in the Sale and Purchase Agreement (defined in Note 6 (b)), or a combination
of the two. These losses related to business written by Winterthur International prior to July 1, 2001.

The Company has paid approximately 50% of its estimated ultimate net losses related to the September 11 event
as at December 31, 2003.

5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

FASB issued FAS 141, “Business Combinations,” and FAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” in July
2001. FAS 141 addresses financial accounting and reporting for the acquisition of other companies and is applicable for
new transactions effective after June 30, 2001. For previous transactions, this standard is effective for fiscal years begin-
ning after December 15, 2001. FAS 142 addresses financial accounting and reporting for goodwill and other intangible
assets both upon acquisition and after these assets have initially been recognized in the financial statements. Adoption
of FAS 142 has resulted in the Company ceasing to amortize goodwill and certain intangible assets.

The Company assessed the carrying value of goodwill as of June 30, 2002 and 2003 as part of its annual process
in accordance with FAS 142 and at both those times determined that goodwill assets were unimpaired. The Company
continues to review the carrying value of goodwill related to all of its investments. As further information becomes avail-
able, the Company will adjust the carrying value of goodwill as appropriate.

The following is the pro forma effect on net income available to ordinary shareholders and earnings per ordinary
share for the years ended December 31, 2001 had FAS 142 been effective January 1, 2001 as compared to the reported
net income and earnings per ordinary share for the years ended December 31, 2001:
Year Ended December 31
(U.S. dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2003 2002 2001

Net income (loss):
Net income (loss) available to ordinary shareholders $371,658 $395,951 $(576,135)
Goodwill amortization – – 57,426

Adjusted net income (loss) available to ordinary shareholders $371,658 $395,951 $(518,709)

Basic earnings per ordinary share:
Basic earnings (loss) per ordinary share $2.71 $2.92 $(4.55)
Goodwill amortization – – 0.45

Adjusted basic earnings (loss) per ordinary share $2.71 $2.92 $(4.10)

Diluted earnings per ordinary share:
Diluted earnings (loss) per ordinary share $2.69 $2.88 $(4.55)
Goodwill amortization – – 0.45

Adjusted diluted earnings (loss) per ordinary share $2.69 $2.88 $(4.10)

4. The September 11 Event (continued)
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The following table shows an analysis of intangible assets broken down between goodwill, intangible assets with
an indefinite life and intangible assets with a definite life for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001:

Intangible Intangible

assets with an assets with a 

(U.S. dollars in thousands) Goodwill indefinite life definite life Total

Balance at December 31, 2000 $1,584,548 $ 1,215 $ 5,345 $1,591,108
Additions 40,476 26,428 17,500 84,404
Amortization (56,388) (537) (1,644) (58,569)

Balance at December 31, 2001 $1,568,636 $27,106 $21,201 $1,616,943
Additions 25,649 8,671 8,624 42,944
Amortization – – (6,187) (6,187)

Balance at December 31, 2002 $1,594,285 $35,777 $23,638 $1,653,700
Additions 180,499 – 15,945 196,444
Amortization – – (4,637) (4,637)

Balance at December 31, 2003 $1,774,784 $35,777 $34,946 $1,845,507

The increase in goodwill in 2003 related primarily to the settlement of the purchase price for Winterthur International
(see note 6(b)). As at December 31, 2003 goodwill and intangible assets related to the insurance segment was $455.5
million, the reinsurance segment was $1.4 billion and the financial products and services segment was $4.6 million.

6. Business Combinations

(a) Le Mans Ré

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company consolidated its investment in Le Mans Ré after increasing its ownership
from 49% to 67% in order to expand its international reinsurance operations. Le Mans Ré underwrites a worldwide port-
folio comprising most classes of property and casualty reinsurance business, together with a selective portfolio of life
reinsurance business. On September 3, 2003, the Company exercised its option to buy the remaining 33% ownership from
Les Mutuelles du Mans Assurances Group (“MMA”) for approximately $161 million in cash and changed the name of
Le Mans Ré to XL Re Europe. Due to certain contractual arrangements between the Company and MMA, MMA did
not have any economic interest in the earnings of XL Re Europe with effect from January 1, 2002 and accordingly, no
minority interest has been recorded since that date.

The cost of the acquisition for the increase in ownership from 49% to 67% in 2002 was approximately $188.5 mil-
lion. Goodwill arising from the acquisition was approximately $52.6 million. The Company recognized goodwill in excess
of the fair value of XL Re Europe’s net assets to increase its European franchise for its reinsurance operations. Cash paid,
net of cash acquired, was $45.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2002.

Pro forma financial information and condensed balance sheet information are not presented for the acquisition of
XL Re Europe because the results of XL Re Europe’s operations are not significant to the consolidated balance sheet or
consolidated results of operations of the Company.

5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets (continued)
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(b) Winterthur International

On July 25, 2001, the Company completed the acquisition of certain Winterthur International insurance operations
(“Winterthur International”) primarily to extend its predominantly North American based large corporate insurance busi-
ness globally. The Company provisionally paid to the Seller $405.6 million at closing for Winterthur International based
on the audited U.S. GAAP financial statements of the acquired Winterthur International operations as at December 31,
2000 and the price was subject to final determination based on the audited U.S. GAAP financial statements of the acquired
Winterthur International operations as at June 30, 2001 (the “Completion Financials”). In December 2003, the Company
reached an agreement with the Seller as to the final purchase price, which was $330.2 million. As a result, $75.4 million
in cash was returned to the Company.

In connection with the acquisition, under the Sale and Purchase Agreement (“SPA”), the Company has post-clos-
ing protection with respect to adverse development of loss and unearned premium reserves related to Winterthur
International. This protection is based upon actual net loss experience and development over a three-year post-closing
seasoning period based on loss development experience, collectible reinsurance, reinsurance recoveries and certain other
factors set forth in the SPA. At December 31, 2003, included in unpaid losses and loss expenses recoverable, is an unse-
cured reinsurance recoverable from the seller of $740.9 million based on provisions of the SPA. The amount of this recov-
erable remains subject to change pending expiration of the three-year seasoning period due to close on June 30, 2004.

The SPA provides for independent actuarial determination should the Seller and the Company disagree on the final
amounts due thereunder. The Company may recognize an impairment if the amount determined to be due to the
Company is less than the carrying value of the SPA recovery balance deemed due from the Seller or to the extent that
any amount proves to be uncollectible from the Seller for any reason. Certain Winterthur International businesses and
product lines were not acquired, primarily asbestos liabilities, certain insurance liabilities in respect of 1985 and prior
years, certain captive management, alternative risk and life insurance business.

The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting and, therefore, the identifiable assets
and liabilities of Winterthur International were recorded at their estimated fair value on June 30, 2001. The process of
determining the fair value of such assets and liabilities acquired, as required under purchase accounting, included man-
agement’s estimates and independent valuations. The purchase price was preliminarily allocated to the acquired assets
and liabilities based upon their estimated fair value at June 30, 2001. The excess of the purchase price over acquired tan-
gible net assets was then applied to intangible assets with finite and indefinite lives. With the settlement of the final pur-
chase price in December 2003, the Company has finalized its allocation of the purchase price to the fair value of the acquired
tangible net assets based on additional information now available. This information primarily related to loss reserves, adjust-
ment and reinstatement premiums, reinsurance balances payable and receivable and other assets and liabilities. Once the
final excess purchase price was known, the Company amended the amount attributed to goodwill by $171.0 million. This
settlement of the purchase price and related adjustments represents the completion of the Company’s allocations to the
fair value of net assets. Any subsequent adjustments to the carrying value will be reflected in income in the year in which
the adjustments are made.

6. Business Combinations (continued)
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(b) Winterthur International (continued)

The revised fair value of significant assets and liabilities acquired by the Company includes $89.4 million of cash,
$2.2 billion of invested assets, $1.3 billion of premiums receivable, $1.5 billion of unpaid losses and loss expenses recov-
erable, $2.8 billion of unpaid losses and loss expenses, $885 million of unearned premiums and $506 million of rein-
surance balances payable. The contractual post-closing protection is considered in these fair value estimates.

Allocation of the purchase price is as follows:

(U.S. dollars in thousands)

Fair value of assets acquired $5,011,162
Fair value of liabilities acquired 4,873,327

Fair value of tangible net assets acquired $ 137,835
Fair value of intangible assets acquired 29,800
Goodwill related to the acquisition 185,023

$ 352,658

Revised purchase price $ 330,158
Other costs of acquisition 22,500

$ 352,658

The Company recognized goodwill in excess of the fair value of the net assets of Winterthur International opera-
tions to increase its global platform for its insurance operations.

The Company estimated the total value of intangible assets acquired at $29.8 million, including $14.7 million for
insurance licenses and sales force, which have an indefinite life and are not therefore subject to amortization. The remain-
ing $15.1 million relates to the value of business in force, which is estimated to have a finite life of up to five years and
is being amortized over that period.

(c) Lyndon Life Insurance Company

In the first quarter of 2002, the Company acquired Lyndon Life Insurance Company, a shell company licensed to
conduct life insurance business in forty-nine U.S. states, for the purpose of obtaining licenses for the Company’s life oper-
ations. The cost of the acquisition was $13.5 million, paid in cash in April 2002, and intangible assets arising from the
acquisition were $3.5 million. No goodwill was recorded on this acquisition. Lyndon Life Insurance Company has been
renamed XL Life Insurance and Annuity Company.

(d) The London Assurance Company of America, Inc.

In the first quarter of 2001, the Company acquired The London Assurance Company of America, Inc., a shell com-
pany licensed in forty-five U.S. states, for the purpose of obtaining licenses for the financial guaranty operations of the
Company. The cost of the acquisition less cash acquired was $16.5 million. Intangible assets related to the licenses was
$11.2 million.

6. Business Combinations (continued)
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7. Investments

Net investment income is derived from the following sources:

Year Ended December 31
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Fixed maturities, short-term investments and cash equivalents $ 800,996 $ 741,277 $ 623,399
Equity securities 15,275 17,102 9,646

Total gross investment income 816,271 758,379 633,045
Investment expenses 36,713 23,844 22,517
Net investment income $ 779,558 $ 734,535 $ 610,528

The following represents an analysis of net realized gains (losses) and the change in unrealized appreciation on
investments:

Year Ended December 31
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Net realized gains (losses):
Fixed maturities and short-term investments:

Gross realized gains $ 451,967 $ 448,923 $ 343,564
Gross realized losses (344,831) (526,276) (373,651)

Net realized gains (losses) 107,136 (77,353) (30,087)
Equity securities:

Gross realized gains 183,705 52,729 126,853
Gross realized losses (162,556) (160,126) (140,864)

Net realized gains (losses) 21,149 (107,397) (14,011)
Write down of other investments (see Note 9) (8,090) (29,413) (49,139)
Net realized gain on sale of investment in affiliate – 3 –

Net realized gains (losses) on investments 120,195 (214,160) (93,237)
Net realized and unrealized (losses) gains

on investment derivative instruments (2,858) (22,231) 14,638

Change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation):
Fixed maturities and short-term investments 162,006 478,560 (17,288)
Equity securities 196,705 (59,082) (69,305)
Deferred gains (losses) on forward contracts 7,907 (3,074) 10,281
Investment portfolio of insurance affiliates (3,418) (6,623) 1,268
Change in deferred income tax liability 20,111 (19,074) 4,040

Net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation)
on investments 383,311 390,707 (71,004)

Total net realized gains (losses) and change in
unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investments $ 500,648 $ 154,316 $(149,603)
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Net realized gains and losses in 2003 and 2002 included a loss of $130.7 million and $251.5 million, respectively,
relating to certain fixed income, equity securities and other investments where the Company determined that there was
an other than temporary decline in the value of those investments.

The total amount of an other than temporary decline in value in 2003 related to $68.4 million on fixed income secu-
rities, $54.2 million on equity securities and $8.1 million on other investments. Of the decline in value of fixed income
and equity securities considered to be other than temporary in 2003, approximately 12% related to investments in the
communications sector.

The total amount of an other than temporary decline in value in 2002 related to $144.3 million on fixed income
securities, $77.8 million on equity securities and $29.4 million on other investments. Of the decline in value of fixed income
and equity securities considered to be other than temporary in 2002, approximately 44% was due to investments in the
communications sector. The total amount of an other than temporary decline in value in 2001 related to $66.4 million
on fixed income and equity investments and $49.1 million on other investments.

The general economy in the United States and the investment markets improved in 2003 relative to 2002. For exam-
ple, Moody’s Investor Service (“Moody’s”) reported that 77 issuers defaulted in 2003 as compared with 141 issuers in
2002. The Company experienced a reduction in the amount of write downs for securities with declines in value deemed
to be other than temporary that was proportional with these figures. The write downs for 2003 occurred mainly in the
first half of the year which was consistent with Moody’s monthly default statistics. As a percentage of the total fixed income
portfolio, the write down for other than temporary declines was 0.6% in 2003 as compared with 1.4% in 2002 and 1%
in 2001.

The cost (amortized cost for fixed maturities and short-term investments), market value, gross unrealized gains and
gross unrealized (losses) of investments are as follows:

Cost or Gross Gross

December 31, 2003 Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Market

(U.S. dollars in thousands) Cost Gains Losses Value

Fixed maturities
U.S. Government and Government agency $ 3,504,403 $ 24,827 $ (35,387) $ 3,493,843
Corporate 10,020,934 377,167 (61,189) 10,336,912
Mortgage-backed securities 2,449,328 45,218 (13,325) 2,481,221
U.S. States and political subdivisions of the States 37,312 1,455 (45) 38,722
Non-U.S. Sovereign Government 2,978,693 173,782 (8,817) 3,143,658

Total fixed maturities $18,990,670 $622,449 $(118,763) $19,494,356

Short-term investments:
U.S. Government and Government agency $ 343,611 $287 $ (111) $ 343,787
Corporate 273,572 100 (84) 273,588
Non-U.S. Sovereign Government 79,615 1,558 (1,098) 80,075

Total short-term investments $ 696,798 $ 1,945 $ (1,293) $ 697,450
Total equity securities $ 473,112 $116,568 $ (6,230) $ 583,450

7. Investments (continued)
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Cost or Gross Gross

December 31, 2002 Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Market

(U.S. dollars in thousands) Cost Gains Losses Value

Fixed maturities:
U.S. Government and Government agency $ 2,065,806 $ 63,081 $ (2,314) $ 2,126,573
Corporate 6,268,599 295,578 (120,067) 6,444,110
Mortgage-backed securities 3,845,050 63,040 (10,885) 3,897,205
U.S. States and political subdivisions of the States 10,368 897 – 11,265
Non-U.S. Sovereign Government 1,928,704 80,391 (5,601) 2,003,494

Total fixed maturities $14,118,527 $502,987 $(138,867) $14,482,647

Short-term investments:
U.S. Government and Government agency $ 705,122 $ 286 $ (111) $ 705,297
Corporate 205,218 2,130 (1,868) 205,480
Non-U.S. Sovereign Government 90,839 1,558 (1,098) 91,299

Total short-term investments $ 1,001,179 $ 3,974 $ (3,077) $ 1,002,076
Total equity securities $ 661,377 $ 503 $ (86,870) $ 575,010

At December 31, 2003, there was $120.0 million of gross unrealized losses on fixed income and short-term invest-
ments, and $ 6.2 million of gross unrealized losses on equity securities. At December 31, 2002, there was $141.9 mil-
lion of gross unrealized losses on fixed income and short-term investments and $86.9 million of gross unrealized losses
on equity securities. These losses include certain securities below investment grade. At December 31, 2003, approximately
5.4% of the Company’s fixed income investment portfolio was invested in securities which were below investment grade.
Approximately 7.7% of the unrealized losses in the Company’s fixed income securities portfolio at December 31, 2003
related to securities that were below investment grade and 1.1% of securities were in an unrealized loss position that were
not rated.

The information shown below about the unrealized losses on the Company’s investments at December 31, 2003
concerns the potential affect upon future earnings and financial position should management later conclude that some
of the current declines in the fair value of these investments are other than temporary declines.

7. Investments (continued)
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The following is an analysis of how long each of those securities at December 31, 2003 had been in a continual
unrealized loss position:

Equal to or greater 

Less than 12 months than 12 months

Gross Gross

December 31, 2003 Unrealized Unrealized

(U.S. dollars in thousands) Market Value Losses Market Value Losses

Fixed maturities
U.S. Government and Government agency $1,713,134 $ 37,998 $ 36 $ 4
Corporate 2,841,269 55,672 79,542 3,774
Mortgage-backed securities 792,787 12,666 15,341 210
U.S. States and political subdivisions of the States 12,392 173 – –
Non-U.S. Sovereign Government 767,264 7,359 14,179 907

Total fixed maturities $6,126,846 $113,868 $109,098 $4,895

Short-term investments:
U.S. Government and Government agency $ 35,091 $ 34 $ – $ –
Corporate 86,265 1,010 – –
Non-U.S. Sovereign Government 6,538 249 – –

Total short-term investments $ 127,894 $ 1,293 $ – $ –
Total equity securities $ 72,517 $ 5,741 $ 8,803 $ 489

The contractual maturities of fixed maturity securities are shown below. Actual maturities may differ from con-
tractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment
penalties.

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002

Amortized Market Amortized Market

(U.S. dollars in thousands) Cost Value Cost Value

Due after 1 through 5 years $ 6,339,218 $ 6,521,381 $ 2,811,975 $ 2,877,333
Due after 5 through 10 years 4,607,849 4,759,896 2,922,345 2,993,156
Due after 10 years 5,594,275 5,731,858 4,539,157 4,714,953
Mortgage-backed securities 2,449,328 2,481,221 3,845,050 3,897,205

$18,990,670 $19,494,356 $14,118,527 $14,482,647

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, approximately $322.4 million and $242.1 million, respectively, of securities were
on deposit with various U.S. state or government insurance departments in order to comply with relevant insurance reg-
ulations.

The Company has two facilities available for the issue of letters of credit collateralized against the Company’s invest-
ment portfolio with a value of $291.7 million at December 31, 2003 and $243.9 million at December 31, 2002. At December
31, 2003 and 2002, approximately $234.4 million and $160.0 million, respectively, of letters of credit were issued and
outstanding under these facilities.

7. Investments (continued)
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The Company’s investment in affiliates and equity in net income (loss) from such affiliates are summarized
below:

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002 December 31, 2001

Equity in Equity in Equity in

Net Income Net Income Net Income

Carrying (Loss) for Carrying (Loss) for Carrying (Loss) for

(U.S. dollars in thousands) Value the Year Value the Year Value the Year

Investment funds and related 
investment management
companies $1,713,460 $133,902 $1,556,016 $64,662 $ 874,075 $ 80,580

Financial affiliates 144,652 37,108 110,835 5,165 40,089 6,663
Insurance affiliates 45,229 (42,887) 83,154 (21,141) 199,180 (11,963)

$1,903,341 $128,123 $1,750,005 $48,686 $1,113,344 $ 75,280

The Company has invested in certain closed end funds, certain limited partnerships and similar investment vehi-
cles, including funds managed by certain of these investment managers (the “alternative investment portfolio”). The Company
has made minority investments ranging from 20% to 33% in several investment managers for which the Company paid
a total of $142.0 million. The significant investments include Highfields Capital Management LP, a global equity invest-
ment firm, Pareto Partners L.P., a currency overlay and fixed income manager, MKP Capital Management, a fixed income
investment manager, specializing in mortgage-backed securities, FrontPoint Partners LLC, an integrated alternative asset
firm and Stanfield Capital Partners, a credit based asset management firm.  At December 31, 2003, the alternative invest-
ment portfolio was $1.4 billion.

The Company’s significant financial affiliate investments at December 31, 2003 included Primus Guaranty, Ltd.
and FSA International with ownership in those entities of 43.0% and 20.0% respectively.

The Company’s insurance affiliate investments at December 31, 2003 included Sovereign Risk Insurance,American
Strategic Holdings, Sunshine State, and Special Risks Insurance and Reinsurance with ownership in those entities at 49%,
35%,21%, and 18%, respectively.

In certain investments, the carrying value is different from the share of the investee’s underlying net assets. The
difference represents goodwill on acquisition. Adoption of FAS 142 with effect from January 1, 2002 has resulted in the
Company ceasing to amortize goodwill and certain intangible assets.

See Note 18(c) for further information.

The equity in net loss of insurance affiliates in 2003 included an other than temporary decline of $40.9 million in
the first quarter of 2003 in the value of the Company’s investment in Annuity & Life Re (Holdings), Ltd. (“ANR”). The
investment was written down to its fair market value. In the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company wrote down $13.3 mil-
lion of its investment in ANR due to a significant decline in the book value of ANR.

8. Investments in Affiliates
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Other investments include investments over which the Company does not have significant influence and whose
fair value is generally unquoted. This includes investments in limited partnerships where the Company does not partic-
ipate in the management of the partnerships, and investments in collateralized debt/equity instruments. Income from other
investments was $0.7 million and $0.04 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

See Note 18(b) for further information.

The Company regularly reviews the performance of these other investments.

The Company recorded losses of $8.1 million and $29.4 million in the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively, due to other than temporary declines in values of these investments.

10. Losses and Loss Expenses

Unpaid losses and loss expenses for the Company’s general and financial operations are comprised of:

Year Ended December 31
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Reserve for reported losses and loss expenses $ 8,394,342 $ 7,684,716 $ 7,305,629
Reserve for losses incurred but not reported 8,164,446 5,518,020 4,501,116
Unpaid losses and loss expenses $16,558,788 $13,202,736 $11,806,745

Net losses and loss expenses incurred for general and financial operations are comprised of:

Year Ended December 31
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Loss and loss expenses payments $ 3,856,635 $ 4,065,857 $ 2,651,566
Change in unpaid losses and loss expenses 2,647,140 659,621 3,249,382
Reinsurance recoveries (1,893,169) (1,398,163) (2,995,717)
Net losses and loss expenses incurred $ 4,610,606 $ 3,327,315 $ 2,905,231

9. Other Investments
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The following table represents an analysis of paid and unpaid losses and loss expenses incurred and a reconcilia-
tion of the beginning and ending unpaid losses and loss expenses for the years indicated:

Year Ended December 31
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Unpaid losses and loss expenses at beginning of year $13,202,736 $11,806,745 $ 5,667,833
Unpaid losses and loss expenses recoverable (4,807,317) (4,633,693) (1,339,767)

Net unpaid losses and loss expenses at beginning of year 8,395,419 7,173,052 4,328,066

Increase (decrease) in net losses and loss expenses incurred in respect 
of losses occurring in:
Current year 3,673,321 2,927,297 2,729,427
Prior years 937,285 400,018 175,804

Total net incurred losses and loss expenses 4,610,606 3,327,315 2,905,231
Exchange rate effects 394,121 552,173 60,618
Net loss reserves acquired 199,164 189,710 1,696,562

Less net losses and loss expenses paid in respect of losses occurring in:
Current year 291,104 836,102 633,141
Prior years 2,525,828 2,010,729 1,184,284

Total net paid losses 2,816,932 2,846,831 1,817,425
Net unpaid losses and loss expenses at end of year 10,782,378 8,395,419 7,173,052
Unpaid losses and loss expenses recoverable 5,776,410 4,807,317 4,633,693
Unpaid losses and loss expenses at end of year $16,558,788 $13,202,736 $11,806,745

Prior year net losses incurred

The following table presents the net adverse (favorable) development of reserves analyzed by each of the
Company’s operating segments:

(U.S. dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Insurance Segment $ 153 $ 28 $ (78)
Reinsurance Segment 799 385 253
Financial Products and Services Segment (15) (13) –
Total $ 937 $ 400 $ (175)

The significant developments in prior loss reserve year estimates for each the years indicated within each of the
Company’s operating segments is discussed below.

Insurance Segment

During 2003, the Company’s net adverse prior year development of $153 million was due primarily to increases
in previously reported case reserves for excess professional liability lines of $143 million for the underwriting years 1997
through 2001. These increases in reported case reserves exceeded the Company’s expected losses based on historical pat-
terns of loss development. Specifically, the increase related to reported case reserves for directors and officers and errors
and omissions coverages. During 2003, there was an increase in the amount of litigation related to certain losses. In addi-

10. Losses and Loss Expenses (continued)
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tion, there was adverse development of $37 million related to environmental business primarily for professional liabil-
ity coverage underwritten in 2000 and 2001 that was offset by favorable development of $27 million primarily in avia-
tion, property, marine and energy coverages.

The Company did not change its methodology or key assumptions used in 2003, 2002 or 2001 to determine ulti-
mate loss reserves for any line of insurance business written.

During 2002, the Company’s net adverse prior year development of $28 million was comprised of an increase in
loss reserves of $73 million relating to the September 11 event that was partially offset by a net decrease in the other reserves
of $45 million.

In 2002, the increase in the estimate of the ultimate losses relating to the September 11 event of $73 million related
primarily to the accident and health business written in the Company’s Lloyd’s operations. The Company had originally
recorded ultimate losses for the September 11 event in the insurance segment of $318 million in 2001 based on man-
agement’s best estimate at that time. This best estimate was based on an analysis which had been performed to attempt
to identify all possible claims and to analyze the magnitude of the potential loss. The increase in the loss reserves occurred
in the second quarter of 2002 after the Company received additional information from policyholders with regard to claims
relating to their insured employee casualties, including estimates of benefits payable under U.S. workers’compensation
statutes.

During 2002, the Company decreased the estimate of other reserves at the beginning of 2002 by a net amount of
$45 million, consisting of a decrease in reserves relating to the excess casualty insurance business of $114 million par-
tially offset by increases in prior year reserves for satellite lines of $30 million and other casualty insurance lines of $39
million. Estimated ultimate loss reserves were reduced for excess casualty insurance based upon lower than expected actual
reported loss experience for business written in years 1997 and prior. A lack of available industry data resulted in more
actuarial judgment being involved in establishing IBNR loss reserves for this line of business in the earlier years.
Estimated loss reserves are then regularly updated to take into account actual claims reported. The adverse development
experienced in the satellite lines was due to several satellite malfunctions that caused an increase in actual reported loss
activity that was greater than expected. The adverse development for the other casualty lines was for business written in
1999 through 2001. In these years, premium rates for casualty business had declined due to competitive market pressures
and in 2002, there was an increase in the size of claims reported that was higher than expected.

During 2001, the net favorable prior year loss development of $78 million related principally to the Company’s
excess casualty insurance business. 2001 favorable development related to business written in 1994 through 1997.
Similar to 2002, favorable development was due primarily to judgment required in establishing reserves for this line of
business due to the lack of industry data available as described above.

There is no assurance that conditions and trends that have affected the development of liabilities in the past will
continue. Accordingly, it may not be appropriate to extrapolate future redundancies or deficiencies based on the
Company’s historical results.

10. Losses and Loss Expenses (continued)
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Reinsurance Segment

The following is an analysis of the net adverse prior year development during each of the three years ended December
31, 2003:

Net
(U.S. dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001

September 11 event reserves $(197) $127 $ –
Other reinsurance reserves 996 258 253
Total net adverse prior year development $ 799 $385 $253

In the fourth quarter 2003, the Company reduced aviation loss reserves related to the September 11 event by $197.0
million. This reduction was due to higher than expected levels of participation (97%) in the State Victim Compensation
Fund, a no-fault compensation scheme funded by the U.S. government which closed on December 22, 2003. This resulted
in a reduction in the estimated ultimate losses by the Company for this event.

During 2003, the Company increased its estimated reserves related to its reinsurance segment (excluding the September
11 event) by $996 million of which approximately $877 million related primarily to the Company’s North American rein-
surance operations for casualty business underwritten during the 1997 through 2001 underwriting years. Of the $877 mil-
lion, $184 million was recorded in the third quarter of 2003 and $663 million in the fourth quarter of 2003 as described
below.

The main lines of business affected by this adverse development included general liability, medical malpractice,
professional and surety lines. As previously noted, the Company’s expected loss development is actuarially determined
based on historical claims analysis and projected trends. Actual reported losses may vary from expected loss develop-
ment from quarter to quarter. Generally, as an underwriting year matures, the level of newly reported claims decreases
and typically, unless the Company receives additional reported claims that are significantly higher or lower than expected,
estimated ultimate loss reserves are not adjusted prior to a full actuarial review. In the third quarter of 2003, the Company
received a significant increase in reported claims that were in excess of the Company’s expected claims development.
In addition, the Company completed an actuarial review for the longer tail lines of this book of business, using data eval-
uated at March 31, 2003. As a result, the Company recorded an increase in loss reserves of $184.0 million in the third
quarter of 2003. This adverse development has been due to several factors - competitive market pressures on pricing dur-
ing these underwriting years caused premium rates for excess casualty business to decline industry wide and there has
been an increase in the number and size of claims reported in recent years as a result of increases in court filings, cor-
porate scandals, rising tort costs and settlement awards.

As a result of this increase in prior period loss reserves in the third quarter of 2003, the Company completed an
extensive claims audit review at the relevant ceding companies in order to obtain information to more accurately deter-
mine an estimate of the ultimate loss reserves for this book of business. The claims audit review included both internal
and external resources, a comprehensive claims audit of the largest and most significant ceding companies, and a review
of loss ratios and reserve analysis procedures. Additional case reserves and potential additional loss exposure were iden-
tified during the review and upon completion of the claims review, the Company recorded a further increase to net loss
reserves of $663.0 million in the fourth quarter of 2003 primarily related to the Company’s North American casualty rein-
surance business written in the 1997 through 2001 underwriting years. This comprised additional case reserves of
$124.0 million and an increase in IBNR reserves of $539.0 million.

10. Losses and Loss Expenses (continued)
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10. Losses and Loss Expenses (continued)

As a result of the new information obtained in the claims audit review, the Company changed its actuarial method-
ology and key assumptions for determining ultimate loss reserves. The Company separately reviewed the historical loss
development of its major cedents using several actuarial methodologies; where the analysis of a cedent’s experience con-
cluded that the experience was worse than the Company’s historical loss development experience, the Company projected
that cedent’s ultimate loss based on the cedent’s own experience. In addition, the Company assumed that the more recent
experience was more indicative of future loss development by selecting development patterns that were based on the most
recent experience rather than on the Company’s or cedent’s longer term historical experience.

Prior year reserves also developed adversely on certain other casualty business written in the 1998 through 2001
underwriting years outside of North America. These exposures were affected by trends similar to those as described above
for the North American casualty reinsurance operations. The casualty exposures underwritten in these entities were much
less than those of the North American operations so the impact on the prior year reserves was relatively smaller.

In the second quarter 2002, the Company increased its estimated loss reserves for the September 11 event by $127
million due primarily to higher than originally estimated business interruption losses and exposure to potential claims
by the Lloyd’s Central Guaranty Fund. The increase followed an analysis of additional new information received from
the Company’s ceding companies with regard to their increased estimates of claims relating to their exposures to the
September 11 event. During 2001, the Company had recorded incurred losses for the September 11 event for its rein-
surance operations of $442 million. Due to the size and complexity of the loss and the time lag in ceding companies report-
ing the information to the Company, establishing reserves for this loss within a short time period was difficult.

The increase in estimate for all other reinsurance reserves in 2002 and 2001 of $258 million and $253 million, respec-
tively, also related principally to losses on business written in 1997 through (and including) 2000 in the Company’s U.S.
casualty reinsurance business and for asbestos losses in years prior to 1985. The increase in 2002 was partially offset by
decreases in estimates for losses related to business written in 1985 through 1996 in these same lines of business. The
increases in 2002 and 2001 were also due to increases in reported claims that were in excess of the Company’s expected
loss development for this business from higher court settlement awards. The Company did not change its methodology
or key assumptions for determining ultimate loss reserves in 2002 or 2001.

The Company has experienced significant adverse development in the casualty reinsurance business for the last
several years and there can be no assurance that conditions and trends that have affected the development of liabilities
in the past will not continue.

Financial Products and Services Segment

The Company commenced writing financial guaranty business in 1998 and had relied entirely upon industry data
to establish reserves until the end of 2001. In 2002, the Company refined its assumptions to take into account its actual
historical loss experience and revised its estimated claim reporting pattern for the IBNR losses that the Company
records during each loss year. The Company uses this expected loss reporting pattern, combined with changes in
reported losses, to determine the prior year development amount. Using this new methodology actual reported loss devel-
opment was less than expected in 2003, resulting in a release of prior period reserves of $15 million. In 2002, reported
losses for this business were also less than expected and with the refinement in assumptions resulted in a decrease in the
estimate of reserves for prior years of $13 million.
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Other loss information

The Company’s net incurred losses and loss expenses included estimates of actual and potential non-recoveries
from reinsurers. As at December 31, 2003 and 2002, the reserve for potential non-recoveries from reinsurers was $108.0
million and $47.3 million, respectively.

Except for certain workers’ compensation and long-term disability liabilities, the Company does not discount its
unpaid losses and loss expenses. The Company utilizes tabular reserving for workers’ compensation and long-term dis-
ability unpaid losses that are considered fixed and determinable, and from January 1, 2003, discounts such losses using
an interest rate of 5% (7% was used in 2002). The interest rate approximates the average yield to maturity on specific
fixed income investments that support these liabilities. The Company decreased the interest rate in 2003 in line with cur-
rent investment yields on this portfolio. The effect of the decrease in the interest rate resulted in an increase in loss reserves
of approximately $35.0 million in 2003. The amount of the discount credit included in net losses and loss expenses incurred
was $22.6 million in 2002. The tabular reserving methodology results in applying uniform and consistent criteria for estab-
lishing expected future indemnity and medical payments (including an explicit factor for inflation) and the use of mor-
tality tables to determine expected payment periods. Tabular unpaid losses and loss expenses, net of 
reinsurance, at December 31, 2003 and 2002 were $538.8 million and $374.5 million, respectively. The related 
discounted unpaid losses and loss expenses were $263.8 million and $151.7 million as of December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

The nature of the Company’s high excess of loss liability and catastrophe business can result in loss payments that
are both irregular and significant. Similarly, adjustments to reserves for individual years can be irregular and significant.
Such adjustments are part of the normal course of business for the Company. Conditions and trends that have affected
development of liability in the past may not continue in the future. Accordingly, it is inappropriate to extrapolate future
redundancies or deficiencies based upon historical experience.

Asbestos and Environmental Related Claims

The Company’s reserving process includes a continuing evaluation of the potential impact on unpaid liabilities from
exposure to asbestos and environmental claims, including related loss adjustment expenses. Liabilities are established
to cover both known and incurred but not reported claims.

A reconciliation of the opening and closing unpaid losses and loss expenses related to asbestos and environmen-
tal exposure claims related to business written prior to 1986 for the years indicated is as follows:

Year Ended December 31
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Net unpaid losses and loss expenses at beginning of year $ 66,130 $ 33,152 $34,747
Net incurred losses and loss expenses (1,000) 35,870 2,016
Less net paid losses and loss expenses 4,605 2,892 3,611

Net decrease in unpaid losses and loss expenses (5,605) (32,978) (1,595)
Net unpaid losses and loss expenses at end of year 60,124 66,130 33,152
Unpaid losses and loss expenses at end of year 86,576 92,167 60,166
Gross unpaid losses and loss expenses at end of year $147,100 $158,297 $93,318

10. Losses and Loss Expenses (continued)
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Incurred but not reported losses, net of reinsurance, included in the above table was $27.0 million in 2003, $33.1
million in 2002 and $8.0 million in 2001. Unpaid losses recoverable are net of potential uncollectible amounts.

The Company utilizes industry standard asbestos and environmental claims models to estimate its ultimate liability
for these exposures.

As of December 31, 2003, the Company had approximately 594 open claim files for potential asbestos exposures
and 490 open claim files for potential environmental exposures on business written prior to 1986. Approximately 43%
in 2003 and 44% of the open claim files for both 2002 and 2001 are due to precautionary claim notices. Precautionary
claim notices are submitted by the ceding companies in order to preserve their right to receive coverage under the rein-
surance contract. Such notices do not contain an incurred loss amount to the Company. The development of the number
of open claim files for potential asbestos and environmental claims is as follows:

Asbestos Environmental
Claims Claims

Total number of claims outstanding at December 31, 2000 374 613
New claims reported in 2001 122 33
Claims resolved in 2001 43 103

Total number of claims outstanding at December 31, 2001 453 543
New claims reported in 2002 117 42
Claims resolved in 2002 33 70

Total number of claims outstanding at December 31, 2002 537 515
New claims reported in 2003 205 49
Claims resolved in 2003 148 74
Total number of claims outstanding at December 31, 2003 594 490

The Company’s exposure to asbestos and environmental claims arises from policies written, both on a proportional
and excess basis, after 1972. The Company discontinued writing policies with these exposures in 1985. Business writ-
ten was across many different policies, each with a relatively small contract limit. The Company’s recently reported asbestos
claims related to both traditional products and premises and operations coverage.

The estimation of loss and loss expense liabilities for asbestos and environmental exposures is subject to much greater
uncertainty than is normally associated with the establishment of liabilities for certain other exposures due to several fac-
tors, including: (i) uncertain legal interpretation and application of insurance and reinsurance coverage and liability; (ii)
the lack of reliability of available historical claims data as an indicator of future claims development; (iii) an uncertain
political climate which may impact, among other areas, the nature and amount of costs for remediating waste sites; and
(iv) the potential of insurers and reinsurers to reach agreements in order to avoid further significant legal costs. Due to
the potential significance of these uncertainties, the Company believes that no meaningful range of loss and loss expense
liabilities beyond recorded reserves can be established. As the Company’s net unpaid loss and loss expense reserves related
to asbestos and environmental exposures are less than 1% of the total net reserves at December 31, 2003, further adverse
development is not expected to be material to the Company’s overall net loss reserves. The Company believes it has made
reasonable provision for its asbestos and environmental exposures and is unaware of any specific issues that would sig-
nificantly affect its estimate for loss and loss expenses.

10. Losses and Loss Expenses (continued)
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The Company utilizes reinsurance and retrocession agreements principally to increase aggregate capacity and to
reduce the risk of loss on business assumed. The Company’s reinsurance and retrocession agreements provide for
recovery of a portion of losses and loss expenses from reinsurers and reinsurance recoverables and are recorded as assets.
The Company is liable if the reinsurers are unable to satisfy their obligations under the agreements. Under the Company’s
reinsurance security policy, reinsurers are generally required to be rated A or better by Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) or,
in the case of Lloyd’s syndicates, S&P “Four Bells” and/or B+ from Moody’s Investor Service. The Company will con-
sider reinsurers that are not rated or do not fall within the above rating categories on a case-by-case basis.

The effect of reinsurance and retrocessional activity on premiums written and earned from general operations is
shown below:

Premiums Written Premiums Earned

Year Ended December 31 Year Ended December 31

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001

Direct $ 5,028,400 $ 4,366,950 $ 2,842,268 $ 4,997,970 $ 3,964,592 $ 2,727,949
Assumed 3,595,680 3,347,055 1,789,202 3,225,416 2,901,516 1,736,258
Ceded (2,071,800) (1,942,379) (1,848,426) (2,142,353) (1,967,035) (1,733,787)
Net $ 6,552,280 $ 5,771,626 $ 2,783,044 $ 6,081,033 $ 4,899,073 $ 2,730,420

The Company recorded reinsurance recoveries on losses and loss expenses incurred of $1.9 billion, $1.4 billion
and $3.0 billion for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The Company is the beneficiary
of letters of credit, trust accounts and funds withheld in the aggregate amount of $1.7 billion at December 31, 2003, col-
lateralizing reinsurance recoverables with respect to certain reinsurers.

The following table presents an analysis of total unpaid losses and loss expenses recoverable between general, life
and annuity, and financial operations for the year ended December 31, 2003:

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 2002

General operations $5,772,881 $4,804,678
Life and annuity operations 3,587 205,338
Financial operations 3,529 2,639
Total unpaid losses and loss expenses recoverable $5,779,997 $5,012,655

Included in unpaid loss and loss expenses recoverable at December 31, 2003 from general operations is an unse-
cured reinsurance recoverable from Winterthur Swiss Insurance Company (currently rated A by Standard and Poor’s)
of $740.9 million related to the acquisition of Winterthur International. Also, of the total unpaid loss and loss expense
recoverable and reinsurance balances receivable at December 31, 2003 of $7.1 billion, approximately $2.2 billion
related to Winterthur International and these recoverable balances are also guaranteed by Winterthur Swiss Insurance
Company. See Note 6(b).

11. Reinsurance
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The Company has entered into certain contracts with cedants that transfer insufficient risk to be accounted for as
insurance or reinsurance transactions. These contracts have been recorded as deposit liabilities and are matched by an
equivalent amount of investments. The Company has investment risk related to its ability to generate sufficient invest-
ment income to enable the total invested assets to cover the payment of the estimated ultimate liability. The Company
establishes an initial accretion rate at inception of the contract, which is reviewed and adjusted periodically based on claims
activity. Guaranteed investment contracts are initially recorded at an amount equal to the assets received. The Company
also has investment risk related to its ability to generate sufficient investment income to enable the total invested assets
to cover the payment of the estimated ultimate liability. The Company establishes an initial accretion rate at inception
of the contract, which is based on the contractual payment schedule.

Total deposit liabilities are comprised of the following:

Year ended December 31,
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 2002

Reinsurance and insurance deposit liabilities $1,746,619 $1,678,649
Guaranteed investment contract deposit liabilities 2,303,715 694,398
Total deposit liabilities $4,050,334 $2,373,047

Interest expense of $105.1 million, $65.9 million and $57.2 million was recorded related to the accretion of deposit
liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

13. Future Policy Benefit Reserves

During 2003 and 2002, the Company entered into long duration contracts that subject the Company to mortality
and morbidity risks and which were accounted for as life premiums earned. Future policy benefit reserves were estab-
lished using appropriate assumptions for investment yields, mortality, and expenses, including a provision for adverse
deviation. The average interest rate used for the determination of the future policy benefits for these contracts was 5.2%
and 5.1% at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Total future policy benefit reserves for the year ended December
31, 2003 and 2002 were $3.2 billion and $2.5 billion, respectively. Substantially all of these reserves relate to closed blocks
of annuities.

14. Notes Payable and Debt and Financing Arrangements

As at December 31, 2003, the Company had bank, letter of credit and loan facilities available from a variety of
sources, including commercial banks, totaling $6.1 billion, (2002: $5.1 billion) of which $1.9 billion (2002: $1.9 billion)
of debt was outstanding. In addition, $2.7 billion (2002: $2.5 billion) of letters of credit were outstanding as at December
31, 2003, 8.7%, (2002: 6.5%) of which were collateralized by the Company’s investment portfolio, supporting U.S. non-
admitted business and the Company’s Lloyd’s Syndicates’ capital requirements.

12. Deposit Liabilities



XL CAPITAL LTD

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

F-103

F-104

X
L

 C
A

P
IT

A
L

A
n

n
u

al R
e

p
o

rt 2
0

0
3

The financing structure at December 31, 2003 was as follows:

Facility In Use/

(U.S. dollars in thousands) Commitment (1) Outstanding (1)

Debt:
364-day Revolver $ 675,000 $ –
7.15% Senior Notes due 2005 99,986 99,986
6.58% Guaranteed Senior Notes due 2011 255,000 255,000
6.50% Guaranteed Senior Notes due 2012 597,441 597,441
Zero Coupon Convertible Debentures due 2021 642,340 642,340
Liquid Yield Option Notes™ due 2021 310,716 310,716

$2,580,483 $1,905,483

Letters of Credit:
8 facilities-total $3,528,652 $2,695,893

(1) “Commitment” and “In Use” data represent December 31, 2003 accreted values.

The financing structure at December 31, 2002 was as follows:

Facility In Use/

(U.S. dollars in thousands) Commitment (1) Outstanding (1)

Debt:
364-day Revolver $ 500,000 $ –
7.15% Senior Notes due 2005 99,979 99,979
6.58% Guaranteed Senior Notes due 2011 255,000 255,000
6.50% Guaranteed Senior Notes due 2012 597,123 597,123
Zero Coupon Convertible Debentures due 2021 625,805 625,805
Liquid Yield Option Notes™ due 2021 300,050 300,050

$2,377,957 $1,877,957

Letters of Credit:
7 facilities-total $2,744,051 $2,462,544

(1) “Commitment” and “In Use” data represent December 31, 2002 accreted values.

There were no borrowings or repayments under the Company’s revolving credit facilities during 2003. During 2002,
borrowings under these facilities were $846.8 million and repayments under the facilities were $600.0 million.

Borrowings in 2002 were used to pay down two 5-year revolvers and for general corporate purposes. The total pre-
tax interest expense on notes and debt outstanding during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 was $94.3 mil-
lion and $102.2 million, respectively. Associated with the Company’s bank and loan commitments are various loan covenants
with which the Company was in compliance throughout the year ended December 31, 2003. These facilities contain var-

14. Notes Payable and Debt and Financing Arrangements (continued)
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14. Notes Payable and Debt and Financing Arrangements (continued)

ious cross default provisions and covenants, including a minimum rating requirement, as further described under “Cross
Defaults and Other Provisions In Debt Documents”.

In January 2003, the Company entered into a new $100.0 million letter of credit facility in order to provide addi-
tional capacity to support the Company’s U.S. non-admitted business. This facility was subsequently increased to
$200.0 million in June 2003 and was fully utilized at December 31, 2003.

In February 2003, the Company entered into an aggregate of $300.0 million of commercial paper-based credit facil-
ities (the “Credit Facilities”). These facilities were increased to $500.0 million in June 2003. The proceeds of advances
under the Credit Facilities were used to fund a trust account to collateralize the reinsurance obligations of the Company.
The Company could face additional obligations under the Credit Facilities prior to the stated maturity of February 25,
2008, if certain events were to occur, including, but not limited to the Company’s insolvency, withdrawal of assets from
the Regulation 114 trust by the ceding company, the downgrade of the Company’s credit ratings below certain specified
levels, or the failure of the agent to have a first priority perfected security interest in the collateral posted by the Company.
At maturity, the Company will be obligated to make payments in an amount equal to the principal and accrued interest
outstanding under the Credit Facilities. The issued securities and the Company’s repayment obligations are recorded as
a net balance on the Company’s balance sheet.

In June 2003, the Company renewed its principal revolving credit and letter of credit facility. The facility was increased
from $2.0 billion to $2.5 billion of which up to $675 million is available as revolving credit and up to $2.3 billion is avail-
able in the form of letters of credit, with the combined total not to exceed $2.5 billion. As at December 31, 2003 approx-
imately $1.6 billion of this facility was in use in the form of letters of credit.

In July 2003, the Company entered into a contingent capital transaction with an aggregate value of $500.0 mil-
lion. This transaction also provides the Company with an insurance trust that provides the Company with statutory relief
under state insurance regulations in the U.S. Under the terms of this facility, the Company has acquired an irrevocable
put option to issue preference ordinary shares into a trust in return for proceeds raised from investors. This put option
may be exercised by the Company at any time. In addition, the Company may be required to issue preference ordinary
shares to the trust under certain circumstances, including, but not limited to, the non-payment of the put option premium
and a ratings downgrade of the Company. In connection with this transaction, the fair value of the put premiums and other
related costs, in total of $109.9 million was charged to “Additional Paid in Capital” and a deferred liability was estab-
lished (included with “Other liabilities”) of $102.5 million in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2003. The
Company began to amortize this liability that resulted in additional interest expense of approximately $2.0 million in 2003
and the liability will continue to be amortized over a ten year term.

In November 2003, the Company renewed its unsecured syndicated letter of credit facility that supports its oper-
ations at Lloyd’s. The renewed facility is denominated in U.K. sterling and was approximately $712 million at December
31, 2003.

In January 2002, the Company issued $600.0 million par value 6.50% Guaranteed Senior Notes due January 2012.
The notes were issued at $99.469 and gross proceeds were $596.8 million. Related expenses of the offering amounted
to $7.9 million. Proceeds of the notes were used to pay down two 5-year revolvers of $350.0 million and for general cor-
porate purposes. These credit facilities were subsequently cancelled.

In April 2001, the Company issued at par $255.0 million of 6.58% Guaranteed Senior Notes due April 2011 through
a private placement to institutional investors. Proceeds of the debt were used for general corporate purposes.
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In May 2001, the Company issued $1,010.8 million principal amount at maturity (subject to potential upward adjust-
ment ) of Zero Coupon Convertible Debentures (“CARZ”) at $593.57 per bond and, unless converted or repaid before
their due date of May 2021, they will be repaid in May 2021 at $1,000 per bond, at a total cost of $1.01 billion. The accre-
tion rate is 2.625% per annum on a semi-annual basis or 2.6422% per annum on an annual basis.

In September 2001, the Company also issued $508.8 million principal amount at maturity (subsequently increased
to $514.6 million under the provisions of the upward interest adjustment described below) of Liquid Yield Option Notes™
(“LYONs”) at an initial price of $565.01 per bond. The LYONs will also be repaid at $1,011.36 each (originally
$1,000.00 each but subsequently increased as a result of the accretion rate adjustment described below), unless converted
or repaid before their due date of September 2021, at a total cost of $514.6 million. The accretion rate on the LYONs
was originally 2.875% per annum on a semi-annual basis or 2.896% per annum on an annual basis. The accretion rate
for the year to September 7, 2004, was increased by 0.645% per annum on a semi-annual basis to 3.52% on a semi-annual
basis and 3.551% per annum on an annual basis as a result of the of the Company’s ordinary share price in the 30-day
period leading up to the second put date in September 2003. The accretion rates will revert to their original rates in September
2004

The Company issued $100.0 million of 7.15% Senior Notes due November 15, 2005 through a public offering at
a price of $99.9 million in 1995.

The Company has several letter of credit facilities provided on a syndicated and bilateral basis from commercial
banks. These facilities are utilized to support non-admitted insurance and reinsurance operations in the U.S. and capital
requirements at Lloyd’s. All of the commercial facilities are scheduled for renewal during 2004. In addition to letters of
credit, the Company has established insurance trusts in the U.S. that provide cedents with statutory relief required under
state insurance regulation in the U.S. It is anticipated that the commercial facilities will be renewed on expiry but such
renewals are subject to the availability of credit from banks utilized by the Company. In the event that such credit sup-
port is insufficient, the Company could be required to provide alternative security to cedents. This could take the form
of additional insurance trusts supported by the Company’s investment portfolio or funds withheld using the Company’s
cash resources. The value of letters of credit required is driven by, among other things, loss development of existing reserves,
the payment pattern of such reserves, the expansion of business written by the Company and the loss experience of such
business.

Although both the CARZ and LYONs are due to be repaid in 2021, there are several features that may result in
the bonds being repaid or converted into the Company’s Class A Ordinary Shares before the redemption date. As these
features include market-driven features and options available to the Company and bondholders, it is not possible to deter-
mine if the bonds will remain outstanding until their scheduled maturity in 2021.

Each of the CARZ and LYONs provide the bondholders the right to require the Company to repurchase the bonds
on predetermined dates (“put” dates) at predetermined values (subsequently increased in the case of the LYONs) as set
forth in the relevant indenture. The remaining put dates for the CARZ occur on May 23 of 2004, 2006, 2008, 2011 and
2016. The remaining put dates for the LYONs occur on September 7 of 2004, 2006, 2008, 2011 and 2016. The Company
may, at its option, pay the repurchase price in cash or Class A ordinary shares or a combination thereof.

In addition, each of the CARZ and LYONs provide for a contingent conversion feature that gives the bondhold-
ers the right to convert the bonds into the Company’s shares at other times during the life of the bonds if the market price
of the Company’s shares is at certain levels. Accordingly, if the Company’s ordinary share price is at least 110% of the
accreted conversion price for at least twenty of the thirty days during the relevant conversion period, the bondholders would

14. Notes Payable and Debt and Financing Arrangements (continued)
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have the right to convert the bonds into ordinary Shares. If converted for ordinary shares, each CARZ would be converted
into 5.9467 ordinary shares and each holder of a LYONs would receive 5.277 ordinary shares. The accreted values would
be determined by applying the accretion rate to the initial issue price. In the example of CARZ, the accreted price on
May 23, 2004 will be $641.88 determined by adding three years’ accretion of 2.6422% per annum on an annual basis
to the original issue price of $593.57.

The holders of each of the CARZ and LYONs also have the right to convert the bonds for ordinary shares in the
event that the trading price of the bonds for a predetermined period falls below 95% of the value of the equivalent num-
ber of ordinary shares, provided however, if the ordinary shares are trading at a predetermined premium to the accreted
price of the bonds, holders may receive cash, ordinary shares or a combination thereof in lieu of ordinary shares upon
conversion.

These bonds also provide for interest rates to be adjusted in the event that the Company’s ordinary share price falls
below levels specified in the relevant indenture relative to the conversion price.

In addition, in the event that the credit ratings assigned to the bonds by S&P fall below BBB+, the bonds would
be convertible into ordinary shares at 5.9467 ordinary shares per CARZ and 5.277 ordinary shares per LYONs. The rat-
ing assigned to the bonds at the time of issue was A+. The ratings were lowered to A by S&P in January 2004. Some
corporate transactions, such as a change of control of the Company, would give the bondholders the right to require the
Company to repurchase the bonds at the accreted value of the bonds at that time.

The bonds become immediately due if an event of default occurs and 25% or more of the bondholders demand
repayment of the accreted value at the time of such event. Such an event of default would include failure to pay amounts
due on the notes, an event of default occurring under the Company’s other credit facilities, or certain other events such
as bankruptcy or insolvency of the Company. Further descriptions of the events of defaults are contained in the inden-
tures and consequences to the Company are described under “Cross Default and Other Provisions in Debt Documents”.

The bonds are also callable as the Company has the right to redeem the bonds for cash, in full or in part, at their
accreted value at any time after May 23, 2004, in the case of the CARZ, and September 7, 2004, in the case of the LYONs.

The puts and the interest rate adjustment features embedded in the CARZ and LYONs are considered derivatives
and are subject to fair value. There is currently minimal value ascribed to the puts, as the contingent events of these fea-
tures are considered unlikely to occur or to the interest rate adjustment feature due to the current trading value of the bonds.
Due to the contingent nature of the conversion features of these debt securities, there is no impact on fully diluted earn-
ings (loss) per ordinary share at this time.

In general, all of the Company’s bank facilities, indentures and other documents relating to the Company’s out-
standing indebtedness (collectively, the “Company’s Debt Documents”), as described above, contain cross default pro-
visions to each other and the Company’s Debt Documents (other than the LYONs, CARZ and 6.5% Guaranteed Senior
Notes indentures) contain affirmative covenants. These covenants provide for, among other things, minimum required
ratings of the Company’s insurance and reinsurance operating subsidiaries (other than its “AAA” financial guaranty com-
panies) and the level of secured indebtedness in the future. In addition, generally each of the Company’s Debt Documents
provide for an event of default in the event of a change of control of the Company or some events involving bankruptcy,
insolvency or reorganization of the Company. The Company’s credit facilities and the 6.58% Guaranteed Senior Notes
also contain minimum consolidated net worth covenants.

14. Notes Payable and Debt and Financing Arrangements (continued)
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Under the Company’s 364-day facility, five-year credit facilities and ten-year private placement notes described
above, in the event that the Company fails to maintain a financial strength rating of at least “A” from A.M. Best or the
Company’s insurance and reinsurance rated operating subsidiaries (other than its “AAA” financial guaranty companies)
fail to maintain a rating of at least “A” from S&P, an event of default would occur. The company currently has an “A+
under review” rating from A.M. Best and “AA–” from S&P.

Each of the LYONs, CARZ and 6.5% Guaranteed Senior Notes indentures contains a cross default provision. In
general, in the event that the Company defaults in the payment of indebtedness in the amount of $50.0 million or more,
an event of default would be triggered under both the LYONs and 6.5% Guaranteed Senior Notes indentures. Under the
CARZ indenture, in the event that the Company defaults in the payment of indebtedness in the amount of $100.0 mil-
lion or more, an event of default would be triggered.

Given that all of the Company’s Debt Documents contain cross default provisions, this may result in all holders
declaring such debt due and payable and an acceleration of all debt due under those documents. If this were to occur,
the Company may not have funds sufficient at that time to repay any or all of such indebtedness.

In addition, the Company’s unsecured Lloyd’s letter of credit facility provides that, in the event that the Company’s
insurance and reinsurance rated operating subsidiaries fall below “A” (as generally measured by the lower of the finan-
cial strength rating from A.M. Best or S&P at any time), the facility would then be required to be fully secured by the
Company, at which time the Company would be required to either (i) provide an amount in cash to cover an amount equal
to the aggregate letters of credit outstanding at that time or (ii) deposit assets in trust securing 105% of the aggregate let-
ters of credit outstanding at that time. If this were to occur, the Company may not be able to provide the collateral required
in order to maintain this facility.

15. Derivative Instruments

The Company enters into derivative instruments for both risk management and trading purposes. The Company
is exposed to potential loss from various market risks, and manages its market risks based on guidelines established by
management. These derivative instruments are carried at fair value with the resulting gains and losses recognized in income
in the period in which they occur.

The following table summarizes these instruments and the effect on net income in the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001:

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Credit derivatives $(25,787) $(46,137) $(19,426)
Weather and energy derivatives 1,103 16,607 16,556
Investment derivatives (2,858) (22,231) 14,638
Net realized and unrealized (losses) gains on derivatives $(27,542) $(51,761) $ 11,768
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(a) Credit Derivatives

The Company enters into credit derivatives in connection with its financial guaranty business and the Company
intends to hold these contracts to maturity. In determining fair value, management differentiates between investment and
non-investment grade exposures and models them separately. Management estimates fair value for investment grade expo-
sures by monitoring changes in credit quality and selecting appropriate market indices to determine credit spread move-
ments over the life of the contracts. The determination of the credit spread movements is the basis for calculating the fair
value. For credit derivatives that are non-investment grade and therefore do not have a readily determinable market value,
the Company uses an alternative fair value methodology. The fair value is determined using a cash flow model devel-
oped by the Company and is dependent upon a number of factors, including changes in interest rates, future default rates,
credit spreads, changes in credit quality, future expected recovery rates and other market factors. Installment premiums
are also considered in the determination of discounted net cash flows. Other elements of the change in fair value are based
upon pricing established at the inception of the contract. Changes in fair value are unrealized as the credit derivatives are
not traded to realize this value.

In order to effectively price and market the transaction, different tranches are modeled for the purpose of assign-
ing credit ratings based upon the level of subordination. Generally, a primary layer is created to enable the originator of
the transaction to participate in the risks. The Company generally participates in senior or higher quality rated tranches
of a risk, but may participate in the primary layer in very limited instances.

The Company fair values transactions related to the primary layers of credit derivatives using a model that calcu-
lates the net present value of the premiums and expected losses based on assumptions regarding interest rates, future default
rates, credit spreads, changes in credit quality, future expected recovery rates and other market factors. The change in
fair value recorded for transactions pertaining to primary layers for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001
was a loss of $28.6 million, a loss of $16.2 million and a gain of $8.1 million, respectively.

Credit derivatives where the Company participates in the higher quality rated tranches are considered, in substance,
financial guaranty transactions as the Company intends to hold them to maturity. The rated tranches are fair valued using
changes in credit spreads to reflect current market conditions. The Company will also consider the characteristics and
credit ratings of the underlying portfolio. The change in fair value recorded for the rated tranches was a gain of $2.8 mil-
lion, a loss of $29.9 million, and a loss of $27.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 respectively.

(b) Weather and Energy Derivatives

Weather and energy derivatives are recorded at fair value, which is determined through the use of quoted market
prices where available. Where quoted market prices are unavailable, the fair values are estimated using available mar-
ket data and internal pricing models based upon consistent statistical methodologies. Estimating fair value of instruments
which do not have quoted market prices requires management’s judgment in determining amounts which could reason-
ably be expected to be received from, or paid to, a third party in settlement of the contracts. The amounts could be mate-
rially different from the amounts that might be realized in an actual sale transaction. Fair values are subject to change in
the near-term and reflect management’s best estimate based on various factors including, but not limited to, actual and
forecasted weather conditions, changes in commodity prices, changes in interest rates and other market factors.

The change in fair value recorded for the weather and energy derivatives was a gain of $1.1 million, $16.6 mil-
lion and $16.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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(c) Investment Derivatives, Including Embedded Derivatives

Foreign Currency Exposure Management

The Company uses foreign exchange contracts to manage its exposure to the effects of fluctuating foreign currencies
on the value of certain of its foreign currency fixed maturities and equity investments. These contracts are not designated
as specific hedges for financial reporting purposes and therefore, realized and unrealized gains and losses on these con-
tracts are recorded in income in the period in which they occur. These contracts generally have maturities of three months
or less. In addition, where the Company’s investment managers believe potential gains exist in a particular currency, a
forward contract may not be entered into. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, forward foreign exchange contracts with notional
principal amounts totaling $193.0 million and $30.2 million, respectively were outstanding. The fair value of these con-
tracts as at December 31, 2003 and 2002 was $189.4 million and $28.6 million, respectively, with unrealized gains of
$3.5 million in 2003 and unrealized losses of $1.6 million in 2002. For the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002,
realized gains of $1.0 million and losses of $3.4 million, respectively, and unrealized gains of $3.3 million and losses of
$0.8 million, respectively, were recorded in net realized and unrealized gains and losses on derivative instruments.

Derivative Financial Instruments – Hedges

The Company is exposed to credit risk in the event of non-performance by the other parties to the forward con-
tracts. The difference between the notional principal amounts and the associated market value is the Company’s maxi-
mum credit exposure.

The Company utilizes a risk management strategy that incorporates the use of derivative financial instruments, pri-
marily to reduce its exposure to interest rate risks associated with guaranteed investment contracts. The Company uses inter-
est rate swaps to convert certain liabilities from a fixed rate to a variable rate of interest (fair value hedge), and to convert
a variable rate of interest from one basis to another (cash flow hedge). The Company formally and contemporaneously
documents all relationships between the hedging instruments and hedged items and links the hedge to specific liabilities.
The Company assesses the effectiveness of the hedge, both at inception and on an on-going basis and determines whether
the hedge is highly effective in offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows of the linked hedged item.

At December 31, 2003, contracts designated as fair value hedges were in a $3.2 million net unrealized gain posi-
tion. As a result of the fair value hedges, deposit liabilities were increased by $3.1 million at December 31, 2003. The
ineffective portion of the hedge amounted to $0.1 million as part of net realized gains. The interest rate swap hedges resulted
in a reduction in interest expense of $2.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2003.

At December 31, 2002, contracts designated as fair value hedges were in a $1.1 million net unrealized gain posi-
tion. As a result of the fair value hedges, deposit liabilities were reduced by $0.74 million at December 31, 2002. The
ineffective portion of the hedge amounted to $0.06 million and the reduction in interest expense as a result of the hedges
amounted to $0.18 million for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Financial Market Exposure

The Company also uses bond and stock index futures to add value to the portfolio where market inefficiencies are
believed to exist, to equitize cash holdings of equity managers and to adjust the duration of a portfolio of fixed income
securities to match the duration of related deposit liabilities. These instruments are marked to market on a daily basis and
changes in fair values are recorded through net realized and unrealized gains and losses on derivative instruments. The
Company measures potential losses in fair values using various statistical techniques.
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Other Investment Derivatives

The Company holds warrants in conjunction with certain of its other investments. These warrants are recorded at
fair value based on quoted market prices. At December 31, 2003, the Company recorded a loss of $3.2 million, and a
loss of $16.7 million for 2002. This related to the change in fair value of these warrants. The primary reason for the loss
in 2003 and 2002 was the decline in fair value of the Mutual Risk Management Ltd warrants of $3.2 million in 2003 and
$11.6 million in 2002.

In 2002, the Company entered into a treasury rate lock agreement with the underwriters of the 6.50% Guaranteed
Senior Notes due 2012 (2001: 6.58% Guaranteed Senior Notes due 2011). The Notes were priced using a margin over
the yield of a U.S. Treasury note with a similar maturity. The treasury rate lock agreement was designed to eliminate under-
lying pricing risk of the Company’s debt that would have resulted from an increase in the yield of the comparable U.S.
Treasury issue between the initiation of the transaction and the pricing of the transaction. The total cost of the hedge was
$4.2 million. In 2001, a loss of $5.6 million was recorded in net realized and unrealized gains and losses related to the
cancellation of the treasury lock agreement relating to the 6.58% notes due 2011 due to the September 11, 2001 event.

16. Variable Interest Entities and Other Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company utilizes variable interest entities both indirectly and directly in the ordinary course of business. The
Company provides various forms of credit enhancement including financial guaranty insurance and reinsurance of struc-
tured transactions backed by pools of assets of specified types, municipal obligations supported by the issuers’ability to
charge fees for specified services or projects, and structured single risk based obligations including essential infrastruc-
ture projects and obligations backed by receivables from future sales of commodities and other specified services. The
obligations related to these transactions are often securitized through variable interest entities. In synthetic transactions
the Company guarantees payment obligations of counterparties including special purpose vehicles under credit deriva-
tives referencing asset portfolios. The Company invests in equity tranches (or similar instruments) of collateralized debt
obligations (“CDOs”), collateralized bond obligations (“CBOs”) and other investment vehicles that are issued through
variable interest entities as part of the Company’s risk asset portfolio.

In 2003, the Company entered into an aggregate of $500.0 million of commercial paper-based credit facilities (the
“Credit Facilities”). The proceeds of advances under the Credit Facilities were used to fund a trust account (“Trust”) to
collateralize the reinsurance obligations of the Company under an intercompany quota share reinsurance agreement. The
issued securities and the Company’s repayment obligations are recorded as a net balance on the Company’s balance sheet
because the Company has a contractual legal right of offset. In the event that in the future the Company were to not have
the right to offset such assets (as, for example, would be the case if the assets in the Trust were withdrawn in order to
satisfy the Company’s reinsurance obligations or if lender-issued securities could not be held in the Trust because they
did not qualify as permitted assets under the trust agreement), then all or a portion of the assets in the Trust and the Company’s
repayment obligations under the Credit Facilities would be required to be included as assets and liabilities on a gross basis,
respectively, on the Company’s balance sheet.

In July 2003, the Company entered into a contingent capital transaction with an aggregate value of $500.0 mil-
lion. This transaction also provides the Company with an insurance trust that provides the Company with statutory relief
under state insurance regulations in the U.S. Under the terms of this facility, the Company has acquired an irrevocable
put option to issue preference ordinary shares into a trust in return for proceeds raised from investors. This put option
may be exercised by the Company at any time. In addition, the Company may be required to issue preference ordinary
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shares to the trust under certain circumstances, including, but not limited to, the non-payment of the put option premium
and a ratings downgrade of the Company.

The Company has an investment in the junior notes of a collateralized debt obligation (“CDO”). The Company
also issued financial guaranties for the senior notes of the CDO. As of December 31, 2003, the CDO had assets of $463.9
million and liabilities of $395.6 million and the Company’s maximum exposure to loss as a result of its financial guar-
anties and investment in this variable interest entity was approximately $412.3 million. The Company could experience
a loss in the event that the cash flows relating to the underlying assets are not collected as expected. The Company is not
the primary beneficiary of this entity and therefore is not required to consolidate this entity.

17. Exposures Under Guaranties

The Company provides and reinsures financial guaranties issued to support public and private borrowing arrange-
ments. Financial guaranties are conditional commitments that guarantee the performance of an obligor to a third party,
typically the timely repayment of principal and interest. The Company’s potential liability in the event of non- payment
by the issuer of the insured obligation is represented by its proportionate share of the aggregate outstanding principal and
interest payable (“insurance in force”) on such insured obligation. In synthetic transactions, the Company guarantees pay-
ment obligations of counterparties under credit derivatives. The future value of installment premiums for such guaran-
tees totaled approximately $467.0 million and $403.9 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002 respectively. The range
of maturity of the insured obligations is one to thirty five years. The Company does not record a carrying value for future
installment premiums as they are recognized over the term of the contract.

The Company manages its exposures to underwriting risk on these transactions through a structured process which
includes but is not limited to detailed credit analysis, review of and adherence to underwriting guidelines and the use of
reinsurance. The Company has also implemented surveillance policies and procedures to monitor its exposure through-
out the life of the transactions. In addition, the structures of the transactions are such that the insured obligation is backed
by a stream of cash flows, pools of assets or some other form of collateral. This collateral would typically become the
Company’s upon the payment of a claim by the Company.
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The following table presents financial guaranty aggregate insured portfolios at December 31, 2003 where the net
par outstanding was $54.2 billion, which includes credit default swap exposures of $9.5 billion. The liability for these
credit derivatives had a carrying value of $131.6 million and $160.3 million at December 31, 2003 and December 31,
2002, respectively.

Net Par

Outstanding % of Total

Credit Quality:
AAA $13,790 25.4%
AA 6,364 11.7%
A 17,406 32.2%
BBB 16,110 29.7%
BB and below 535 1.0%
Total $54,205 100.0%

Net Par

Outstanding % of Total

Geographic:
United States $44,697 82.5%
United Kingdom 1,717 3.2%
Brazil 1,309 2.4%
Mexico 823 1.5%
Other (1) 4,516 8.3%
International (2) 1,143 2.1%
Total $54,205 100.0%

(1) Other includes Canada, France, Germany, Korea, Chile,Australia, Japan, Portugal, El Salvador, Jamaica, Panama, Costa Rica, Qatar, New Zealand
and Spain.

(2) International includes multi-country transactions where there is no majority exposure to any single country.

Net Par

Outstanding % of Total

Sector Allocation:
Collateralized Debt Obligations $13,083 24.1%
Consumer Assets 7,843 14.5%
Public Finance 20,194 37.2%
Other Single Risk 6,805 12.6%
Other Structured Finance 1,695 3.1%
Commercial Assets 4,585 8.5%
Total $54,205 100.0%
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(a) Concentrations of Credit Risk

The creditworthiness of a counterparty is evaluated by the Company, taking into account credit ratings assigned
by rating agencies. The credit approval process involves an assessment of factors including, among others, the counter-
party, country and industry credit exposure limits. Collateral may be required, at the discretion of the Company, on cer-
tain transactions based on the creditworthiness of the counterparty.

The areas where significant concentrations of credit risk may exist include unpaid losses and loss expenses recov-
erable and reinsurance balances receivable (collectively “reinsurance assets”), investments and cash and cash equivalent
balances. The Company’s reinsurance assets at December 31, 2003 amounted to $7.2 billion and resulted from reinsur-
ance arrangements in the course of its operations. A credit exposure exists with respect to reinsurance assets as they may
be uncollectible. The Company manages its credit risk in its reinsurance relationships by transacting with reinsurers that
it considers financially sound, and if necessary, the Company may hold collateral in the form of funds, trust accounts
and/or irrevocable letters of credit. This collateral can be drawn on for amounts that remain unpaid beyond specified time
periods on an individual reinsurer basis.

In addition, the Company underwrites a significant amount of its general insurance and reinsurance business through
brokers and a credit risk exists should any of these brokers be unable to fulfill their contractual obligations with respect
to the payments of insurance and reinsurance balances to the Company. During 2003, 2002 and 2001, approximately 24%,
23% and 23%, respectively, of the Company’s consolidated gross written premiums from general operations were gen-
erated from or placed by Marsh & McLennan Companies. During 2003, 2002 and 2001, approximately 17%, 17% and
16%, respectively, of the Company’s consolidated gross written premiums from general operations were generated from
or placed by AON Corporation and its subsidiaries. Both of these companies are large, well established companies and
there are no indications that either of them is financially troubled. No other broker and no one insured or reinsured accounted
for more than 10% of gross premiums written from general operations in each of the three years ended December 31,
2003.

The Company’s available for sale investment portfolio is managed by external managers in accordance with guide-
lines that have been tailored to meet specific investment strategies, including standards of diversification, which limit the
allowable holdings of any single issue. The Company did not have an aggregate investment in a single entity, other than
the U.S. government, in excess of 10% of the Company’s shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2003 and 2002.

In connection with its acquisition of Winterthur International in July 2001, in an all cash transaction, the Company
has recorded an unsecured reinsurance recoverable from Winterthur Swiss Insurance Company (the “Seller”) of $740.9
million at December 31, 2003 based on provisions of the SPA.

The SPA provides the Company with post-closing protection with respect to adverse development of loss and unearned
premium reserves relating to the acquired Winterthur International operations. This protection is based upon actual net
loss experience and development over a three year post-closing seasoning period based on loss development experience,
collectible reinsurance, reinsurance recoveries and certain other factors set forth in the SPA. The SPA provides for inde-
pendent actuarial determination should the Seller and the Company disagree on the final amounts due thereunder. The
Company may recognize an impairment if the amount determined to be due to the Company is less than the carrying
value of the SPA recovery balance deemed due from the Seller or to the extent that any amount proves to be uncollectible
from the Seller for any reason.

18. Commitments and Contingencies
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(b) Other Investments

The Company has committed to invest in several limited partnerships as part of its overall corporate strategy. The
Company has commitments which include potential additional add-on clauses, to invest a further $4.7 million over the
next five years.

(c) Investments in Affiliates

The Company owns a minority interest in certain closed-end funds, certain limited partnerships and similar
investment vehicles, including funds managed by those companies. The Company has commitments, which include poten-
tial additional add-on clauses, to invest a further $149.9 million over the next five years.

(d) Properties

The Company rents space for certain of its offices under leases that expire up to 2017. Total rent expense under
operating leases for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 was approximately $42.3 million, $30.4 mil-
lion and $18.9 million, respectively. Future minimum rental commitments under existing operating leases are expected
to be as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
(U.S. dollars in thousands)

2004 $ 53,634
2005 36,856
2006 33,394
2007 31,248
2008 26,765
2009 – 2017 138,511

Total minimum future rentals $320,408

During 2003, the Company entered into a purchase, sale and leaseback transaction to acquire new office space in
London. The Company has recognized a capital lease asset of $150.0 million and deferred a gain of $50.0 million related
to the sale at December 31, 2003 related to this lease. The gain will be amortized to income in line with the amortiza-
tion of the asset. The future minimum lease payments in the aggregate are expected to be $352.7 million and annually
for the next five years are as follows:

Year Ended December 31:

(U.S. dollars in thousands)

2004 $10,600
2005 10,870
2006 11,140
2007 11,430
2008 11,710
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(e) Tax Matters

The Company is a Cayman Islands corporation and, except as described below, neither it nor its non-U.S. subsidiaries
have paid United States corporate income taxes (other than withholding taxes on dividend income) on the basis that they
are not engaged in a trade or business or otherwise subject to taxation in the United States. However, because definitive
identification of activities which constitute being engaged in a trade or business in the United States is not provided by
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, regulations or court decisions, there can be no assurance that the Internal Revenue
Service will not contend that the Company or its non-U.S. subsidiaries are engaged in a trade or business or otherwise
subject to taxation in the United States. If the Company or its non-U.S. subsidiaries were considered to be engaged in a
trade or business in the United States (and, if the Company or such subsidiaries were to qualify for the benefits under
the income tax treaty between the United States and Bermuda and other countries in which the Company operates, such
businesses were attributable to a “permanent establishment” in the United States), the Company or such subsidiaries could
be subject to U.S. tax at regular tax rates on its taxable income that is effectively connected with its U.S. trade or busi-
ness plus an additional 30% “branch profits” tax on such income remaining after the regular tax, in which case there could
be a significant adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations and financial condition.

(f) Letters of Credit

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, $2.7 billion and $2.5 billion of letters of credit were outstanding, 8.7%, (2002:
6.5%) of which were collateralized by the Company’s investment portfolio, supporting U.S. non-admitted business and
the Company’s Lloyd’s Syndicates’ capital requirements. See Note 14 for further information.

19. Share Capital

(a) Authorized and Issued

The authorized share capital is 999,990,000 ordinary shares of a par value of $0.01 each. Holders of Class A ordi-
nary shares are entitled to one vote for each share. In June 2000, the Company’s Class B ordinary shares were converted
into Class A ordinary shares on a one-for-one basis. All ordinary shares in issue at December 31, 2003 are Class A ordi-
nary shares.

The following table is a summary of Class A ordinary shares issued and outstanding:

Year Ended December 31
(in thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Balance – beginning of year 136,063 134,734 125,020
Exercise of options 722 1,096 1,812
Issue of restricted shares 512 220 235
Issue of shares – Employee stock purchase plan 67 47 –
Repurchase of shares (21) (34) (1,533)
Issue of shares – – 9,200
Balance – end of year 137,343 136,063 134,734

The Company issued 9.2 million shares during November 2001 at a price of $89.00 per share to support capital
requirements subsequent to the September 11 event. Net proceeds received were $787.7 million.
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In August 2002, the Company issued 9.2 million 8.00% Series A Preference Ordinary Shares at $25 per share. Gross
proceeds were $230.0 million and related expenses were $7.2 million. Upon dissolution of the Company, the holders of
the Preference Shares would be entitled to receive a liquidation preference of $25 per share, plus accrued and unpaid div-
idends. Dividends on the Preference Shares are cumulative from the date of original issuance and are payable when declared.
The Company may redeem the Preference Shares on or after August 14, 2007, at a redemption price of $25 per share.
The Company may, under certain circumstances, redeem the Preference Shares before August 14, 2007 at specified redemp-
tion prices, plus accrued and unpaid dividends. These circumstances include an amalgamation, consolidation or other
similar transaction involving the Company in which the Preference Shares are entitled to a class vote ($26 per share redemp-
tion price), or a change in tax laws that requires the Company to pay additional amounts with respect to the Preference
Shares ($25 per share redemption price). The proceeds were used for general corporate purposes.

In November 2002, the Company issued 11.5 million 7.625% Series B Preference Ordinary Shares at $25 per share.
Gross proceeds were $287.5 million and related expenses were $9.1 million. Upon dissolution of the Company, the hold-
ers of the Preference Shares would be entitled to receive a liquidation preference of $25 per share, plus accrued and unpaid
dividends. Dividends on the Preference Shares are cumulative from the date of original issuance and are payable when
declared. The Company may redeem the Preference Shares on or after November 18, 2007, at a redemption price of $25
per share. The Company may, under certain circumstances, redeem the Preference Shares before November, 2007 at spec-
ified redemption prices, plus accrued and unpaid dividends. These circumstances include an amalgamation, consolida-
tion or other similar transaction involving the Company in which the Preference Shares are entitled to a class vote ($26
per share redemption price), or a change in tax laws that requires the Company to pay additional amounts with respect
to the Preference Shares ($25 per share redemption price). The proceeds were used for general corporate purposes.

(b) Share Repurchases

The Company has had several stock repurchase plans as part of its capital management program. On January 9,
2000, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of shares up to $500.0 million. During 2001, the Company repur-
chased 1.5 million ordinary shares at a total cost of $116.9 million, or an average cost of $76.40 per ordinary share. During
2000, the Company repurchased 5.1 million ordinary shares at a total cost of $247.7 million, or an average cost of $48.82
per ordinary share. The Company has repurchased shares from employees and directors in relation to share swaps on
option exercises and withholding tax on restricted stock.

(c) Stock Plans

The Company’s long term stock plan, the 1991 Performance Incentive Program, as amended and restated effec-
tive March 7, 2003, provides for grants of non-qualified or incentive stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units,
performance shares, performance units and stock appreciation rights (“SARs”). The plan is administered by the Board
of Directors and the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. Stock options may be granted with or with-
out SARs. No SARs have been granted to date. Grant prices are established at the fair market value of the Company’s
common stock at the date of grant. Options and SARs have a life of not longer than ten years and vest as set forth at the
time of grant. Options currently vest annually over three or four years from date of grant.

Restricted stock awards issued under the 1991 Performance Incentive Program vest as set forth in the applicable
award agreements. These shares contained certain restrictions, prior to vesting, relating to, among other things, forfei-
ture in the event of termination of employment and transferability. As the shares are issued, deferred compensation equiv-
alent to the fair market value on the date of the grant is charged to shareholders’equity and subsequently amortized over

19. Share Capital (continued)
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the vesting period. Restricted stock issued under the plan totaled 496,671 shares, 225,960 shares, and 227,795 shares in
2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.

Prior to December 31, 2003, all options granted to non-employee directors were granted under the 1991 Performance
Incentive Program. In 2004, these options will be granted under the Directors Stock & Option Plan. All options vest imme-
diately on the grant date. Directors may also make an irrevocable election preceding the beginning of each fiscal year to
defer cash compensation that would otherwise be payable as his or her annual retainer in increments of 10%. The deferred
payments are credited in the form of ordinary share units calculated by dividing 110% of the deferred payment by the
market value of the Company’s stock on the date the compensation would otherwise have been paid. These shares are
distributed under the terms of the plan. Shares issued under the plan totaled 3,153, 3,622, and 4,240 in 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively.

A second stock plan is provided for the directors that grants share units equal to their annual retainer divided by
market price of the Company’s ordinary stock on January 1 of each year. These units receive dividends in the form of
additional units equal to the cash value divided by the market price on the payment date. Stock units totaling 8,598, 6,659,
and 7,318 were issued in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Total units are granted as shares upon retirement from the
Board.

Following the merger with NAC, new option plans were created in the Company to adopt the plans. Options gen-
erally have a five or six year vesting schedule, with the majority expiring ten years from the date of grant; the remain-
der having no expiration. A stock plan is also maintained for non-employee directors. Options expire ten years from the
date of grant and are fully exercisable six months after their grant date.

In 1999, the Company adopted the 1999 Performance Incentive Plan under which 1,250,000 options were avail-
able for issuance to employees who were not directors or executive officers of the Company.

The Employee Share Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) was approved by the shareholders of the Company on May 10,
2002. The ESPP is administered by a committee which consists of members of the Compensation Committee of the
Company’s Board of Directors. The ESPP has two offering periods a year. The first period commenced on July 1, 2002.
All employees of the Company and its designated participating subsidiaries, are eligible to participate in the ESPP pro-
vided they have been employed at least one month prior to the start of the offering period and they do not hold more than
5% of the Company’s total stock, including stock acquired in the current period. Employees can invest up to 20% of their
total monthly cash compensation towards the purchase of the Company’s shares up to a total market value (measured
on the first day of the offering period) of U.S. $25,000. The total number of shares purchased in any offering period can-
not exceed 1,000 shares. Employees who enroll in the ESPP may purchase the Company’s shares at a 15% discount on
the lesser of the market price at the beginning or at the end of the six months offering period. Once purchased, employ-
ees can sell or transfer their shares to someone else’s name only during an Open Trading Window. Participants in the ESPP
are eligible to receive dividends on the Company’s shares. A total of 1,255,000 ordinary shares may be issued under the
ESPP. The number of share issued during the year ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 was 99,059 and 47,399, respec-
tively.

19. Share Capital (continued)
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(d) FAS 123

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model
with the following weighted average assumptions:

2003 2002 2001

Dividend yield 2.80% 2.00% 2.26%
Risk free interest rate 2.81% 4.58% 4.65%
Expected volatility 30.0% 30.9% 26.01%
Expected lives 5.0 years 5.0 years 5.0 years

Total stock based compensation expensed, which related to amortization of restricted stock, was $17.9 million, $14.3
million, and $10.4 million in 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.

(e) Options

Following is a summary of stock options and related activity:

2003 2002 2001

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Number of Exercise Number of Exercise Number of Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Outstanding – beginning of year 11,198,066 $71.31 9,194,132 $61.10 8,163,017 $51.09
Granted 1,805,871 $68.85 3,460,149 $92.36 3,089,999 $79.42
Exercised (698,895) $47.13 (1,010,849) $51.17 (1,943,966) $47.61
Cancelled (523,814) $75.01 (445,366) $71.07 (114,918) $66.26

Outstanding – end of year 11,781,228 $72.13 11,198,066 $71.31 9,194,132 $61.10

Options exercisable 7,278,812 6,068,326 5,021,748

Options available for grant 8,707,681 * 10,451,872 * 5,915,430 *

* Available for grant includes shares that may be granted as either stock options or restricted stock.

19. Share Capital (continued)
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The following table summarizes information about the Company’s stock options (including stock appreciation rights)
for options outstanding as of December 31, 2003:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Average

Weighted Remaining Weighted

Range of Number of Average Contractual Number of Average

Exercise Prices Options Exercise Price Life Options Exercise Price

$18.75 – $27.46(1)  . . . . . . . . . . . . 54,149 $22.55 0.4 years 54,149 $22.55
$28.97 – $43.25(2)  . . . . . . . . . . . . 814,836 $37.28 2.2 years 814,836 $37.28
$44.00 – $64.69 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,584,941 $53.16 5.0 years 2,584,849 $53.16
$66.50 – $96.56 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,327,302 $81.75 7.7 years 3,824,978 $82.14

$18.75 – $96.56 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,781,228 $72.13 6.7 years 7,278,812 $66.38

(1) Includes 13,404 options outstanding and exercisable, with an average exercise price of $23.52 that have no expiration date. These options are
not included in the calculation of the average remaining contractual life.

(2) Includes 14,818 options outstanding and exercisable, with an average exercise price of $37.49 that have no expiration date. These options are
not included in the calculation of the average remaining contractual life.

(f) Voting

The Company’s Articles of Association restrict the voting power of any person to less than approximately 10% of
total voting power.

(g) Share Rights Plan

Rights to purchase Class A ordinary shares (“the Rights”) were distributed as a dividend at the rate of one Right
for each Class A ordinary share held of record as of the close of business on October 31, 1998. Each Right entitles hold-
ers of Class A ordinary shares to buy one ordinary share at an exercise price of $350. The Rights would be exercisable,
and would detach from the Class A ordinary shares, only if a person or group were to acquire 20% or more of the Company’s
outstanding Class A ordinary shares, or were to announce a tender or exchange offer that, if consummated, would result
in a person or group beneficially owning 20% or more of Class A ordinary shares. Upon a person or group without prior
approval of the Board acquiring 20% or more of Class A ordinary shares, each Right would entitle the holder (other than
such an acquiring person or group) to purchase Class A ordinary shares (or, in certain circumstances, Class A ordinary
shares of the acquiring person) with a value of twice the Rights exercise price upon payment of the Rights exercise price.
The Company will be entitled to redeem the Rights at $0.01 per Right at any time until the close of business on the tenth
day after the Rights become exercisable. The Rights will expire at the close of business on September 30, 2008, and do
not have a fair value. The Company has reserved 119,073,878 Class A ordinary shares being authorized and unissued
for issue upon exercise of Rights.

19. Share Capital (continued)
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The Company maintains both defined contribution and defined benefit retirement plans, which vary for each sub-
sidiary. Plan assets are invested principally in equity securities and fixed maturities.

The Company has a qualified defined contribution plan which is managed externally and whereby employees and
the Company contribute a certain percentage of the employee’s gross salary into the plan each month. The Company’s
contribution generally vests over 5 years. The Company’s expenses for its qualified contributory defined contribution retire-
ment plans were $27.5 million, $22.2 million and $9.7 million in the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.

A qualified non-contributory defined benefit pension plan exists to cover a substantial number of its U.S. employ-
ees. This plan also includes a non-qualified supplemental defined benefit plan designed to compensate individuals to the
extent their benefits under the Company’s qualified plan are curtailed due to Internal Revenue Code limitations. Benefits
are based on years of service and compensation, as defined in the plan, during the highest consecutive three years of the
employee’s last ten years of employment. Under these plans, the Company’s policy is to make annual contributions to
the plan that are deductible for federal income tax purposes and that meet the minimum funding standards required by
law. The contribution level is determined by utilizing the entry age cost method and different actuarial assumptions than
those used for pension expense purposes. The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and fair value
of the assets for this plan with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $23.9 million, $23.9 mil-
lion and $13.1 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2003, and $20.3 million, $20.3 million and $11.6 million, respec-
tively, as of December 31, 2002.

In the first quarter of 2002, the Company curtailed its qualified non-contributory defined benefit plan. Under the
terms of the curtailment, eligible employees will not earn additional defined benefits for future services. However, future
service may be counted toward vesting of benefits which accumulated based on past service. The Company recognized
a benefit of $9.9 million associated with this curtailment gain.

During 2003, all pension benefits and retirement plans for Winterthur International employees were transitioned
into the Company’s defined contribution plan.

20. Retirement Plans
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The related tax effects allocated to each component of the change in accumulated other comprehensive income
were as follows:

Before Tax Tax Expense Net of Tax
(U.S. dollars in thousands) Amount (Benefit) Amount

Year Ended December 31, 2003:
Unrealized gains on investments:

Unrealized gains arising during year $523,616 $33,561 $490,055
Less reclassification for gains realized in income 120,195 13,451 106,744

Net unrealized gains on investments 403,421 20,110 383,311
Foreign currency translation adjustments (77,459) 471 (77,930)

Change in accumulated other comprehensive income . $325,962 $20,581 $305,381

Year Ended December 31, 2002:
Unrealized gains (losses) on investments:

Unrealized gains arising during year $ 157,473 $ 3,261 $ 154,212
Less reclassification for gains (losses) realized in income (214,160) 22,335 (236,495)

Net unrealized losses on investments 371,633 (19,074) 390,707
Foreign currency translation adjustments 6,689 (431) 7,120

Change in accumulated other comprehensive income $ 378,322 $(19,505) $ 397,827

Year Ended December 31, 2001:
Unrealized gains (losses) on investments:

Unrealized losses arising during year $(160,201) $ 9,576 $(169,777)
Less reclassification for gains (losses) realized in income (93,237) 5,536 (98,773)

Net unrealized losses on investments (66,964) 4,040 (71,004)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (31,882) 5,415 (37,297)

Change in accumulated other comprehensive income $ (98,846) $ 9,455 $(108,301)

22. Dividends

In 2003 and 2002, the Company paid dividends of $40.3 million and $9.6 million, respectively, to Series A and
Series B preference shareholders.

In 2003, four regular quarterly dividends were paid at $0.48 per share to ordinary shareholders of record as of March
10, June 9, September 8 and December 8.

In 2002, four regular quarterly dividends were paid at $0.47 per share to ordinary shareholders of record of February
4, May 28, August 5 and December 2.

In 2001, four regular quarterly dividends were paid at $0.46 per share to ordinary shareholders of record of February
15, May 25, August 15 and November 30.

21. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
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The Company is not subject to any taxes in the Cayman Islands on either income or capital gains under current
Cayman law. The Company has received an undertaking that the Company will be exempted from Cayman Islands income
or capital gains taxes until June 2018 in the event of any such taxes being imposed.

The Company’s Bermuda subsidiaries are not subject to any income, withholding or capital gains taxes under cur-
rent Bermuda law. In the event that there is a change such that these taxes are imposed, the Bermuda subsidiaries would
be exempted from any such tax until March 2016 pursuant to the Bermuda Exempted Undertakings Tax Protection Act
of 1966, and Amended Act of 1987.

The Company’s U.S. subsidiaries are subject to federal, state and local corporate income taxes and other taxes applic-
able to U.S. corporations. The provision for federal income taxes has been determined under the principles of the con-
solidated tax provisions of the Internal Revenue Code and Regulations there under. Should the U.S. subsidiaries pay a
dividend to the Company, withholding taxes will apply.

The Company has operations in subsidiary and branch form in various other jurisdictions around the world, includ-
ing but not limited to the U.K., Switzerland, Ireland, Germany, France, Luxembourg and various countries in Latin America
that are subject to relevant taxes in those jurisdictions.

The income tax provisions for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31
(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Current Expense:
U.S. $ 8,268 $ 988 $ 5,398
Non U.S. 11,355 3,521 16,506

Total current expense $ 19,623 $ 4,509 $ 21,904
Deferred Expense (Benefit):

U.S. $ (97,382) $ (2,949) $ (69,384)
Non U.S. 107,808 21,087 (142,434)

Total deferred expense (benefit) $ 10,426 $18,138 $(211,818)
Total Tax Expense (Benefit) $ 30,049 $22,647 $(189,914)

23. Taxation
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The weighted average expected tax provision has been calculated using the pre-tax accounting income (loss) in
each jurisdiction multiplied by that jurisdiction’s applicable statutory tax rate. Reconciliation of the difference between
the provision for income taxes and the expected tax provision at the weighted average tax rate for the years December
31, 2003 and 2002 is provided below:

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 2002

Expected tax provision at weighted average rate $ 33,062 $23,835
Permanent differences:

Non taxable minority interests – (2,887)
Non taxable investment income (3,729) (5,470)
Non taxable income (4,292) (4,737)
Prior year adjustments (1,958) (1,359)
State, local and other taxes 1,467 1,980
Valuation allowance (9,859) 10,874
Tax attributable to other comprehensive income 14,159 (4,301)
Transfer pricing adjustments (12,039) (4,349)
Gain on contributed securities 2,968 –
Non deductible expenses 2,009 6,162
Contingency reserve 6,265 –
Other 1,996 2,899

Total tax expense (benefit) $ 30,049 $22,647

23. Taxation (continued)
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2003 and 2002
were as follows:

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 2002

Deferred Tax Asset:
Net unpaid loss reserve discount $ 62,220 $ 57,258
Net unearned premiums 38,060 36,411
Compensation liabilities 1,691 5,181
Net operating losses 225,227 295,986
Currency translation adjustments – 2,438
Alternative minimum tax credits 11,927 14,259
Investment adjustments 3,610 11,552
Deferred acquisition costs 7,645 –
Other 4,354 2,246

Deferred tax asset, gross of valuation allowance 354,734 425,331
Valuation allowance 18,316 50,574

Deferred tax asset, net of valuation allowance 336,418 374,757

Deferred Tax Liability:
Net unrealized appreciation on investments 23,135 28,446
Deferred acquisition costs – 22,059
Currency translation adjustments 3,206 –
Other – 3,628

Deferred tax liability 26,341 54,133
Net Deferred Tax Asset $310,077 $320,624

The valuation allowance of $18.3 million at December 31, 2003 relates to net operating loss carryforwards that
may not be realized within a reasonable period. The valuation allowance of $50.5 million at December 31, 2002 relates
to net operating loss carryforwards that may not be realized within a reasonable period. The deferred tax asset for cer-
tain net operating loss carryforwards and valuation allowance was reduced by $22.4 million for amounts attributable to
the pre-acquisition period of certain affiliates. U.S. net operating loss carryforwards at December 31, 2003 were approx-
imately $450 million and will expire in future years through 2023. As of December 31, 2003, net operating loss carry-
forwards in the U.K. were $289 million and have no expiration.

Management believes it is more likely than not that the tax benefit of the remaining net deferred tax assets will be
realized. Management is required to determine if there is sufficient positive evidence to conclude that it is more likely than
not that the deferred tax asset attributable to its U.S. group net operating losses would be utilized within a reasonable period.
Management has reviewed historical taxable income and future taxable income projections for the U.S. group and has deter-
mined that in its judgment, the net operating losses will more likely than not be realized as reductions of future taxable
income within a reasonable period. Specifically with regard to the United States group, management has determined that
the projected U.S. consolidated income will be sufficient to utilize the net operating losses of approximately $450 million
within a reasonable period. Management will continue to evaluate income generated in future periods by the U.S. group
in determining the reasonableness of its position. If management determines that future income generated by the U.S. group

23. Taxation (continued)
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is insufficient to cause the realization of the net operating losses within a reasonable period, a valuation allowance would
be required for the United States portion of the net deferred tax asset, in the amount of $271 million.

Effective as of January 1, 2004, XL Re America Inc (“XLRA”), a member of the U.S. group, entered into an adverse
development reinsurance treaty with another non U.S. reinsurance subsidiary of the Company. The treaty related to the
1985 through (and including) 2001 underwriting years covering any adverse development on reserves calculated as of
December 31, 2003 between January 1, 2004 and December 31, 2005. The treaty has a limit of $500 million and will
limit future loss development at XLRA relating to these underwriting years. Any commutation of this treaty requires the
prior approval of the New York Department of Insurance. There is no impact of this treaty on the consolidated financial
statements of the Company, however as part of management’s continuing evaluation of its deferred tax asset, the treaty
is critical in evaluating the future income position of the U.S. group of companies. Management believes that the treaty
will protect the U.S. group from unexpected prior loss development. Absent unexpected loss development from the 2001
and prior underwriting years, management has concluded that there is sufficient positive evidence of future profitability
in the U.S. and that a valuation allowance as a charge against the deferred tax asset is not required at this time.

Shareholders’equity at December 31, 2003 and 2002 reflected tax benefits of $2.9 million and $3.7 million, respec-
tively, related to compensation expense deductions for stock options exercised for one of the Company’s U.S. subsidiaries.

24. Statutory Financial Data

The Company’s ability to pay dividends is subject to certain regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends by
its subsidiaries. The payment of such dividends is limited by applicable laws and statutory requirements of the various coun-
tries the Company operates in, including Bermuda, the U.S. and the U.K., among others. Statutory capital and surplus as
reported to relevant regulatory authorities for the principal operating subsidiaries of the Company for the years ended December
31, 2003 and 2002 was as follows:

Bermuda U.S. U.K., Europe and Other

(U.S. dollars in thousands) 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

Required statutory capital and surplus $2,630,982 $2,212,993 $ 130,100 $ 138,913 $232,615 $104,594
Actual statutory capital and surplus $6,584,779 $5,110,050 $1,716,528 $1,163,164 $806,627 $553,317

The difference between statutory financial statements and statements prepared in accordance with GAAP vary by
jurisdiction however the primary difference is that statutory financial statements do not reflect deferred policy acquisi-
tion costs, deferred income tax net assets, intangible assets, unrealized appreciation on investments and any unautho-
rized/authorized reinsurance charges.

Except as noted below, there are no statutory restrictions on the payment of dividends from retained earnings by
any of the Company’s subsidiaries as applicable minimum levels of solvency and liquidity have been met and all regu-
latory requirements and licensing rules complied with. At December 31, 2003, and 2002 XL Reinsurance America
(“XLRA”), the Company’s lead property and casualty subsidiary in the United States, had a statutory deficit of $210.3
million and $155.5 million. As a result, XLRA is not currently able to make a dividend distribution under New York insur-
ance law without obtaining prior approval of the New York Insurance Department. Similarly, five of the six property &
casualty subsidiaries directly or indirectly owned by XLRA also had statutory deficits ranging from $3.6 million to $77.0
million at December 31, 2003 and from $6.0 million to $24.0 million at December 31, 2002. As a result, these subsidiaries
are similarly unable to currently make a dividend distribution under the insurance law of their respective states of domi-

23. Taxation (continued)
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cile, which include Delaware, New York and North Dakota. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, XL Insurance Company
Limited (previously known as Winterthur International Insurance Company Limited) had a statutory earned deficit and
is restricted from making a dividend distribution at this time under U.K. Company law.

25. Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

Year Ended December 31
(U.S. dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2003 2002 2001

Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Ordinary Share:
Net income (loss) available to ordinary shareholders $371,658 $395,951 $(576,135)
Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding 136,906 135,636 126,676
Basic earnings (loss) per ordinary share $ 2.71 $ 2.92 $ (4.55)

Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Ordinary Share:
Net income (loss) available to ordinary shareholders $371,658 $395,951 $(576,135)

Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding – basic 136,906 135,636 126,676
Average stock options outstanding (1) (2) 1,281 1,752 —

Weighted average ordinary shares outstanding – diluted 138,187 137,388 126,676

Diluted earnings (loss) per ordinary share $ 2.69 $ 2.88 $ (4.55)

(1) Net of shares repurchased under the treasury stock method.
(2) Average stock options of 2,007 outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2001 have been excluded where these were anti-dilutive to the loss

per ordinary share.

26. Related Party Transactions

On December 31, 2002, the Company entered into an agreement with Annuity and Life Reinsurance, Ltd.
(“ALRE”), a subsidiary of Annuity and Life Re (Holdings), Ltd. (“ANR”), pursuant to which the Company assumed cer-
tain blocks of life reinsurance business. The Company has an investment in ANR that is accounted for as an affiliate under
the equity method pursuant to APB Opinion 18, but the Company does not have the ability to control ANR or direct its
operating and financial policies. Under the agreement, the Company has assumed five blocks of life reinsurance busi-
ness from ALRE and entered into a 50% quota share reinsurance contract with ALRE with respect to four of those blocks
of business. As consideration for the novation of the five blocks of business from ALRE, the Company made a payment
of approximately $44.0 million. As consideration for the 50% quota share reinsurance contract, the Company received
a ceding commission of approximately $26.0 million. In connection with the transferred blocks of business, ALRE also
transferred to the Company approximately $66.0 million in assets and related future policy benefit reserves. The 50%
quota share reinsurance contract is structured as a modified coinsurance arrangement, as such, the Company recorded a
liability for the funds withheld in reinsurance balances payable on the balance sheet in the amount of $25.0 million.

On August 5, 2003, the Company, under the terms of its 50% quota share reinsurance contract (the “quota share
contract”) with Annuity and Life Reinsurance, Ltd. (“ALRE”), notified ALRE of its intention to elect to automatically

24. Statutory Financial Data (continued)
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terminate the quota share contract and recapture the business previously ceded to ALRE. Following this notice and with
effect from June 30, 2003, the Company entered into a comprehensive settlement with ALRE, which in addition to the
quota share contract, commuted or otherwise terminated all reinsurance relationships that the Company had with ALRE.
As settlement of the quota share contract and the other insurance and reinsurance relationships, the Company received
proceeds of $6.0 million.

27. XL Capital Finance (Europe) plc

XL Capital Finance (Europe) plc (“XLFE”) is a wholly owned finance subsidiary of the Company. In January 2002,
XLFE issued $600 million par value 6.5% Guaranteed Senior Notes due January 2012. These Notes are fully and uncon-
ditionally guaranteed by the Company. The Company’s ability to obtain funds from its subsidiaries to satisfy any of its oblig-
ations under this guarantee is subject to certain contractual restrictions, applicable laws and statutory requirements of the
various countries in which the Company operates including Bermuda, the U.S. and the U.K., among others. Required statu-
tory capital and surplus for the principal operating subsidiaries of the Company was $3.0 billion as of December 31, 2003.

28. Unaudited Quarterly Financial Data

The following is a summary of the unaudited quarterly financial data for 2003 and 2002:

First Second Third Fourth 

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except per share amount) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

2003
Net premiums earned – general operations (1) $1,431,887 $ 1,469,520 $1,663,713 $1,515,913
Net premiums earned – life operations 92,771 70,482 86,428 498,814
Net premiums earned – financial operations 26,973 35,807 35,307 41,535
Underwriting profit(loss) general operations (1) 214,347 141,923 45,164 (485,551)
Net income (loss) available to ordinary shareholders 239,857 347,659 98,971 (314,829)
Net income (loss) per ordinary share and

ordinary share equivalent – basic (2) 1.76 2.54 0.72 (2.29)
Net income (loss) per ordinary share and

ordinary share equivalent – diluted (2) 1.74 2.51 0.71 (2.29)
2002

Net premiums earned – general operations(1) $1,010,968 $1,036,231 $1,344,681 $1,507,193
Net premiums earned – life operations 39,193 10,497 786,383 186,919
Net premiums earned – financial operations 14,554 10,813 16,917 25,461
Underwriting profit(loss) – general operations(1) 95,720 (53,523) 147,193 85,311
Net income (loss)available to ordinary shareholders 89,493 (91,748) 184,067 214,139
Net income (loss) per ordinary share and

ordinary share equivalent – basic 0.66 (0.68) 1.36 1.58
Net income (loss) per ordinary share and

ordinary share equivalent – diluted 0.65 (0.68) 1.34 1.56

(1) Certain reclassifications have been made relating to the Company’s change in presentation of financial operations. There was no effect on net
income from this change in presentation.

(2) Average stock options outstanding have been excluded where anti-dilutive to earnings per share. Consequently, where there is a net loss,
basic weighted average ordinary shares outstanding are used to calculate net loss per share.

In the third quarter of 2003, the Company recorded net losses and loss expenses incurred of $184.0 million pre-
tax (approximately $160.0 million after tax) for higher than expected reported losses in its North American casualty rein-

26. Related Party Transactions (continued)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

surance operations for the 1997 to 2000 underwriting years. In conjunction with this increase, the Company announced
it had begun an extensive claims audit review of the relevant cedents for this book of business to have more complete
information to determine ultimate loss reserves.

In the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company completed the claims audit review and its normal year end review of
all of its property and casualty reserves and reported a total pre-tax charge of $694.0 million ($647.0 million post tax)
related to the following changes to loss reserves :

a) Claims audit review $ 663.0 million
b) Year end reserve review –

Reinsurance – September 11, event $(181.0) million
Reinsurance – excluding September 11 event 62.0 million
Insurance 150.0 million______________

Total pre-tax charge $ 694.0 million____________________________

Also in the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company assumed two portfolios of long duration, closed block annuity
reserves of approximately $390.0 million.

In the second quarter of 2002, the Company recorded net losses and loss expenses incurred of approximately $200.0
million related to the September 11 event. The Company also recorded net realized losses on investments of $110.0 mil-
lion.

Results for the third quarter of 2002 included a large life contract consisting of a U.K. portfolio of annuities which
increased net premiums earned and claims and policy benefits by $762.7 million and $776.8 million respectively.

In the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company incurred adverse loss development of $215 million of its casualty rein-
surance business written in 1997 through (and including) 2000 and asbestos losses for business written prior to 1985.
This was partially offset by decreases in estimates for losses related to this business written in 1985 through 1996 and
decreases in the Company’s high excess casualty lines.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

There have been no changes in or any disagreements with accountants regarding accounting and financial disclo-
sure within the twenty-four months ending December 31, 2003.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s man-
agement, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of disclosure controls
and procedures pursuant to Section 13a-15 of the Exchange Act as of the end of the period covered by this annual report.
Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the disclosure controls
and procedures are effective to provide reasonable assurance that all material information relating to the Company required
to be filed in this annual report has been made known to them in a timely fashion. There have been no changes in inter-
nal control over financial reporting that occurred during the most recent fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, internal control over financial reporting.

The Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect
that the Company’s disclosure controls or its internal controls will prevent all errors and all fraud. Further, the design of

28. Unaudited Quarterly Financial Data (continued)
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a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered
relative to their costs. As a result of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide
absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected. These
inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur
because of simple error or mistake. As a result of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Accordingly, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are
designed to provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the disclosure controls and procedures are met.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES (continued)



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of XL Capital Ltd:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, the related consolidated statements of income and
comprehensive income, of shareholders’equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial posi-
tion of XL Capital Ltd and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the results of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles gener-
ally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedules listed in item
15(a) of this Form 10-K present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction
with the related consolidated financial statements. These financial statements and financial statement schedules are the respon-
sibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and finan-
cial statement schedules based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has adopted Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” as amended by Financial Accounting Standard
No. 148, “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation” as of the effective date January 1, 2003. The Company adopted Statement
of Financial Accounting Standard No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets as of the effective date of January 1, 2002.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

New York, New York
February 10, 2004
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I, Brian M. O’Hara, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of XL Capital Ltd;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such state-
ments were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant
as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure con-
trols and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, includ-
ing its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly dur-
ing the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case
of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of inter-
nal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a signifi-
cant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2004

By:

Brian M. O’Hara
President and Chief Executive Officer

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
XL CAPITAL LTD

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(Chapter 63, Title 18 U.S.C. §§ 1350(a) and (b))



I, Jerry de St. Paer, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of XL Capital Ltd;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such state-
ments were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant
as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure con-
trols and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, includ-
ing its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly dur-
ing the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case
of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of inter-
nal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a signifi-
cant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2004

By:

Jerry de St. Paer
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
XL CAPITAL LTD

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(Chapter 63, Title 18 U.S.C. §§ 1350(a) and (b))
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CERTIFICATION ACCOMPANYING FORM 10-K REPORT 
of

XL CAPITAL LTD 
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

(Chapter 63, Title 18 U.S.C. ßß 1350(a) and (b))

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Chapter 63, Title 18 U.S.C. ßß 1350(a) and (b)), each
of the undersigned hereby certifies that the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2003 of
XL Capital Ltd (the “Company”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in such Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the finan-
cial condition and results of operations of the Company. 

Dated: March 15, 2004 

Brian M. O’Hara 
President and Chief Executive Officer
XL Capital Ltd 

Dated: March 15, 2004 

Jerry de St. Paer 
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
XL Capital Ltd 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowl-
edging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written state-
ment required by Section 906, has been provided to XL Capital Ltd and will be retained by XL Capital Ltd and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. 





CHAIRMAN’S LETTER ON GOVERNANCE

Commitment to good corporate governance, compliance and ethics is at the core of every great company. 

Since inception, XL Capital Ltd has been totally committed to the principles of excellence in corporate 

governance and ethics. This commitment is evidenced by the following practices that are in place at 

XL Capital – many of which have been long-standing policies: 

CHAIRMAN’S LETTER

- A Board of Directors with the majority of the directors being independent of management. 

- Separation of the roles of Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board. 

- An Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Nominating and Governance 
Committee comprised solely of independent Directors. 

- A Code of Business Conduct & Ethics. 

- A Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers. 

- Published Corporate Governance Principles. 

- Published Charters for all Committees of the Board. 

- A set of Corporate Values – Ethics, Excellence, Respect, 
Development and Teamwork – communicated to all employees worldwide. 

- Audit and Finance Committees comprised of financially 
knowledgeable Directors with extensive experience. 

- A Board of Directors that meets regularly in executive session 
without the CEO or other members of management present. 

- Board Committees that meet regularly without management present. 

- An annual evaluation of the performance of the Board of Directors 
and the Committees of the Board. 

- An orientation plan for new Directors. 

- An ongoing Director education process.

- Share ownership guidelines for Directors and Senior Management.

- An established system of internal control with appropriate checks and balances.

- Transparency in financial reporting and disclosure. 

- A solid company-wide commitment to the long-term creation of shareholder value. 

The Board of Directors remains focused on XL continuing to build shareholder value over the long-term 

based on a solid framework of fundamental strength – our capital base and talented people – combined with

a concrete reputation of excellence in corporate governance and quality in the global marketplace.

Michael P. Esposito, Jr
Chairman of the Board
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS & CORPORATE OFFICERS

Brian M. O’Hara
President and
Chief Executive Officer

Nicholas M. Brown, Jr *
Executive Vice President
and Chief Executive,
Insurance Operations

Jerry M. de St. Paer
Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer,
Treasurer and 
Assistant Secretary

Paul S. Giordano
Executive Vice President,
General Counsel 
and Secretary

Christopher V. Greetham
Executive Vice President
and Chief Investment Officer

Fiona E. Luck
Executive Vice President,
Group Operations
and Assistant Secretary

Robert R. Lusardi
Executive Vice President
and Chief Executive, 
Financial Products 
and Services

Henry C. V. Keeling
Executive Vice President
and Chief Executive,
Reinsurance Operations

Willi Suter
Executive Vice President,
International Strategic 
Development

Clive R. Tobin * *
Executive Vice President 
and Chief Executive Officer,
Insurance Operations

Gavin R. Arton
Senior Vice President,
Investor Relations Officer

Anthony E. Beale
Senior Vice President,
Human Resources

Paul D. Dowden
Senior Vice President,
Chief Risk Officer 

Henry T. French, Jr
Senior Vice President,
Associate General Counsel

Kirstin M. Romann-Gould
Senior Vice President,
Associate General Counsel

Claude L. LeBlanc
Senior Vice President,
Financial Operations

Michael A. Siese
Senior Vice President,
Controller

David B. Walsh
Senior Vice President,
Chief Credit Officer

BOARD OF DIRECTORS & ADVISORY COUNCIL

CORPORATE OFFICERS

* Leaving April 1, 2004 ** Effective April 1, 2004

(F )

( F)

(C)

(C)
(F )

Committees of the Board

(A) Audit 

(C) Compensation 

(N) Nominating and 
Corporate Governance 

(F) Finance

1 Michael P. Esposito, Jr
Chairman,
XL Capital Ltd

2 Ronald L. Bornhuetter
Former Chairman,
NAC Re Corporation

3 Dale Comey
Former Executive
Vice President,
ITT Corporation

4 Robert R. Glauber
President and 
Chief Executive Officer,
NASD

5 Paul E. Jeanbart
Chief Executive Officer,
The Rolaco Group 
of Companies

6 John Loudon
Chairman,
Caneminster Limited

7 Brian M. O’Hara
President and 
Chief Executive Officer,
XL Capital Ltd

8 Robert S. Parker
Dean Emeritus and 
The Robert S. Parker 
Chaired Professor, 
The McDonough 
School of Business 
at Georgetown University

9 Cyril E. Rance MBE, JP

Retired Insurance
Executive

10 Alan Z. Senter
Chairman,
Senter Associates

11 John T. Thornton
Former Executive 
Vice President and 
Financial Executive, 
Wells Fargo & Co.

12 Ellen E. Thrower
Executive Director, 
The School of Risk
Management, Insurance
& Actuarial Science,
St. John’s University

13 John W. Weiser
Chairman,
The Graduate Theological
Union (Berkeley)

ADVISORY COUNCIL

14 Ian R. Heap
Former Chairman, 
XL Capital Ltd
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Annual Meeting The annual meeting of Shareholders of XL Capital Ltd will be held on Friday, April 30, 

2004 at the Company’s Head Office, XL House, One Bermudiana Road, Hamilton, 

Bermuda at 8:30 a.m. local time.

Ordinary Shares The Company’s Ordinary Shares were first listed on the New York Stock Exchange 

on July 19, 1991 under the symbol “XL”.

The following table sets forth the high, low, and closing sales prices per share of the 

Company’s Class A Ordinary Shares, as reported on the New York Stock Exchange 

Composite Tape for the four fiscal quarters of 2003 and 2002.

As of December 31, 2003 there were 137,343,232 Ordinary Shares outstanding and 

the approximate number of record holders of Ordinary Shares was 1,002.

Transfer Agent Mellon Investor Services, 85 Challenger Road, Richfield Park, New Jersey 07660, 

U.S.A. Shareholders can call into Mellon's Communication Center at 1 (800) 756-3353

or 1 (201) 329-8660 or via the Internet at www.melloninvestor.com

Form 10-K The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,

2003 is filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Copies are available 

without charge by writing to Investor Relations, XL Capital Ltd, P.O. Box HM 2245, 

Hamilton HM JX, Bermuda.

Independent Auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 1177 Avenue of the Americas, New York, 

NY, 10019-6013, U.S.A.

Registered Office C/O Hunter & Hunter, The Hunt Law Building, P.O. Box 190 GT, Grand Cayman,

Cayman Islands.

XL Capital Ltd XL House, One Bermudiana Road, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Telephone: (441) 292-8515   Fax: (441) 292-5280   www.xlcapital.com

CORPORATE INFORMATION

2003 2002

High Low Close High Low Close

$ $ $ $ $ $

1ST QUARTER 83.55 64.57 70.78 97.11 86.05 93.35

2ND QUARTER 88.00 72.58 83.00 97.38 82.70 84.70

3RD QUARTER 83.92 72.83 77.44 83.03 61.00 73.50

4TH QUARTER 79.83 68.11 77.55 83.23 70.88 77.25
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